ALAM, MD TOWFIQUL. Ph.D. State-Level Immigrant Policies, Diabetes Prevalence, and Cardiovascular Health Behaviors in People of Latin American and Asian American Origin. (2023) Directed by Dr. Sandra Echevarria. 182 pp.

Type 2 Diabetes (T2DM) and low physical activity (PA) are key risk factors for cardiovascular morbidity and mortality in the United States (U.S.). An emerging body of evidence in public health research suggests that state-level policies shape health in immigrant and racial/ ethnic marginalized groups. For immigrants, state-level policies can be inclusive and create contexts that expand immigrants' eligibility and rights, or they can be restrictive and limit access to public services, education, employment, and healthcare and even criminalize immigrants by linking local criminal justice systems with immigration enforcement.

The present dissertation examined the association between state-level criminalizing and inclusive immigrant policies and prevalence of type 2 diabetes and physical activity for Latino and Asian American groups, the two largest immigrant groups and fastest-growing segments of the population in the U.S. Individual-level characteristics, diabetes status and meeting recommendations for physical activity were obtained from the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) (T2DM: *n*=201,824; PA: *n*=80,516). Existing policy datasets were used to classify the state immigrant policy context as low, medium, and high, and census data used to obtain the percent of foreign-born individuals in each state. Weighted multilevel models examined variability in T2DM and PA across state-level criminalizing and inclusive policy contexts after accounting for the complex survey design of BRFSS.

Results indicated that Latinos living in low inclusion immigrant policy contexts had significantly higher odds of T2DM (Odds Ratio [OR]: 1.21, 95% confidence interval [CI]: 1.03-1.43, *p*-value <0.05) than those living in high inclusion contexts. Criminalizing policy contexts did not show significant associations with type 2 diabetes for either population group. The physical activity models showed that a high-criminalizing immigrant policy context was associated with significantly lower odds of meeting the recommended levels of physical activity among Latinos (OR: 0.79, 95% CI: 0.62-1.01, *p*-value = 0.05), while inclusive policy contexts did not have significant associations with physical activity for either group.

In conclusion, state-level policies appear to shape health in distinct ways. Higher criminalizing policies were associated with health behaviors (i.e., short-term effect) while low inclusion policy contexts were associated with diabetes (i.e., long-term effect). Public health professionals, immigrants, advocates, and policymakers must work together to improve the health of vulnerable but resilient populations that represent this country's future.

STATE-LEVEL IMMIGRANT POLICIES, DIABETES PREVALENCE, AND

CARDIOVASCULAR HEALTH BEHAVIORS IN PEOPLE OF

LATIN AMERICAN AND ASIAN AMERICAN ORIGIN

by

Md Towfiqul Alam

A Dissertation Submitted to the Faculty of The Graduate School at The University of North Carolina at Greensboro in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Doctor of Philosophy

Greensboro

2023

Approved by

Dr. Sandra Echevarria Committee Chair

DEDICATION

To my parents, my wife Quazi Rahman and child Sarah

APPROVAL PAGE

This dissertation written by Md Towfiqul Alam has been approved by the following committee of the Faculty of The Graduate School at The University of North Carolina at Greensboro.

Committee Chair

Committee Members

Dr. Sandra Echevarria

Dr. Jennifer Toller Erausquin

Dr. Erica Payton Foh

Dr. Elizabeth Vasquez

March 22, 2023 Date of Acceptance by Committee

March 13, 2023 Date of Final Oral Examination

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I've been trying to comprehend the value of relationships for the past five years. This dissertation serves as evidence that love and support from others are incomparably valuable.

To the faculty and staff in the Public Health Education department, through courses, seminars, and conversations, I have been inspired by your expertise, dedication for public health, and commitment to your students. I am humbled and appreciative of the opportunity you have given me. Thank you to my PhD cohorts for your friendship and support throughout the years.

To my committee, I am grateful for the guidance, patience, and support you have given me through this time. Dr. Elizabeth Vasquez, I appreciate your commitment to me and your encouragement to keep going. Dr. Jennifer Toller Erausquin, I am grateful to you from the beginning when you interviewed me for the doctoral program in the PHE department till the end, you have been there with me with your support and feedback. Dr. Erica Payton, thank you for always believing in me, and always being one of my biggest advocates. Dr. Sandra Echeverria, I am forever grateful for the years of mentorship, patience, guidance, and overwhelming dedication you have shown to me through this process. Thank you for the hours upon hours of time you have put into feedback and paper edits, meetings, conversations, advice, and encouragement. I am a much better writer, teacher, and scholar because of your guidance.

To my family and friends, thank you for the love and support to get through this journey. Brandon Mendenhall, thank you for your overwhelming time and support, encouragement and being there for me whenever I needed. Tailisha Gonzalez, thank you for your time with some initial analyses and encouragement during the last hurdle of my defense. Richard Allen, thank you for the editorial expertise and the flexibility and friendliness you have shown me. To my mom, thank you for the endless support and prayer from more than 8,000 miles on the other part

iv

of the world. Dad, you left us in the middle of my journey and could not see the end of it. You would have been so proud of me if you were here. The values you instilled in me to value education and love others helped lead me here. I will carry that for the rest of my life. To my child Sarah, you were here in the middle of my journey and you have been the inspiration to finish. Thank you for teaching me more than I've ever learned about love and purpose. Finally, to my wife Quazi Mahzabin Rahman. You were the inspiration to start the journey five years ago, and you've been with me through it all. You've worked tirelessly and sacrificed greatly to support me and our family. You've shown me a lifetime worth of patience, love, and encouragement. Thank you for choosing me every day.

LIST OF TABLES	X
LIST OF FIGURES	xii
CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION	
Statement of the Problem	1
Immigrant Policies as Contextual Drivers of Health	
Study Goal and Specific Aims	
Significance of the study	9
Overview of Methodology	
Organization of the Dissertation	
CHAPTER II: LITERATURE REVIEW	
Immigrant Policy	
Theoretical Framework	16
Mechanisms Linking Immigrant Policies and Health Behavior and Health	
Healthcare Access and Diabetes	
Healthcare Access and Physical Activity	
Education, Employment, Income, and Diabetes	
Education, Employment and Income, and Physical Activity	
Immigration Enforcement and Diabetes	
Immigration Enforcement and Physical Activity	
Physiological Links Between Immigrant Policies and Diabetes	
CHAPTER III: METHODS	
Methods	
Study Design and Measures	
Study Design	
Data Merging	
Individual-Level Data	
State-Level Data	
Immigrant Policy Data	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

American Community Survey Data	
Measures	
Criminalizing Policy	
Inclusive Policy	41
Diabetes (Dependent Variable)	41
Physical Activity (Dependent Variable)	
Race/Ethnicity	
Individual-Level Covariates	
Sex at Birth	
Age	
Educational Attainment	
Employment Status	
Healthcare coverage	
Household Income	
State-Level Covariates	
Percent of State Foreign-Born	
Analytic Plan	
Power Analysis	
Diabetes	45
Physical Activity	47
Statistical Analysis	
Outcome: Diabetes or Physical Activity	
Criminalizing Policy	
Inclusive Policy	52
Limitations	55
CHAPTER IV: THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN STATE-LEVEL IMMIGRANT POLICIES AND PREVALENCE OF DIABETES (T2DM) IN PEOPLE OF LATINO AMERICAN AND ASIAN AMERICAN ORIGIN: A WEIGHTED MULTILEVEL ANALYSIS	57
Introduction	57
Method	
Data Source	
Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System	
Louin 10101 Habit I wordt Sout Vollander Systemine and statistic and sta	

State-Level Data Sources	64
Immigrant Policy Data	64
American Community Survey Data	64
Measures	65
State Criminalizing Policy	65
State Inclusive Policy	66
Diabetes (Dependent Variable)	68
Race/Ethnicity	68
Sex at Birth	68
Age	69
Educational Attainment	69
Employment Status	69
Healthcare coverage	69
Household Income	69
State-Level Covariates	69
Percent of State Foreign-Born	69
Statistical Analysis	70
Results	73
Discussion	84
Strengths and Limitations	89
Conclusion	90
CHAPTER V: THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN STATE-LEVEL IMMIGRANT POLICIES AND PREVALENCE OF MEETING RECOMMENDED PHYSICAL ACTIVITY (PA) IN PEOPLE OF LATIN AMERICAN AND ASIAN AMERICAN	
ORIGIN: A WEIGHTED MULTILEVEL ANALYSIS	91
Introduction	91
Method	96
Data Source	96
Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System	96
State-Level Data Sources	97
Immigrant Policy Data	97
American Community Survey Data	97
Measures	98

State Criminalizing Policy	
State Inclusive Policy	
Physical Activity (Dependent Variable)	101
Race/Ethnicity	101
Sex at Birth	102
Age	102
Educational Attainment	102
Employment Status	102
Healthcare Coverage	102
Household Income	102
State-Level Covariates	103
Percent of State Foreign-Born	103
Statistical Analysis	103
Results	106
Discussion	117
Strengths and Limitations	122
Conclusion	123
CHAPTER VI: DISCUSSION AND IMPLICATIONS	124
Study Purpose	124
Key Findings	125
Implications and Future Research	128
REFERENCES	131
APPENDIX A: SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS FOR STATE-LEVEL IMMIGRANT POLICY CONTEXT AND T2DM	179
APPENDIX B: SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS FOR STATE-LEVEL IMMIGRANT POLICY CONTEXT AND MEETING RECOMMENDED PA	181

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.	List of Criminalizing Immigrant Policies	6
Table 2.	List of Inclusive Policies	6
Table 3.	List of Criminalizing Policies	39
Table 4.	List of Inclusive Policies	39
Table 5.	List of Criminalizing Policies	66
Table 6.	List of Inclusive Policies	67
Table 7.	Characteristics of the Study Population (weighted) by Race/Ethnicity, BRFSS 2014-2018 ($n = 201824$)	74
Table 8.	Association of State-Level Criminalizing Immigrant Policy and Prevalence of T2DM in the Overall Sample, Latin American, and Asian American Adults, BRFSS 2014-2018 ($n = 201824$)	78
Table 9.	Association of State-Level Inclusive Immigrant Policy and Prevalence of T2DM in the Overall Sample, and Latin American and Asian American Adults, BRFSS 2014-2018 ($n = 201824$)	81
Table 10.	List of Criminalizing Policies	98
Table 11.	List of Inclusive Policies	100
Table 12.	Characteristics of the Study Population (Weighted) by Race/Ethnicity, BRFSS 2015 and 2017 ($n = 80516$)	107
Table 13.	Association of State-Level Criminalizing Policy and Meeting Recommended PA: Overall and Separately in Latin American and Asian American, BRFSS 2015 and 2017 ($n = 80516$)	111
Table 14.	Association of State-Level Inclusive Policy and Meeting Recommended PA: Overall and Separately in Latin American and Asian American, BRFSS 2015 and 2017 ($n = 80516$)	114
Table A1.	Association of State-Level Criminalizing Immigrant Policy and Prevalence of T2DM in the Overall Sample, Latin American, and Asian American Adults, BRFSS 2014-2018 ($n = 196316$)	179
Table A2.	Association of State-Level Inclusive Immigrant Policy and Prevalence of T2DM in the Overall Sample, and Latin American and Asian American Adults, BRFSS 2014-2018 ($n = 196316$)	180

Table B1.	Association of State-Level Criminalizing Policy and Meeting Recommended PA: Overall and Separately in Latin American and Asian American, BRFSS 2015 and 2017 ($n = 78302$)	181
Table B2.	Association of State-Level Inclusive Policy and Meeting Recommended PA: Overall and Separately in Latin American and Asian American, BRFSS 2015 and 2017 ($n = 78302$)	182

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.	Proposed Conceptual Framework	17
Figure 2.	Pathway of Stress Leading to T2DM	32
Figure 3.	Power Curve for the Association Between Immigrant policy (Criminalizing and Inclusive policy) and Diabetes Prevalence in Racial or Ethnic Marginalized Population and Immigrants	46
Figure 4.	Power Curve for the Association Between Immigrant Policy (Criminalizing and Inclusive Policy) and Recommended PA Prevalence in Racial or Ethnic Marginalized Population and Immigrants	48
Figure 5.	Age-Adjusted Predicted Probabilities of T2DM by Criminalizing Policy Level, Among Latin and Asian Americans, BRFSS 2014-2018	76
Figure 6.	Age-Adjusted Predicted Probabilities of T2DM by Criminalizing Policy in Latin Americans (Left) and Asian Americans (Right), BRFSS 2014-2018	76
Figure 7.	Age-Adjusted Predicted Probabilities of T2DM by Inclusive Policy Level, Among Latin and Asian Americans, BRFSS 2014-2018	80
Figure 8.	Age-Adjusted Predicted Probabilities of T2DM by Inclusive Policy in Latin Americans (Left) and Asian Americans (Right), BRFSS 2014-2018	80
Figure 9.	Age-Adjusted Predicted Probabilities of Meeting Recommended PA by Criminalizing Policy Level, Among Latino and Asian Americans, BRFSS 2015 and 2017	108
Figure 10.	Age-Adjusted Predicted Probabilities of Meeting Recommended PA by Criminalizing Policy Level, Among Latin Americans (Left) and Asian Americans (Right), BRFSS 2015 and 2017	109
Figure 11.	Age-Adjusted Predicted Probabilities of Meeting Recommended PA by Inclusive Policy Level, Among Latin and Asian Americans, BRFSS 2015 and 2017	113
Figure 12.	Age-Adjusted Predicted Probabilities of Meeting Recommended PA by Inclusive Policy Level, Among Latin and (Left) and Asian Americans (Right), BRFSS 2015 and 2017	113

CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION

Statement of the Problem

Cardiovascular disease and associated comorbid conditions, such as type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) are the leading causes of death in the United States (U.S.) (Ahmad & Anderson, 2021; Case & Deaton, 2015; Global Burden of Cardiovascular Diseases Collaboration, 2018; Tsao et al., 2022). In 2019, an estimated 37.3 million (11.3%) people in the U.S. were living with diabetes (American Diabetes Association [ADA], 2022; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], 2022). Of these prevalent cases, 28.7 million were diagnosed and an estimated 8.5 million were undiagnosed (ADA, 2022). While the incidence of diabetes appears to have plateaued in the U.S., 1.4 million new cases of diabetes (5.9 per 1000 persons) were diagnosed in 2019 (ADA, 2022; CDC, 2022). Diabetes is the seventh leading cause of death in the U.S. (ADA, 2022; Murphy, 2021) and has a high healthcare and financial burden, contributing to approximately \$327 billion in healthcare expenditures annually (Yang, 2018).

There is also a disproportionate burden of diabetes in racial/ethnic marginalized groups such as people of Asian and Latin American origin (herein Latino) (Cheng et al., 2019; Golden et al., 2019). For example, national data show that from 2017 to 2020, the prevalence of total diabetes was higher in Asian Americans (16.7%) and Latin American origin adults (15.5%) than non-Latino White adults (13.6%) (CDC, 2022). The prevalence of diagnosed diabetes was higher also in Latin (11.8%) and Asian American (9.5%) than non-Latino White (7.4%) (CDC, 2022).

For people who have diabetes, the benefits of physical activity have been extensively documented (Colberg et al., 2016). Physical activity (PA) is considered one of the most important health-promoting behaviors associated with significant health benefits (Durstine et al.,

2013; van der Ploeg & Bull, 2020; Warburton et al., 2006b). The latest *Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans* recommends adults engage in at least 150 minutes a week of moderate-intensity or 75 minutes a week of vigorous-intensity physical activity or an equivalent combination of the two (Piercy et al., 2018). A vast amount of literature has shown that PA has significant direct and indirect effects on health (Piercy et al., 2018; van der Ploeg & Bull, 2020; Vuori et al., 2013). For instance, consistent physical activity appears to directly protect against depression, hypertension, diabetes, and heart disease, as well as indirectly promote heart health by protecting against obesity (Blair, 2009; Lobelo et al., 2018; Piercy et al., 2018; Vuori et al., 2013). Furthermore, according to the CDC, physical inactivity contributes to 1 in 10 premature deaths in the U.S. (CDC, 2022; Piercy et al., 2018), and inadequate physical activity is associated with \$117 billion in annual healthcare costs (Piercy et al., 2018).

Lack of physical activity is more common among racial and ethnic marginalized groups in the U.S. (Fulton, 2020). In the U.S., people of Latin American origin have the highest prevalence of not meeting recommended physical activity (31.7%) (Fulton, 2020; Johnson & Fulp, 2002). Additionally, Asian Americans have lower physical activity levels compared to other racial and ethnic groups but data are sparse (Chen et al., 2017; Yi et al., 2015). For example, in California, only 30% of young Asian Americans (18 to 44 years) engage in regular physical activity compared to 41% of non-Latino White young adults (Chen et al., 2017; Maxwell et al., 2012).

Over the years, a growing literature has highlighted the importance of contextual effects in understanding social inequities in health (Diez-Roux, 1998). More recently, a burgeoning body of research has indicated that contextual characteristics, such as immigrant policies, are associated with self-rated health, mental health, preterm-birth, infectious diseases, healthcare

access, poverty, or food security (Alberto et al., 2020; Almeida et al., 2016; De Trinidad Young et al., 2018; Galeucia & Hirsch, 2016; Hatzenbuehler et al., 2017; Potochnick et al., 2017; Sudhinaraset et al., 2021; Vargas et al., 2017; Young et al., 2020, 2022). However, little is known about the influence of the immigrant policy context on T2DM or meeting recommneded physical activity, two leading cardiovascular risk and behavior in the United States, disproportioantely affecting Latino and Asian American groups.

Understanding diabetes and physical activity patterns in Latino and Asian American adults is important for two reasons. First, these two racial/ethnic groups represent the largest immigrant groups in the U.S. There are about 62.5 million Latinos in the U.S., representing 19% of the U.S. population. By 2060, they are projected to increase to 111.2 million, representing 28% of the U.S. population (Zong, 2022). The Asian population is also on the rise in the U.S. Approximately 19 million Asians live in the U.S., currently representing 7% of the U.S population. By 2060, they are projected to increase to 36 million, representing 9% of the U.S. population (Budiman & Ruiz, 2021a). Second, a focus on these groups provides an opportunity to examine potential differences in health due to their distinct cultural and social backgrounds (Alegria et al., 2004; Kiang et al., 2017). For example, census data indicates that only 53% of Latino immigrants (only 40% of Mexican immigrants) had completed a high school degree or higher compared to nearly 84% of Asian immigrants (Grieco et al., 2012; Mora, 2022). Similarly, immigrants from Latin America had a median family income of \$38,238 (\$35,254 for Mexican immigrants), approximately \$25,000 less than Asian immigrants, whose median family income was \$63,777 (Grieco et al., 2012). Higher educational attainment is associated with better income and linked to a greater likelihood of having health insurance coverage and access to preventive healthcare, screening, and chronic disease management and health-promoting

behavior (Bartley & Plewis, 2002; P. Braveman et al., 2011; Chasens et al., 2020). Moreover, the 6 largest groups of Asian Americans in the U.S. represent a multitude of cultural and language backgrounds, while adults of Latin American origin largely speak Spanish (Budiman & Ruiz, 2021b; Holland & Palaniappan, 2012; Krogstad & Lopez, n.d.; Zhang, 2017). The role of other social characteristics, such as immigrant policies, in shaping health for these groups has received less attention in the literature and forms the basis of the present study.

Immigrant Policies as Contextual Drivers of Health

Immigrant policies can be defined as laws, regulations, and court rulings within a variety of areas of public policy that generate different rights and opportunities based on an immigrant's legal status (De Trinidad Young et al., 2018; Wallace et al., 2019; Wallace & Young, 2018). Most states possess a mixture of immigrant policies. Some of these policies are inclusive and potentially protect immigrants by expanding their eligibility and rights, and provide residents access to state institutions, regardless of citizenship status (De Trinidad Young & Wallace, 2019; Perreira & Pedroza, 2019). For example, some states provide Medicaid-prenatal care to pregnant woman regardless of legal status. (De Trinidad Young & Wallace, 2019). Inclusive policies are found to be associated with better outcomes (e.g., reduced preterm birth in immigrant mothers; Sudhinaraset et al., 2021). However, other exclusionary and restrictive policies curtail immigrants' access to public services, education, employment, and healthcare by producing a fearful, unwelcoming, hostile, and stressful climate to live in (Nichols et al., 2018). For example, states such as Georgia and Alabama are actively exclusionary and take restrictive approaches to immigrants' eligibility for public social welfare programs such as Medicaid and food stamps (Wallace & Young, 2018). Although exclusionary policies primarily harm undocumented immigrants, they also have spillover effects on other non-citizens (those with temporary and

permanent legal status, as well as those with mixed family status) (Asad & Clair, 2018; Nichols et al., 2018; Young et al., 2020).

Additionally, despite having legal status in the U.S., immigrant policies influence the racialization of persons of color (Asad & Clair, 2018; Wallace et al., 2019; Young et al., 2020). Some laws, like Arizona's SB 1070, have been implemented to subtly target a particular immigrant group, such as Latinos (De Trinidad Young et al., 2018; Martin, 1995; Partida, 2020). Some restrictive policies are also *criminalizing* as they link local criminal justice systems with immigration enforcement (Wallace et al., 2019; Young et al., 2019). They also include policies that influence activities of noncitizens by increasing or decreasing their exposure to law enforcement (e.g., complying with Real ID, employment authorization, driver's license verification, sentencing laws for minor infraction) (Sudhinaraset et al., 2021; Young et al., 2020). These policies criminalize immigrants by denying them citizenship-based social protections and rights, restricting their ability to enter the country, and endangering their ability to stay in their communities (Wallace & Young, 2018; Young et al., 2022).

While state inclusive policies facilitate immigrant communities to utilize programs, state criminalizing policies raise the risk of exposure to law enforcement, incarceration, and deportation (Alberto et al., 2020). The core elements and measurement of inclusive and criminalizing policies are outlined in Tables 1 and 2. It is important to note that while state criminalizing and inclusive immigrant polices may co-exist, they represent two different constructs. Due to the extensive inflow of immigrants after 1965 and accompanying debates over immigrants' rights and legal status, inclusive and criminalizing immigrant policies are an important topic of public health research as they can influence the health and well-being of immigrants and people of marginalized conditions (De Trinidad Young & Wallace, 2019). The

goal of the present dissertation research is to examine the role of immigrant policies on diabetes

and physical activity overall and by Latino and Asian American population groups.

Sector	Policy	Indicator that policy exists (Yes = 1, No = 0)
Identification and licensing	State driver's license	Does the state require a social security number to obtain driver's license?
	Compliance with the federal ID act of 2005, which sets standards for state licenses and IDs	Does the state comply with RealID?
Work authorization	Use of employment authorization database, E- verify	Does the state mandate employers use E-verify?
Immigration enforcement and criminal justice	Law enforcement collaboration with federal enforcement Law enforcement inquiry about the legal status	Does the state fully collaborate with federal immigration authorities? Does the state require or allow law enforcement to verify individuals' legal status at the time of a stop or arrest?
	Sentencing laws	Does the state sentence nonviolent criminal offenses for at least 365 days?

Table 1. List of Criminalizing Immigrant Policies

Table 2. List of Inclusive Policies

Sector	Policy	Indicator that policy exists (Yes = 1, No = 0)
Health and social service	State Children's Health	Does the state provide health
benefits	Insurance Program (SCHIP)	insurance to children
		regardless of legal status?
	Medicaid—prenatal care	Does the state provide care to
		pregnant women regardless of
		legal status?
	Supplemental Nutrition	Does the state count a
	Assistance Program	prorated share of ineligible
	-	noncitizen

Sector	Policy	Indicator that policy exists (Yes = 1, No = 0)
		income to determine family eligibility for benefits?
Education	In-state college and university tuition	Does the state provide most students in-state tuition regardless of legal status?
	Financial aid for colleges and universities	Does the state provide students with scholarships or financial aid regardless of legal status?
Labor and employment	Citizenship requirements for peace officers Citizenship requirements for teachers Worker's compensation	Does the state require peace officers be citizens? Does the state require teachers be citizens? Does the state include undocumented immigrants in the definition of employee?
	Extension of protections for agricultural workers	Does the state extend wage and hour protections for agricultural workers?
	Extension of protections for domestic workers	Does the state extend wage and hour protections for domestic workers?
	Domestic Worker's Bill of Rights	Does the state have a Domestic Worker's Bill of Rights?
	Protection against immigration-related employer retaliation	Does the state have laws that protect noncitizen workers from employer retaliation related to their legal status?
	Professional licensing of undocumented and DACAmented professionals	Does the state allow licensing of undocumented or DACAmented professionals?
Language access	Payment of interpreters through Medicaid or SCHIP	Does the state pay for interpreters through Medicaid or SCHIP?
	English language–only legislation	Does the state have English as the official language?

Study Goal and Specific Aims

This study involves secondary data analysis of data from the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS), existing state policy data compiled by Young (2019), and the American Community Survey data (ACS), with an overarching goal to assess if state-level immigration policy factors are associated with type 2 diabetes or T2DM and physical activity. The specific aims and research questions of this dissertation are as follows:

Aim 1. To examine if state-level immigrant policy is associated with prevalence of diabetes (T2DM).

1.1 What is the association between state-level criminalizing policies and the prevalence of diabetes (T2DM) while controlling for individual- and state-level characteristics?
1.2 What is the association between state-level inclusive policies and the prevalence of diabetes (T2DM) while controlling for individual- and other state-level characteristics?
1.3 Does the association between state-level immigrant policies (criminalizing and inclusive) and diabetes (T2DM) prevalence vary between Latin American and Asian American origin adults?

Aim 2. To examine if state-level immigrant policy is associated with meeting recommended levels of physical activity (PA).

2.1 What is the association between state-level criminalizing policies and the prevalence of recommended physical activity (PA) while controlling for individual- and state-level characteristics?

2.2 What is the association between state-level inclusive policies and the prevalence of recommended physical activity (PA) while controlling for individual- and state-level characteristics?

2.3 Does the association between state-level immigrant policies (criminalizing and inclusive) and recommended physical activity (PA) prevalence vary between Latino American and Asian American origin adults?

Significance of the study

Health disparities research and interventions in the U.S. have focused primarily on proximal factors such as education (Borrell et al., 2006; Dray-Spira et al., 2010; Sacerdote et al., 2012; Whitaker et al., 2014), income (P. A. Braveman et al., 2010; Gaskin et al., 2014), diet (Ilunga Tshiswaka et al., 2017; Orr et al., 2019; Seligman et al., 2010), weight gain/obesity (Cameron et al., 2021; Commodore-Mensah et al., 2018; Kim et al., 2018), physical activity/sedentary behavior (Joseph et al., 2016) and to some extent community-level factors, such as neighborhood characteristics, (Christine et al., 2015; Grigsby-Toussaint et al., 2015; Lagisetty et al., 2016; Osypuk et al., 2009) to understand determinants of chronic health conditions. However, these studies have shown little progress in promoting and sustaining health (Chow et al., 2012), likely due to the lack of integration of structural conditions, such as policies that shape health (Dias et al., 2020). Moreover, few studies have specifically examined how policies shape diabetes and physical activity in racial/ethnic marginalized groups and immigrants (Alvidrez et al., 2019; Brown et al., 2019; Clark & Utz, 2014). Therefore, there is a critical need to identify factors that contribute to increased rates of diabetes and decreased rates of physical activity that could lead to a reassessment of current individual-level prevention and intervention efforts.

Racial/ethnic and immigrant groups face legal and social barriers to health that can depend on a state's policies, above and beyond any individual-level determinants of health (Young et al., 2020). Although restrictive/criminalizing policies are largely detrimental for

undocumented immigrants, their impact can have spillover effects to other non-citizens. For example, temporary, undocumented or mixed status families can experience a stressful immigrant-related climate that discourages anyone in the family from participating in public benefit programs due to fears of deportation (Asad & Clair, 2018; Nichols et al., 2018; Young et al., 2020). Additionally, immigrant policy contexts influence the racialization of people of color even when they have legal status in the U.S. (Asad & Clair, 2018; Wallace et al., 2019; Young et al., 2020). Some policies, for example, are enacted to indirectly target a specific immigrant group, such as Arizona's SB 1070 law, which primarily affects Latinos (De Trinidad Young et al., 2018; Martin, 1995; Partida, 2020). Given that Latino and Asian adults suffer an increased burden of T2DM and not meeting recommeded physical activity relative to their non-Latino White counterparts (Commodore-Mensah et al., 2018; Engelman & Ye, 2019; Spanakis & Golden, 2013), restrictive/criminalzing and inclusive immigrant policies may explain some of the excess burden of T2DM and lower prevalence of meeting recommneded physical activity osberevd in these population groups. To our knowledge, no study has examined the association of the immigrant policy context with T2DM and PA in the Latin American and Asian American origin adults. These results will provide novel and timely data on the role of policies shaping chronic health conditions and spur state-level policymakers to advocate for more effective policies to mitigate harm and promote health for these two racially marginalized populations.

Overview of Methodology

Contextual factors, such as the immigrant policy context, may independently or in combination with individual-level characteristics pattern chronic health conditions and health behaviors (Wallace et al., 2019). Multilevel models (MLM) that simultaneously account for individual-level and contextual level variation (Diez-Roux, 2000; Leyland & Groenewegen,

2020a) can provide a more comprehensive assessment of the determinants of diabetes and physical activity prevalence.

The present study used publicly available, complex probability surveys to create a data set with person-level measures of race/ethnicity, diabetes status and physical activity and statelevel measures of criminalizing and inclusive immigrant policy. Given the complex survey design of the source data, my study uses weighted multilevel modeling (MLM) to answer the research questions. The study employs several multi-level models capturing immigrant policy at a state-level and adjusts for individual- and state-level characteristics to understand the association of state-level immigrant policies with two individual-level outcomes: diagnosis of diabetes and meeting physical activity recommendations. At the individual level, several distinct factors are important to understand the role of immigrant policies on diabetes and physical activity prevalence among racial/ethnic minorities and immigrants. Education level, employment, income, sex at birth, health insurance coverage and access to healthcare can influence health promoting behaviors like physical activity and chronic health conditions such as diabetes. For example, education level influences employment opportunities as well as income and health insurance coverage. At the contextual or group level, the percentage of foreign-born people in a state can capture economic, demographic, and political conditions.

Organization of the Dissertation

Chapter II reviews prior research on the association between immigrant policy and T2DM and physical activity. Chapter III details the methodologies for the study. Chapters IV tests the association between state-level immigrant policies and prevalence of diabetes (T2DM) in Latin American and Asian American origin adults (Aim 1). Chapter V tests the association between state-level immigrant policies and prevalence of meeting recommended physical

activity (PA) in Latin American and Asian American origin adults (Aim 2). Chapter VI discusses the implications this study has for understanding how state-level immigrant policy influences T2DM and PA in Latin American and Asian American origin adults.

CHAPTER II: LITERATURE REVIEW

Immigrant Policy

From 1965, the start of the Immigration and Nationality Act (INA), to 2016, approximately 43.2 million immigrants moved to the United States (U.S.). The majority of immigrants were from Latin America and Asia (M. Lopez, 2015). This influx of immigrants has resulted in policies that maintain legal immigration and impact the well-being of immigrants. The legal immigration policy (who can enter and remain in the U.S.) is the federal government's responsibility. In contrast, immigrant policies enacted at the state level since Welfare Reform Act 1996 give enhanced discretion to states to provide or not provide a wide range of public services to immigrants based on their legal status (Motomura, 2014; Wallace et al., 2019; Wallace & Young, 2018).

In 1996, the federal Illegal Immigration Reform and Immigrant Responsibility Act (IIRIRA) and the Personal Responsibility and Work Opportunity Reconciliation Act (PRWORA) transferred policy-making authority regarding immigrants' public program eligibility and immigration enforcement from the federal government to state government (Perreira & Pedroza, 2019; Wallace et al., 2019; Young et al., 2020). This change gave states discretion to shape immigrants' social and legal incorporation by creating two types of immigrant policies, restrictive and inclusive. *Restrictive policies* increase the gap between immigrants and U.S.-born Americans in access to public services, education, and employment (Wallace et al., 2019). These restrictive policies can legitimize discrimination, institutionalize racism, and increase fear and mistrust among immigrants. Restrictive policies began with the onset of the Welfare Reform Act in 1996 through the PRWORA act, which created two categories of immigrants for federally funded health insurance and public assistance (e.g., food and cash assistance): qualified (legal

permanent residents or LPRs, refugees, and asylees) and unqualified (undocumented, temporary protected status or TPS, student and work visa holders) (Fortuny & Chaudry, 2012; Perreira & Pedroza, 2019). Although the Affordable Care Act in 2010 and the Deferred Action for Childhood Arrivals (DACA) executive order in 2012 increased eligibility for immigrants to access federal health insurance, it prohibited undocumented individuals to purchase marketplace health insurance (C. Becerra, 2019; French et al., 2016; Lantz & Rosenbaum, 2020). Additionally, the companion law of PRWORA, the IIRIRA 1996 (section 287g) granted states and local police immigration enforcement that started to grow in 2002 and amplified with the launch of the secure communities (SComm) program in 2008 (American Immigration Council, 2021; Perreira & Pedroza, 2019; Waslin, 2011). This enforcement allowed local police to match the fingerprints of all arrested immigrants with the U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement (ICE) database to determine their legal status (Wallace et al., 2019; Young et al., 2020). Hence, these policies are also considered as criminalizing policies, as they link local police with immigration enforcement (Young et al., 2020). Criminalizing policies can also make a green card holder ineligible for naturalization or liable to deportation under the federal definition of "aggravated felony" if they get a sentence of a year or longer for minor offenses (such as misdemeanor theft) (García Hernández, 2015; Young et al., 2020). Criminalizing policies shape immigrants' day-to-day work and can increase exposure of non-citizens to law enforcement (e.g., via complying with Real ID, mandating employer use of E-Verify, and requiring or allowing law enforcement to verify an individual's legal status during an arrest or traffic stop) (Sudhinaraset et al., 2021; Young et al., 2020). These activities criminalize immigrants by denying them citizenship-based social protections and rights, restricting their ability to enter the country, and endangering their ability to stay in their communities (Wallace & Young, 2018). Moreover,

states can enact laws or administrative regulations that can affect access to education, employment, health-promoting behavior, health, and human services (e.g., California's proposition 187 in 1994 and Arizona's SB 1070 in 2010) (Hardy et al., 2012; Spetz et al., 2000; White et al., 2014). Some of the obvious effects of these laws include denying undocumented students access to in-state tuition or funding for education, requiring state ID or driver's license, and electronic verification (E-verify) that verifies work authorization of new employees (Perreira & Pedroza, 2019; Wallace et al., 2019).

In contrast to these restrictive and criminalizing policies, states can also adopt *inclusive immigrant policies* that extend rights or increase access for immigrants (Perreira & Pedroza, 2019; Young et al., 2019). Inclusive policies blur the lines between immigrants and native-born Americans, acknowledging immigrant residents of the United States as "Americans in Waiting" who have the potential to become productive and loyal citizens of the United States (Perreira & Pedroza, 2019). Research shows that inclusive policies have been adopted in some states to promote their adaptation to the United States (Perreira & Pedroza, 2019). To fill the gaps in ACA, for example, some states (e.g., California, to some extent in New York, Hawaii, Illinois, and Colorado) have started programs to provide healthcare access (through health insurance) to low-income, pregnant and infant, and elderly, regardless of their immigration status (National Immigration Law Center, 2015). Sanctuary policies have also been adopted in some states. For example, in New York, 300 precincts refused to cooperate with at least some ICE detainer requests (Hausman, 2020). Sixteen states and the District of Columbia have enacted laws to allow unauthorized immigrants to obtain driver's licenses if they can provide an acceptable form of identification (e.g., birth certificate or passport) (National Conference of State Legislatures, 2022). At least 17 states offer state financial assistance to undocumented immigrant college

students (National Conference of State Legislatures, 2021). Growing literature shows that inclusive policy benefits immigrants and the U.S. community (Sherman et al., 2019).

State criminalizing and inclusive immigrant polices may coexist, but they represent two distinct constructs. For example, while inclusive policies may provide access to health promoting resources, criminalizing policies may produce an environment where immigrants are more likely to be deported because state-level agencies reinforce surveillance (Young et al., 2020). Importantly, the presence of inclusive policies does not curtail criminalizing policies (De Trinidad Young & Wallace, 2019). Thus, there is general consensus that public health research should include both criminalizing and inclusive policies as two independent contexts while examining their effect on health and health related behaviors (Alberto et al., 2020; De Trinidad Young & Wallace, 2019; Sudhinaraset et al., 2021).

Theoretical Framework

Several theoretical frameworks have been proposed to explain health behaviors and health outcomes for racial/ethnic marginalized populations and immigrants. These frameworks identify some essential elements and lay the foundation of the theoretical framework most relevant to my research. Furthermore, these theoretical frameworks helped me to understand the strength and limitations of the existing models as it relates to my topic of interest and paved the way for proposing a modified framework to understand T2DM and physical activity in Latin American and Asian American adults.

Figure 1. Proposed Conceptual Framework



The link between public policy and health has been discussed previously (Navarro et al., 2006; Navarro & Shi, 2001). It may be both a direct or indirect relationship, and here in **Figure 1**, I show that immigrant policy context may independently lead to cardiovascular health behaviors (e.g., physical activity) and health outcomes (e.g., diabetes), while also shaping intermediate social determinants of health.

The first component of my conceptual framework -immigrant policy -is a structural or contextual level determinants. Context is broadly defined as a structural mechanism that creates social class division (or stratification) and assigns individuals to different social positions (Solar & Irwin, 2010). Contextual or policy level factors can directly impact health through health services, provision of healthcare coverage and prevention programs (e.g., screening facility) (Osypuk et al., 2014; Schoeni et al., 2008). Theoretical models, such as Andersen's behavioral model postulate that macrosocial environmental policies related to non-health and health are important inputs in use of health services and health status (Andersen, 1995). For example, immigration policies like the Illegal Immigration Reform and Immigrant Responsibility Act of

1996 (IIRIRA) restricted access to public health coverage for recent and undocumented immigrants (Fragomen, 1997). Lack of health coverage leads to increased symptoms and complications resulting from disease due to delay in treatment in marginalized population groups (E. Hall & Cuellar, 2016; Stone et al., 2007). In contrast, policy contexts indirectly impact health by virtue of their influence on social determinants of health (Berkman et al., 2014; Osypuk et al., 2014). One of the contextual factors that powerfully drives social class division is state's public policies, such as immigrant policies. In 1996, the Welfare Act transferred policy making authority regarding immigrants' public program eligibility and immigration enforcement from federal government to state government (Perreira & Pedroza, 2019; Wallace et al., 2019; Young et al., 2020). It gave states enhanced discretion to shape immigrants social and legal incorporation creating restrictive and inclusive immigrant policies.

Restrictive and criminalizing policies increase the gap between immigrant and US-born Americans' access to public services, education, and employment (Wallace et al., 2019). In contrast to restrictive or criminalizing policies, states can also adopt *inclusive immigrant policies* that blur the lines between immigrants and native-born Americans and extend rights or increase access for immigrants (Perreira & Pedroza, 2019; Young et al., 2019). Immigrant policies can play an important role in the cultural, social and economic well-being of racial or ethnic marginalized population and immigrants (Castañeda et al., 2015; Galeucia & Hirsch, 2016; Torres & Young, 2016).

Several scholars and agencies have integrated the social determinants of health (SDH) framework to understand immigrant health, including having been adopted by the World Health Organization (Solar & Irwin, 2010). This framework was central to my study. According to the SDOH framework, social, economic, and political mechanisms give rise to a set of

socioeconomic condition, where people are divided according to their age, sex, race/ethnicity, education, income, occupation, and other factors. This socioeconomic position in turn operates through a set of intermediary determinants (e.g., stress, food availability) to shape health. The SDH framework recognizes the fact that the political context or public policy is a social determinant of health that influences health behaviors and health, particularly for marginalized populations.

Wallace, Young, and colleagues (dates) and Philbin and colleagues (date) integrated the SDOH framework in theorizing about immigrant health. These authors explicitly identify statelevel immigrant policies as the key structural factors that influence racial/ethnic marginalized group's health behaviors and health (M. M. Philbin et al., 2018; Wallace et al., 2019). These authors provide frameworks that center social determinants explicitly from the perspective of immigrants and people of color who live in a socially disadvantaged position. According to Wallace and Young (date), immigrant policies are public policies that affect many social structures where immigrants and people of color live and work. These structures can produce inequitable conditions based on individuals' immigration status as well as other categories such as race/ethnicity and sex at birth. Philbin argues that state-level immigration-related policies serve as the drivers of Latino health by exerting harmful effects beyond targeted individuals (e.g., undocumented immigrants) to affect authorized immigrants and racial/ethnic minoritized groups (M. M. Philbin et al., 2018). Philbin's theoretical framework also shows how immigrant policies impact individual level determinants (e.g., education, employment, income, race/ethnicity, age, sex), which is the second element of my proposed framework.

In general, education increases knowledge and provides formal qualifications that contribute to socioeconomic status through employment and income (Solar & Irwin, 2010). It

also improves health literacy and access to health related information and promotes adoption of healthy lifestyles (Solar & Irwin, 2010; Wallace et al., 2019). Inclusive immigrant policies have been shown to increase educational opportunities for young immigrants by reducing student absenteeism and providing an avenue for future employment opportunities (Heller, 1999; Wallace et al., 2019). In turn, inclusive policies facilitate racial or ethnic marginalized and immigrants' economic and social integration and increases access to resources that promote wellbeing (Baum & Flores, 2011; Heller, 1999; M. M. Philbin et al., 2018; Wallace et al., 2019). Restrictive immigrant policies, on the other hand, reduce educational attainment in immigrant and racial/ethnic minority children and adolescents and create a perception of intimidation and deprivation (Barajas-Gonzalez et al., 2021; Ee & Gándara, 2020; Kirksey & Sattin-Bajaj, 2021; M. M. Philbin et al., 2018). Immigrant students experience behavioral changes in eating and sleeping habits, and emotional changes such as increased anxiety, anger and difficulty in concentrating to do schoolwork if their parents are in threat of deportation (Rodriguez et al., 2022). Fuentes et al. emphasized that the acculturation-based framework to explain health disparity in racial/ethnic marginalized and immigrant in the U.S. needs a shift (Viruell-Fuentes et al., 2012). They argued that this shift should expand the examination of the impact of immigrant policies and neighborhood and residential segregation on immigrant well-being. They particularly noted that examining immigrant policies is imperative since policies not only limit access to healthcare but also impact individual-level education and employment opportunities, which are fundamental causes of limited health-promoting behavior and adverse health outcomes (Viruell-Fuentes, 2007). Furthermore, low healthcare access or higher uninsurance rate among Latino stems from their lower education, low-wage jobs (that do not offer health benefits), being foreign-born, language barriers, and living in Latino concentrated/isolated areas such as Arizona,

California, New Mexico, and Texas. Finally, as a result of not having health insurance, Latinos do not have a regular source of care and suffer from delayed care, lack of preventative care and screening (Dondero & Altman, 2020; Stone et al., 2007).

My proposed framework also supports minority stress theory to explain marginalized populations' health, including health behaviors (Meyer, 2003; Valentín-Cortés et al., 2020). The theory posits that individuals from underprivileged social groups are subjected to unique stress and coping mechanisms related to their minority identity, which determines the effect of this social status on health, particularly mental health. The model presents stress and coping through multilayered constructs such as circumstances in the environment, minority status and identity, general stressors, and social support, which impact mental health outcomes (Meyer, 2003). In the context of immigrants and Latino and Asians, research finds that these groups endure increased anxiety and harmful mental health outcomes as a result of distinct minority identity-related stressors likely produced by anti-immigrant climate in the United States. These stressors can lead to a lack of faith in community resources, uncertainty about health benefits, delays in medical treatment, and adverse mental health outcomes (Valentín-Cortés et al., 2020). Moreover, these frameworks suggest that as a result of restrictive environment, low education and lower income immigrants and racial/ethnic minorities do not engage in health promoting behavior (e.g., physical activity; Philbin et al., 2018; Solar & Irwin, 2010). The fear of criminalizing policies like being stopped and apprehended can affect Latinos' ability to access resources ranging from physical activity to employment (Hardy et al., 2012). In addition, restrictive policies force immigrants and racial/ethnic minorities to work in a strict environment where there are usually no exercise facilities and live in impoverished residential areas with a lack of park, walking and bicycle trails and transportation (M. M. Philbin et al., 2018; Rogerson & Emes, 2006; Solar &

Irwin, 2010). Exclusionary or restrictive policies can also deteriorate neighborhood conditions (e.g., housing, food) of racial/ethnic minority and immigrants through lower wages, financial instability, exclusion from housing subsidies, and reduced access to public nutrition assistance program (e.g., Supplemental Nutritional Assistance Program or SNAP) (M. M. Philbin et al., 2018; Wallace et al., 2019).

In summary, I have presented that the relationship between immigrant policy and health behavior or health has both direct and indirect mechanisms. As can be seen, I have retained the needed factors that specifically influence one key chronic health condition (e.g., T2DM) and one key health behavior (e.g., PA) in immigrants and racial/ethnic marginalized people. My framework incorporates the abovementioned theories and frameworks offers a fuller understanding of the determinants and a potential pathway through which immigrants develops or aggravate type 2 diabetes and underperform recommended physical activity. Although my study will not test the causal pathway, it provides a critical first step to understand associations that may exist between state-level immigrant policy contexts and diabetes and physical activity.

Mechanisms Linking Immigrant Policies and Health Behavior and Health

Immigrant policies influence health behavior and health, more specifically chronic health conditions (e.g., diabetes), through several distinct mechanisms. This section describes the relationships between aspects of immigrant policies that shape health and health behavior, more specifically, T2DM and PA.

Healthcare Access and Diabetes

The first important aspect is *health insurance coverage and healthcare access*. Health insurance is important for immigrants and racial/ethnic marginalized people to access preventive healthcare, screening, and chronic disease management (Chasens et al., 2020). However, the
Illegal Immigration Reform and Immigrant Responsibility Act 1996 restricted access of public insurance for recent lawful permanent residents (LPRs) and other lawful immigrants for the initial five years; meanwhile undocumented immigrants remain ineligible (Fragomen, 1997). Job-based insurance is also unavailable to many immigrants because many are involved in agriculture, food, and construction work. These types of jobs less commonly offer health insurance. Together, these problems have created low insurance coverage among immigrants, racial/ethnic marginalized people (KFF, 2005) and what some refer to as 'occupational segregation.' In addition, language barriers and lack of interpreter services at health centers and clinics make it complicated for immigrants and racial/ethnic marginalized people to access health services (KFF, 2005). Although the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (ACA) in 2014 reduced health insurance coverage disparities between U.S.-born citizens and naturalized citizens and LPRs, disparities still remain for undocumented immigrants (Chasens et al., 2020; Dondero & Altman, 2020).

Research finds that uninsured immigrants and racial/ethnic marginalized people are more likely to delay treatment, postpone care, and skip purchasing needed prescriptions, which leads to severe disease symptoms and increased complications (E. Hall & Cuellar, 2016). States that support restrictive policies create barriers for immigrants and racial/ethnic marginalized people to receive federal benefits based on the legal status. For example, nineteen states retained these restrictive policies and offer no medical coverage for low-income pregnant women who are undocumented or recently arrived LPRs (Wallace et al., 2019). On the other hand, some of the states proactively opt immigrants and racial/ethnic marginalized people in through their inclusive policies and increases their healthcare access for continuity of care (Perreira & Pedroza, 2019; Wallace et al., 2019). For example, fifteen states extended Medicaid to pregnant women who are

legal permanent resident in those 15 states (without a five years wait), in spite of not receiving federal Medicaid funds for their care (Wallace et al., 2019). Inclusive policy helps immigrants and racial/ethnic marginalized people in receiving preventive and primary care service, stalling chronic disease development (e.g., diabetes) and potentially reduces healthcare spending. In contrast, lack of health insurance and inadequate healthcare access prevents immigrants and racial/ethnic marginalized people from regular screening and delays diagnosis and treatment of chronic conditions (e.g., diabetes) (E. Hall & Cuellar, 2016).

Healthcare Access and Physical Activity

Healthcare access can also affect physical activity behavior. Health insurance is an important part of healthcare access as it provides an easier entrance to preventive health care (Institute of Medicine, 2002). Affording health insurance is dependent on income status of the individual gained through education and employment (Fletcher & Frisvold, 2009; Lazar & Davenport, 2018). Although only a few studies directly determined whether having health insurance increases physical activity among adults, having higher socioeconomic status and health insurance may have a positive influence on physical activity through higher facilities, decreased stress, increased social interaction and participation (Luo et al., 2022; O'Donoghue et al., 2018; Stalling et al., 2022; Stalsberg & Pedersen, 2018). Healthcare providers can also motivate and advise their patients on the benefits of PA and connect them to community-based programs of physical activity such as 'Rx for Exercise' (Albert et al., 2020; Lobelo & de Quevedo, 2016). However, due to a lack of health insurance and interpreter services at the health center this process often becomes difficult (KFF, 2005). Health insurance coverage varies substantially between racial and ethnic groups in the U.S. for example, compared to non-Hispanic whites, people of Latino origin and Asians have persistently lower insurance coverage

(Artiga et al., 2021; Sohn, 2017). Restrictive immigrant acts (e.g., IIRAIRA) also made it more difficult to get public health insurance for these socially disadvantaged and immigrant population (Fragomen, 1997).

Physical activity can benefit everyone, but lack of access to safe and convenient places to be physically active may contribute to racial and ethnic inequities in active living (Fulton, 2020). Socially disadvantaged groups, such as Latin and Asian American adults, in general, have less access to safe and affordable places to exercise, leisure time and energy, and exposure to networks that support physical activity, compared with White (Divney et al., 2019; Easier, 2021; Echeverria et al., 2014; S. E. Echeverría et al., 2019; Mendoza-Vasconez et al., 2016; Murillo et al., 2016). These factors provide significant barriers to physical activity, and result in systematic disparities in physical activity and its related health outcomes (Lee & Cubbin, 2009).

Education, Employment, Income, and Diabetes

As previously noted, *education, employment, and income* create a web of conditions that affect health-promoting behaviors and health (P. Braveman et al., 2011). Immigrants and racial/ethnic marginalized people face significant financial and legal challenges that hinder their educational attainment. States like Georgia, Alabama, Indiana, and Arizona do not allow unauthorized residents to attend some state universities. Those that do allow enrollment do not offer in-state tuition benefits (National Conference of State Legislature, 2021; Wallace & Young, 2018). Research shows that lack of education leads to immigrants and racial/ethnic marginalized individuals being less informed in health-related decision and management of diseases (e.g., diabetes) (P. Braveman et al., 2011; DeWalt et al., 2004). Furthermore, low education has been associated with lower perceived personal control, which has been linked with decreased wellbeing (P. Braveman et al., 2011; Mirowsky & Ross, 1998).

Moreover, education plays a vital role in health by shaping employment opportunities. Low-educated individuals experience higher rates of unemployment that leads to economic hardship and subsequent inability to buy health insurance and to afford the cost of medical care (Bartley & Plewis, 2002; P. Braveman et al., 2011; P. Braveman & Egerter, 2008; Woolf & Braveman, 2011). Research shows that unemployment is strongly associated with worse health and higher mortality (P. Braveman et al., 2011). A contradictory immigrant (criminalizing) policy related to employment was the adoption of the 1986 Immigration Reform and Control Act (IRCA), which instituted employer restrictions for hiring unauthorized immigrants (M. A. Rodríguez et al., 2015). The act required all employers to use the federal electronic verify (E-Verify) authorization system for all new hires. To date, 22 states require E-verify for immigrants (NCSL, 2015; Westat, 2009). This program has been shown to be erroneously identified authorized immigrants and racial/ethnic marginalized people as unauthorized (Westat, 2009).

Adopting criminalizing immigrant policies to limit employment opportunities increase poverty among an already marginalized population (Bohn & Lofstrom, 2012). It pushes immigrants into informal employment, the effects of which are fewer benefits, lower wages, and worse working and housing conditions (M. A. Rodríguez et al., 2015). Restrictive employment is also associated with increased poor physical and mental health outcomes due to difficulty in affording necessities, increasing stress, and increasing unhealthy coping behaviors (such as alcohol, smoking, or drug use) (Rudolph et al., 2013). Another important criminalizing policy concerning employment opportunities is the presence of a *driver's license*. A driver's license provides immigrants and racial/ethnic marginalized people access to economic resources, banking, school, and employment opportunities (M. A. Rodríguez et al., 2015; Wallace et al., 2019). Lack of a driver's license produces more stress among immigrants and racial/ethnic

marginalized people due to fewer resources to cope with daily challenges (P. Braveman et al., 2011; Marmot & Allen, 2014).

On the other hand, inclusive policies like extending in-state tuition benefits can motivate immigrant youth and racial/ethnic marginalized people to complete high school because they will see education as more attainable. States such as California, Colorado, and New York have adopted inclusive policies and passed laws allowing states to pay in-state tuition for public universities (Wallace & Young, 2018). Adopting these policies reduces high school dropout and increased graduation rates among youth immigrants and racial/ethnic marginalized people in these states (Filindra et al., 2011). In addition, educated immigrants and racial/ethnic marginalized people may have improved work compensation, resulting in better food habits, living conditions and better health (P. Braveman et al., 2011; Crissey, 2009).

Education, Employment and Income, and Physical Activity

Studies have demonstrated that education, employment, and income are generally positively associated with physical activity (Saffer et al., 2013; Scholes & Bann, 2018). Education is highly associated with health-promoting behavior, such as physical activity (Davies et al., 2019; Kantomaa et al., 2016; Kari et al., 2020; C. Park & Kang, 2008). This can be explained by the fact that individuals who attain more education invest more in health by adopting a healthy lifestyle (C. Park & Kang, 2008). Limited physical activity among racial/ethnic minorities and immigrants has been partly explained by socioeconomic status (Anderson et al., 2006; Crespo et al., 2000). For example, the lack of education and information about appropriate types of exercise is one of the important reasons of reduced physically activity in Latinos (Ramirez et al., 2007). Income and employment are also intimately associated here. Educated people have better employment opportunities and higher income. Individuals with higher income more likely to participate in any physical activity than individuals with lower income (Humphreys & Ruseski, 2006; Meltzer & Jena, 2010). Results also show that individuals with low income due to lack of exercise facilities, parks, and open space as well as strict work environment cannot meet recommended physical activity guidelines (Larsen et al., 2013; Shuval et al., 2013). Latinos in the U.S. have a lower median family income of approximately than non-Latino Whites and approximately 25% of Latinos lives in poverty compared with 12.3% of non-Latino Whites (Brodsky et al., 2010).

Moreover, it has been suggested that racial/ethnic marginalized people and immigrants who arrive in the United States as a result of economic hardship and relocation are relatively impoverished and are thus compelled to live in deteriorating residential areas and abandoned homes (Amesty, 2003; Caperchione et al., 2009). They also face sociocultural (e.g., gender issues, husband support, language barrier) and environmental barriers (e.g., inability to drive, unleashed dogs) (Evenson et al., 2002). As a result, education levels are low among these immigrants and their children, and there is a lack of general resources (e.g., parks, walking and bicycle trails, transportation), all of which affect participation in physical activity (Rogerson & Emes, 2006; Sundquist et al., 1995).

Immigration Enforcement and Diabetes

Another mechanism linking policies to diabetes is *immigration enforcement*. These criminalizing policies set state-sanctioned surveillance linking local criminal justice systems with immigration enforcement (Perreira & Pedroza, 2019; Wallace et al., 2019; Young et al., 2020). For example, currently there are two state-sanctioned practices: the 287 (g)-a section of Illegal Immigration Reform and Immigrant Responsibility Act 1996 (IIRIRA) and Secure Communities (SComm) enforcement program of 2008. The 287 (g) section authorizes Immigration and

Customs Enforcement (ICE) to share information between state and local law enforcement agencies to enforce federal immigration law during daily law enforcement activities (American Immigration Council, 2021; U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement, 2021). SComm is a technology-based management program complementary to 287 (g). It flags those immigrants whose fingerprints are already in immigration databases. When an individual is arrested by local police, under the SComm technology, local police scan the arrestee's fingerprints in the ICE and the FBI database. If the check reveals an unlawful presence or criminal activity, ICE takes enforcement action against the immigrant (Rhodes et al., 2015). From 2008 to 2013, the SComm program grew to all 3,181 jurisdictions within the 50 states, the District of Columbia, and five U.S. territories sharing law enforcement information with federal immigration enforcement authorities (Kohli et al., 2011; Kubrin, 2014; U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement, 2018). In 2018, the SComm program carried out the removal of 337,287 immigrants (removals of nationals from Mexico made up 65%), a 17% increase from the previous year (Gramlich, 2020; Guo & Baugh, 2019). Policies like Secure Communities produce a chilling effect among immigrants, discouraging them from using public services due to immigration-related consequences (Wallace et al., 2019). In addition to increasing fear and stress, being in public places can negatively impact health (Arbona et al., 2010; Watson, 2014). Although criminalizing and restrictive policies focus on undocumented people and LPRs with less than 5 years in the U.S., it has created spillover effects among general noncitizens and racial/ethnic marginalized people with legal status (Wallace et al., 2019). For example, undocumented parents are fearful of seeking public services for their citizen children owing to concerns of enforcement (O. Martinez et al., 2015; Rhodes et al., 2015).

Immigration Enforcement and Physical Activity

Immigrant policies can also impact engagement in a physically active lifestyle for Latin American and Asian American population groups. Although undocumented immigrants may worry that any interaction with law enforcement may lead to their arrest, legal immigrants and people of racial/ethnic minorities may also fear harassment by law enforcement because of racial profiling (Morey, 2018). The concern of being arrested or harassed due to criminalizing and restrictive policies can hinder immigrants and racial/ethnic minorities from accessing resources like physical activity (Hardy et al., 2012). As an example, the enactment of the Support Our Law Enforcement and Safe Neighborhoods Act (SB 1070) in 2010 in Arizona (a repeat of the aftermath of Proposition 187 in the 1990s) increased the overall level of fear among people of Latin American origin (Hardy et al., 2012). As a result of the law, Latino residents who already had difficulty accessing healthy food also became reluctant to go outside for physical activity for fear of arrest by police. Lack of access to a healthy lifestyle (e.g., physical activity, healthy food) is also a risk factor for diabetes and other chronic health conditions (Booth et al., 2012; Hardy et al., 2012).

Physiological Links Between Immigrant Policies and Diabetes

Both inclusive and restrictive or criminalizing policies can have physiologic and psychologic effects. Briefly, inclusive environments help maintain positive emotionality which increases the level of serotonin production in the body and thereby decreases depression, increases the feeling of belongingness, social participation, and general wellbeing (P. A. Hall & Lamont, 2009; Peyrot et al., 1999). Immigrants and racial/ethnic marginalized people live in social and economic disadvantages due to restrictive and criminalizing policy environments that restrain their access to education, employment, income and also keep them under continuous

surveillance (Perreira & Pedroza, 2019; Young et al., 2020). Coping with these disadvantages daily can be stressful (Björntorp, 1997). Stressful conditions make them psychologically vulnerable, for example, as they may experience feelings of hopelessness or anxiety, particularly in the context of social isolation or poverty (Lloyd et al., 2005). Over the long term, living under *stress/stressful conditions* impacts the physiology of the body through the activation of the stress response. The stress response in turn activates the autonomic nervous system, neuroendocrine system, and the immune system which can lead to poor health outcomes (P. Braveman et al., 2011; Lloyd et al., 2005; Woolf & Braveman, 2011).

The autonomic nervous system is involved with the regulation of smooth muscle, cardiac muscle, and glands. In addition, it regulates the functions over which we have no conscious control, such as cardiovascular function and digestion. The autonomic nervous system includes two main branches: the parasympathetic and the sympathetic nervous system. The sympathetic part is most dominant in stress, and the sympathetic system prepares the body for action. For example, it increases oxygen and nutrient supplies to the muscles by increasing the blood flow to the skeletal muscles and freeing glucose from the hepatic system (liver) and lipids from body fat stores and, at the same time, prepare the immune system for possible injury (Surwit et al., 1990).

The neuroendocrine system activates the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis or HPA axis (the main neurohormonal pathway to maintain body homeostasis). This activation causes the HPA axis to release corticotropin-releasing hormone from the hypothalamus, which in turn releases adrenocorticotropin hormone from the pituitary gland (Björntorp, 1997; Lloyd et al., 2005). The adrenocorticotropin hormone travels to the adrenal gland via blood and causes glucocorticoid secretion, particularly cortisol. A point of note here is that cortisol is also produced and secreted in normal humans, which functions to regulate metabolism, immune

function, and stress. However, stressful events cause additional cortisol secretion to reduce stress (Lloyd et al., 2005; Thau et al., 2022). In addition, periodic elevated cortisol secretion causes fat breakdown and direct storage of body fat to deposit in the viscera (internal body organs such as the intestines) and increases abdominal obesity (Björntorp, 1997; Galicia-Garcia et al., 2020). These hormonal abnormalities contribute to the development of insulin resistance—the main feature of type 2 diabetes (Björntorp, 1997) (**Figure 2**). Insulin resistance is also amplified by excess circulatory free fatty acids (FFA) due to abdominal obesity that impairs insulin receptors (cell protein that binds with insulin and helps in the absorption of glucose from the blood to cells) or the insulin signaling process (Björntorp, 1997).





Stress also influences the immune system by increasing the number of circulating white blood cells (immune cells that protect our body). One possible mechanism of enhanced immune response and dysfunction or death of pancreatic beta cells (cells that produce insulin) is the production of cytokine and inflammatory mediators in the body, especially tumor necrosis factor (TNF) and interleukin-6 (IL-6) (Martínez et al., 2018). Beta cell dysfunction can also occur due to excess deposition of fat in the pancreas resulting from abdominal obesity (Skyler et al., 2017). When both beta cell dysfunction and insulin resistance are present, hyperglycemia is amplified leading to the progression of T2DM (Galicia-Garcia et al., 2020; Skyler et al., 2017).

CHAPTER III: METHODS

Methods

This study involves secondary data analysis of data from the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS), existing state policy data compiled by Young (DATE), and the American Community Survey data (ACS), with an overarching goal to assess if state-level immigration policy factors are associated with type 2 diabetes (T2DM) and physical activity. The specific aims and research questions of this dissertation are as follows:

Aim 1. To examine if state-level immigrant policy is associated with prevalence of diabetes (T2DM).

1.1 What is the association between state-level criminalizing policies and the prevalence of diabetes (T2DM) while controlling for individual- and state-level characteristics?
1.2 What is the association between state-level inclusive policies and the prevalence of diabetes (T2DM) while controlling for individual- and other state-level characteristics?
1.3 Does the association between state-level immigrant policies (criminalizing and inclusive) and diabetes (T2DM) prevalence vary between Latin American and Asian American origin adults?

My hypotheses for Aim 1 are that people residing in states with higher criminalizing policies will have higher prevalence of diabetes (T2DM) and people residing in states with lower inclusive policies will have a higher prevalence of diabetes (T2DM). For the cross-level interactions, I hypothesize that the association between criminalizing policy and T2DM results will vary between Latin American and Asian American adults. In addition, the association of inclusive policy and T2DM results will also vary between Latin American and Asian American adults.

Aim 2. To examine if state-level immigrant policy is associated with meeting recommended levels of physical activity (PA).

- 2.1 What is the association between state-level criminalizing policies and the prevalence of recommended physical activity (PA) while controlling for individual- and state-level characteristics?
- 2.2 What is the association between state-level inclusive policies and the prevalence of recommended physical activity (PA) while controlling for individual- and state-level characteristics?
- 2.3 Does the association between state-level immigrant policies (criminalizing and inclusive) and recommended physical activity (PA) prevalence vary between Latino American and Asian American origin adults?

My hypotheses for aims two are that people residing in states with higher criminalizing policies will have a lower prevalence of meeting recommended physical activity (PA), and people residing in states with lower state-level inclusive policies will have a lower prevalence of meeting recommended physical activity (PA). For the cross-level interactions, my hypothesis is that the association of criminalizing policy and PA results will vary between Latin American and Asian American adults. In addition, the association of inclusive policy and PA results will vary between Latin American and Asian American adults.

Study Design and Measures

Study Design

This dissertation research involves a cross-sectional study design utilizing a large-scale complex survey with state-level identifiers: the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS). BRFSS provides the state-specific prevalence of health outcomes and health behaviors of the noninstitutionalized U.S. adult population. BRFSS is a collaborative project between all the U.S. states, participating U.S. territories, and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Established in 1984, BRFSS now collects data in all 50 states, the District of Columbia, and three U.S. territories. BRFSS completes more than 400,000 adult interviews each year, making it the world's largest continuously conducted health survey system. For this study, the sample will be restricted to adults aged 18 years and older who were not pregnant, did not have gestational diabetes, and self-identified as Latino/Hispanic or Asian. Nationally, in the U.S., "Latino" is defined as a person of Cuban, Mexican, Puerto Rican, South or Central American, or other Spanish culture or origin (Office of Management and Budget, 1997). Nationally, in the U.S., "Asians" are defined as people with origin in East Asia, Southeast Asia, or the Indian subcontinent, including Cambodia, China, India, Bangladesh, Japan, Korea, Malaysia, Pakistan, the Philippine Islands, Thailand, or Vietnam (Office of Management and Budget, 1997). Based on the eligibility criteria mentioned above, the study created a final dataset pooling data from 2014-2018 BRFSS, yielding a total of 201824 respondents with diabetes data, and 2015 and 2017 BRFSS, yielding a total of 80516 respondents with physical activity data. All 50 U.S. states were included in the analysis, including the District of Columbia. Latinos and Asian Americans of all ethnic backgrounds (i.e., subgroups) were included, although Puerto Rico is not a U.S. state and thus not represented in state-level analyses.

Data Merging

I created a dataset with individual-level measures of race/ethnicity and health outcome (diabetes) and health behavior (physical activity) and state-level measures of immigrant policy. For the health outcome (diabetes), I combined BRFSS 2014 to 2018 of adults 18 years and older and merged it with the existing policy dataset that came from Young's systematic review and

2014 to 2018 American Community Survey (ACS) data. For the health behavior outcome (physical activity), I combined BRFSS 2015 and 2017 of adults \geq 18 years and merged it with the existing policy dataset and 2015 and 2017 ACS data.

Individual-Level Data

Data on individual-level demographic characteristics and diabetes were obtained from the pooled 2014 to 2018 waves of BRFSS. In addition, data on physical activity were obtained for 2015 and 2017 waves of BRFSS because the 2014, 2016, and 2018 survey years did not have total physical activity variables. Details of the BRFSS are described elsewhere (CDC/BRFSS, 2021).

State-Level Data

Immigrant Policy Data

For data on state immigrant policy, I used an existing policy dataset that categorized states and the District of Columbia based on the presence of criminalizing and integration policies developed by De Trinidad Young et al. (De Trinidad Young et al., 2018). For each policy, a state was coded as 1 - Yes, having the policy, or 0 - No, not having the policy. Information on each state's policy was identified through a systematic review of secondary data sources on state legislation, administrative regulations, or court rulings (Young et al., 2020). States were coded as having a policy if it was enacted any time before December 31, 2013, a date aligning with the end point of a period of extensive new state-level policy activity. *American Community Survey Data*

The U.S. Census Bureau has long been a reliable source of socioeconomic and demographic data for ethnic and immigrant populations in the United States (U.S. Census Bureau, 2012). The ACS, conducted by the U.S. Census Bureau, is an annual survey that is

intended to give communities timely and accurate demographic, social, economic, and housing data of various population groups, including ethnic and immigrant populations, at the national, state, county, and local levels (U.S. Census Bureau, 2009). All ACS data are self-reported and collected using mail-back questionnaires, phone calls, and in-person interviews (U.S. Census Bureau, 2009). Details of the ACS are explained elsewhere (U.S. Census Bureau, 2009). For this study, the variable percent of the state that is foreign-born was obtained from the ACS 2014 to 2018 annual data to be merged with the BRFSS and existing policy data.

Measures

Criminalizing Policy

As previously noted, data on state criminalizing policy was based on an existing dataset classifying states and the District of Columbia based on six criminalizing policies (**Table 3**) (De Trinidad Young & Wallace, 2019). For each policy, a state was coded as 1 - Yes, having the policy, or 0 - No, not having the policy. The state criminalizing policy score is composed of the number of criminalizing policies present in each state (possible range = 0–6, observed range = 1–6). A higher score indicated higher levels of criminalizing policies. From this continuous variable, tertiles of criminalizing policies were derived and classified as low, medium, and high criminalizing policies. Prior studies have used varying approaches to create cut-offs for this criminalizing policy score. Some researchers have used an extreme score while others used a median cut-off (Alberto et al., 2020; Young et al., 2022). In the present study, we examined the distribution of the score empirically and also made a decision on cut-offs given our knowledge of policy context for some states. So, we categorize 1 to 3 for low criminalizing policy, 4 for moderate criminalizing policy, and 5 to 6 for higher criminalizing policy.

Table 3. List of Criminalizing Policies

Sector	Policy	Indicator that policy exists (Yes = 1, No = 0)
Identification and licensing	State driver's license	Does the state require a social security number to obtain driver's license?
	Compliance with the federal ID act of 2005, which sets standards for state licenses and IDs	Does the state comply with real ID?
Work authorization	Use of employment authorization database, E- verify	Does the state mandate employers use E-verify?
Immigration enforcement and criminal justice	Law enforcement collaboration with federal enforcement Law enforcement inquiry about the legal status	Does the state fully collaborate with federal immigration authorities? Does the state require or allow law enforcement to verify individuals' legal status at the time of a stop or arrest?
	Sentencing laws	Does the state sentence nonviolent criminal offenses for at least 365 days?

Table 4. List of Inclusive Policies

Sector	Policy	Indicator that policy exists (Yes = 1, No = 0)
Health and social service benefits	State Children's Health Insurance Program (SCHIP)	Does the state provide health insurance to children regardless of legal status?
	Medicaid—prenatal care	Does the state provide care to pregnant women regardless of legal status?
	Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program	Does the state count a prorated share of ineligible noncitizen income to determine family eligibility for benefits?

Sector	Policy	Indicator that policy exists (Yes = 1, No = 0)
Education	In-state college and university tuition	Does the state provide most students in-state tuition regardless of legal status?
	Financial aid for colleges and universities	Does the state provide students with scholarships or financial aid regardless of legal status?
Labor and employment	Citizenship requirements for peace officers Citizenship requirements for teachers Worker's compensation	Does the state require peace officers be citizens? Does the state require teachers be citizens? Does the state include undocumented immigrants in the definition of employee?
	Extension of protections for agricultural workers	Does the state extend wage and hour protections for agricultural workers?
	Extension of protections for domestic workers	Does the state extend wage and hour protections for domestic workers?
	Domestic Worker's Bill of Rights	Does the state have a Domestic Worker's Bill of Rights?
	Protection against immigration-related employer retaliation	Does the state have laws that protect noncitizen workers from employer retaliation related to their legal status?
	Professional licensing of undocumented and DACAmented professionals	Does the state allow licensing of undocumented or DACAmented professionals?
Language access	Payment of interpreters through Medicaid or SCHIP	Does the state pay for interpreters through Medicaid or SCHIP?
	English language–only legislation	Does the state have English as the official language?

Inclusive Policy

For data on state-inclusive policy, the existing policy dataset was used that categorizes states and the District of Columbia based on 14 policies (**Table 4**) (De Trinidad Young & Wallace, 2019). For each policy, a state was coded as 1 (Yes) or 0 (No), not having the policy. The state inclusive policy score is the number of inclusive policies present in each state (possible range = 0-14, observed range = 1-14). A higher score indicated a higher level of inclusive policies. From this continuous variable, tertiles of inclusive policies were derived and classified as low, medium, and high inclusive policies. We examined the distribution of the score and also made a decision on cut-offs given our knowledge of policy context for some states. So, we categorize 1 to 4 for low inclusive policy, 5 and 6 for medium inclusive policy, and 7 or more for high inclusive policy.

Diabetes (Dependent Variable)

Diabetes status in BRFSS is ascertained by asking participants, "Have you ever been told by a doctor that you have diabetes?" Responses were coded as "yes," "yes, but female told only during pregnancy," or "no." For this study, people with gestational diabetes were excluded. Selfreports rely on the accurate recall of a person diagnosed with the chronic health condition under study. Although the unknown status of diabetes can reach as high as 30% of the U.S. adult population, some research suggests that respondents can accurately report whether they have ever been diagnosed with health conditions (Garmon Bibb et al., 2014). For example, comparing BRFSS with two other national benchmark surveys (NHANES and NHIS) data suggests that overall prevalence (or means) from BRFSS, NHANES, and NHIS are mostly similar (Hsia et al., 2020). Evidence also shows that the estimation of the prevalence of diabetes through self-

reported health surveys is a good instrument for evaluating social inequalities in health (Espelt et al., 2012).

Physical Activity (Dependent Variable)

The physical activity outcome of this study was measured in the BRFSS by asking participants a series of questions about their weekly physical activities and how much time they spent engaging in each activity. Physical activity in BRFSS is available as a calculated variable classifying participants as meeting the recommended amount of engaging in 150 minutes of physical activity per week. Specifically, it was based on the amount of time participants spent engaging in "active" (≥150 min of moderate-intensity activities per week or ≥75 min of vigorous-intensity activities per week, or an equivalent combination of both), "insufficiently active" (1–149 min of moderate-intensity activities per week or 1–74 min of vigorous-intensity activities per week), and "inactive (0 minutes of physical activity/week) physical activity per week. For this study, we dichotomized PA into "active" and "insufficiently active." The "active" physical activity group was classified as people who "met recommended PA." The "insufficiently active" and "inactive" groups were combined and classified as "did not meet recommended PA."

Race/Ethnicity

For the race/ethnicity, participants in BRFSS were asked to self-report their identity as "White only non-Hispanic, Black only non-Hispanic, American Indian or Alaskan Native only non-Hispanic, Asian only non-Hispanic, Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander only, Non-Hispanic, Other race only, non-Hispanic, multiracial non-Hispanic, Hispanic, and Don't know/Not sure/Refused." For the purpose of this study, all racial/ethnic groups except Latino American or Hispanic and Asian American only non-Hispanic were excluded.

Individual-Level Covariates

Sex at Birth

The sex at birth of BRFSS participants is self-reported and classified as male or female. Age

The age (in years) variable was available in BRFSS as a categorical variable and in my study was classified into three categories: 18–44, 45–64, and 65 or over.

Educational Attainment

Educational attainment was classified as having less than a high school diploma, high school diploma, some college, and college degree or more.

Employment Status

Employment status in BRFSS is classified as employed for wages, self-employed, out of work one year or more, out of work less than one year, homemaker, student, retired, or unable to work. For this study, employed for wages and self-employed was grouped into "employed" while out of work one year or more, out of work less than one year, those unable to work, students, retired people, and homemakers was grouped into "unemployed."

Healthcare coverage

Healthcare coverage was categorized as yes (have healthcare coverage) and no (do not have healthcare coverage).

Household Income

The annual household income variable in BRFSS was available as a categorical variable. In this study it was classified as earning less than \$25,000, \$25,000–\$49,999, \$50,000–\$74,999, and \$75,000 or more.

State-Level Covariates

Percent of State Foreign-Born

BRFSS data do not include individual-level nativity status, and obviously, not all Latinos and Asians are immigrants. Approximately 33% Latino and 73% Asians in the U.S. are foreignborn (Monte & Shin, 2022; Noe-Bustamante, 2019). However, evidence suggests that restrictive and criminalizing policies' harmful effects can extend beyond their stated target to affect authorized immigrants and both native-born and naturalized U.S. citizens (Almeida et al., 2016; Moya & Shedlin, 2008; Sabo & Lee, 2015). Restrictive or criminalizing policies harm immigrant and non-immigrant Latin Americans and Asian Americans, given that approximately nine million Americans live in mixed-status families and nearly 10% of babies born each year have one undocumented parent (Aranda & Vaquera, 2015; Taylor et al., 2011). In addition, for Latinos, race/ethnicity and immigration status are often conflated, and in the popular imagination, Latino immigrants are frequently perceived to be undocumented (Viruell-Fuentes et al., 2012). This means that anti-immigrant sentiments can facilitate racism and xenophobic attitudes toward all Latinos and Asians, irrespective of their immigration status or generation.

Nonetheless, the percent of the state population that is foreign-born was calculated from ACS data and included as a contextual covariate in the complete dataset. For the ease of interpretation, from the continuous version of the percent foreign-born, tertiles were derived to classify states as having a low, medium, or high percent of foreign-born individuals.

Analytic Plan

Power Analysis

The ability to correctly detect a difference of a given magnitude in the mean outcome for the two groups (affected group and non-affected group) is characterized by the power of the study. If a study is underpowered, a practically significant true difference might go undetected. For this study, the "power determination approach" was taken that begins with an assumption about the effect size a study produces. The aim was to compute the power the study needed to detect that effect with a given sample size. The study used the publicly available and free 'Optimal Design' software for multilevel modeling and longitudinal research developed by Raudenbush (Raudenbush, S.W. et al., 2011). However, as a secondary data analysis, it is important to note that many researchers do not consider power calculations appropriate because the dataset is already observed and recorded. There is nothing a secondary data analyst can do to get a larger dataset to avoid type-II errors if it is determined that the current dataset is inadequate (Dziak et al., 2020). Nonetheless, I discussed the possible role of sample size issues in my study design using outcome and exposure prevalence tests of significance.

Diabetes

The study investigates effects of criminalizing and inclusive policy on the prevalence of diabetes. The hypothesis is that racial or ethnic marginalized populations and immigrants residing in states with higher criminalizing policies will have higher prevalence of diabetes (T2DM), and people residing in states with lower inclusive policies will have a higher prevalence of diabetes (T2DM). The study implemented at the state level, so I had a nested data structure of racial or ethnic marginalized population and immigrants within states.

Past data show that in most states in the U.S., the prevalence of diabetes ranges between 10% and 20% (American Diabetes Association, 2022). Based on the assumption that due to criminalizing policy exposure people of racial or ethnic marginalized populations and immigrants had a diabetes prevalence of 35%, I calculated the number of racial or ethnic

marginalized populations and immigrants in each of the 50 states and District of Columbia if the study required a power of 0.80. The following parameters were used:

- Significance level (α): 0.05
- Number of clusters/states (J): 51
- Percentage of diabetes in the exposed group (φ_E): 35% (0.35)
- Percentage of diabetes in the unexposed/control group (φ_C): 20% (0.20)
- Plausible Interval for the prevalence of diabetes in the unexposed group (PI): 10% to 70% (0.10 to 0.70)

Figure 3. Power Curve for the Association Between Immigrant policy (Criminalizing and Inclusive policy) and Diabetes Prevalence in Racial or Ethnic Marginalized Population and Immigrants



Based on the parameters, the resulting power curve in **Figure 3** shows that to detect exposure effects in 50 states and District of Columbia if I had approximately 20 racial or ethnic marginalized population and immigrant participants from each state, a power of 0.80 will be achieved. Thus, the total sample size required for a power of 0.80 is (approximately) = number

of states $(51)^*$ participants from each state (20) = 1020. Generally, I meet all of these requirements.

Physical Activity

The study also investigates effects of criminalizing and inclusive policy on the prevalence of meeting recommended physical activity. The hypothesis is that people of racial or ethnic marginalized population and immigrants residing in states with higher criminalizing policies will have a lower prevalence of meeting recommended physical activity (PA), and people residing in states with lower state-level inclusive policies will have a lower prevalence of meeting recommended physical activity (PA). The study will be implemented at the state level, so I will have a nested data structure of racial or ethnic marginalized population and immigrants within states.

National data shows that most of the states in the US the prevalence of meeting recommended PA ranges from 40% to 55% (CDC, 2023). Based on the assumption that due to higher criminalizing and low inclusive policy exposure people of racial or ethnic marginalized population and immigrants had a PA prevalence of 35%, I calculated the number of racial or ethnic marginalized population and immigrants in each of the 50 states and district of Columbia if the study required a power of 0.80. The following parameters were used:

- Significance level (α): 0.05
- Number of clusters/states (J): 51
- Percentage of meeting recommended PA in the exposed group (φ_E): 35% (0.35)
- Percentage of meeting recommended PA in the unexposed group (φ_C): 50% (0.50)
- Plausible Interval for prevalence of meeting recommended PA in the unexposed group (PI): 25% to 75% (0.25 to 0.75)

Figure 4. Power Curve for the Association Between Immigrant Policy (Criminalizing and Inclusive Policy) and Recommended PA Prevalence in Racial or Ethnic Marginalized Population and Immigrants



Based on the parameters, the resulting power curve in **Figure 4** shows that to detect exposure effect in 50 states and the District of Columbia, if I have approximately 17 racial or ethnic marginalized populations and immigrant participants from each state, a power of 0.80 will be achieved. Thus, the total sample size required for a power of 0.80 is (approximately) = the number of states $(51)^*$ participants from each state (17) = 867. Generally, I meet all of these requirements.

Statistical Analysis

Outcome: Diabetes or Physical Activity

Criminalizing Policy. The combined and merged dataset with individual-level measures of race/ethnicity and diabetes/physical activity status (BRFSS), state-level measures of immigrant policy (the Young policy dataset), and percent of foreign-born (ACS dataset) was used for the criminalizing policy and diabetes/physical activity outcome. The statistical analysis for both diabetes and physical activity was the same since they both dichotomized. Hence, the analytic description applied for both diabetes and physical activity.

The first research question of the Aim 1 and two was to understand the relationships between state-level criminalizing policies and the prevalence of T2DM or physical activity and if that relationship varies between Latin Americans and Asian Americans. PROC GLIMMIX (for weighted survey data) was used to fit a weighted multilevel model to this data (Ene et al., 2014). Sampling probabilities and individual-level weights was incorporated into the model to draw valid inferences in the population of interest. The point of note here is that BRFSS and other publicly available data do not include weights for each level of analysis. Rather, they include a single overall level-1 weighting variable that incorporates level-2 design issues. The weights in BRFSS start from design weights—also known as sampling weights (reciprocal of the probabilities of selection) to reflect disproportional stratified sampling for fielding efficiency. Additionally, the current BRFSS state-level weighting methodology includes a raking process, an iterative form of post-stratification that ensures that weights sum to known population totals for key demographics in each state. With the additional layer for the raking that adds the state as a margin ensures that using the national weights at the state level will reproduce the usual state estimate, for every state and every estimate (Iachan et al., 2016). Hence, level-2 weight (statelevel weight) in our analysis left unweighted. Moreover, in order to subsample or stratify the data by Latin American and Asian American group, we created revised weight variable for our group of interest because we cannot just remove other individuals from the BRFSS data as it is complex survey in nature (removing others would provide inaccurate standard errors and parameter estimates). We did this by maintaining weights where race was Latin Americans and Asian Americans and pregnancy status was non-pregnant, and set others to virtually zero (Lewis, 2013). Missing data on the outcome T2DM was assumed to be missing at random.

Multicollinearity was assessed through correlation matrix to ensure that none of the independent variables are strongly associated with each other.

Analytic sample descriptive statistics were generated for the variables of interest and tested for differences by race/ethnicity using chi-square (χ^2) tests. Then, data on variables were expressed as percentages (based on weighted frequency) and frequency for categorical variables. The model-building process was begun with the empty, unconditional model (random intercept model) with the outcome (T2DM or PA) but no predictors. This model provided information about how much variation in the prevalence of the outcome (T2DM or PA) exists between states (through the calculation of intraclass correlation coefficient or ICC). The equations necessary for estimating the unconditional model are presented below.

Hierarchical

Level 1: T2DM/PA _{ij} = β_{0j}	(eq. 1)
Level 2: $\beta_{0j} = \gamma_{00} + \mu_{0j}$	(eq. 2)
Combined	

$12DW/17M = p_0 + y_0 + \mu_0$	$T2DM/PA_{ij} =$	$eta_{0\mathrm{j}}+\gamma_{00}+\mu_{0\mathrm{j}}$.		(eq. 1	3)
--------------------------------	------------------	---	--	--------	----

Equation 1 represents a level-1 model with no individual-level predictor, where T2DM/PA_{ij} represents the log odds of the outcome (having T2DM or meeting recommended PA) for participant *i* in state *j*, β_{0j} is the intercept or the mean log odds of the outcome (having T2DM or meeting recommended PA) at state *j*. It is important to notice that, unlike hierarchical linear models, this model has no error variance at level 1. This is not separately estimated when dealing with multilevel models with binary outcomes because, in this case, the variance is a function of the population mean and is directly determined by this mean (Ene et al., 2014; Luke, 2004). Equation 2 represents a level 2 model with no state-level covariates. Here, where γ_{00} provides the log odds of the outcome (having T2DM or meeting recommended PA) at a state and μ_{0j} is the level 2 error term representing a unique effect associated with state *j*. The final unconditional model is the combined level 1 and level 2 model (equation 3) is created by substituting the values of β_{0j} as shown in equation 2 into the level 1 equation represented in equation 1.

Using the estimates presented in the equations 1, 2 and 3, I computed the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) that indicates how much of the total variation in the prevalence of diabetes is accounted for by the states. In multilevel model with dichotomous outcome, there is assumed to be no error at level 1, therefore, a slight modification is needed to calculate the ICC. This modification assumes the dichotomous outcome comes from an unknown latent continuous variable with a level-1 residual that follows a logistic distribution with a mean of 0 and a variance of 3.29 (O'Connell & McCoach, 2008; Snijders & Bosker, 2011). Therefore, 3.29 is used as the level 1 error variance in calculating the ICC. The formula for calculating ICC is following:

ICC = $\tau_{00}/(\tau_{00} + 3.29)$

Here, τ_{00} is the level-2 error variance.

Next, to examine the effect of criminalizing policies on the prevalence of T2DM/PA, the model-building process was continued by including state-level criminalizing policies as the main predictor in an unadjusted or crude model (Model 1) followed by models that adjusted for individual level covariates (age, sex at birth, race/ethnicity, education, employment, health insurance and income) in Model 2 and state level covariate (percent of state foreign-born) in Model 3. The slopes associated with the variables showed the relationship between state- and individual-level variables and the log odds of the outcome (having T2DM or meeting recommended PA). Here, to account for the clustering of data by state, U.S. states was included

as a random intercept; that included all 50 states and District of Columbia. As the effect of the predictors was modeled as fixed or constant across states, this represented a random intercept-only model.

Finally, to examine the extent to which the effect of criminalizing policies on the prevalence of the outcome (T2DM or meeting recommended PA) varies between Latin Americans and Asian Americans, the model-building process was continued by constituting a two-way interaction term (cross-level interaction) between criminalizing policy and race/ethnicity (Latin American and Asian American). The Chi-square test was used to estimate the significance of the interaction. The interaction determined whether the relationship between criminalizing policy and the prevalence of T2DM/PA varies by race/ethnicity (Latino American and Asian American) across states. Followed by the interaction, we tested for effect measure modification by race/ethnicity (Latin American and Asian American origin adults) on the association between criminalizing policy and T2DM/PA. Here also, as the effect of the predictors is modeled as fixed or constant across states, this represents a random intercept-only model. This effect measure modification approach provided answer to the third research question for criminalizing policy of both Aim 1 and Aim 2.

I also performed sensitivity analyses where I replaced the state-level covariate 'percent of foreign-born' in a state with the percent foreign-born of Latino and Asian in stratified analyses. While fitting these models, I lost nine states from the sample because data were not available.

SAS version 9.4 (Cary, NC) was used to analyze the data, and a p-value < 0.05 was used to determine the significance of all analyses.

Inclusive Policy. The combined and merged dataset with individual-level measures of race/ethnicity and outcome (diabetes and physical activity status) (BRFSS), state-level measures

immigrant policy (existing policy dataset), and percent of foreign-born (ACS dataset) was used for the inclusive policy and outcome (diabetes and meeting recommended physical activity).

The second research question of Aim 1 and Aim 2 of this study was to understand the relationships between state-level inclusive policies and prevalence of the outcome (T2DM or meeting recommended PA), and if that relationship varies between Latin Americans and Asian Americans. PROC GLIMMIX (for weighted survey data) was used to fit a weighted multilevel model to this data (Ene et al., 2014). Sampling probabilities and individual-level weights was incorporated into the model to draw valid inferences in the population of interest. Level-2 weight left unweighted as BRFSS include a single overall level-1 weighting variable that incorporates level-2 design issues. Moreover, in order to subsample or stratify the data by Latin American and Asian American group, we created revised weight variable for our group of interest (Latino and Asian adults who are non-pregnant). Missing data on the outcome T2DM were missing at random. Multicollinearity was assessed to ensure that none of the independent variables are strongly associated with each other.

First, analytic sample descriptive statistics was generated for the variables of interest and tested for difference by race/ethnicity status using chi-square (χ^2) tests (described in the method for criminalizing policy and outcome association).

Next, model building process was begun with the empty, unconditional model (random intercept model) with the outcome (T2DM or meeting recommended PA) but no predictors (described in the method for criminalizing policy and outcome association).

After that, to examine the effect of inclusive policies on the prevalence of T2DM/PA, the model-building process was continued by including state-level inclusive policies as the main predictor in an unadjusted or crude model (Model 1) followed by models that adjusted for

individual level covariates (age, sex at birth, race/ethnicity, education, employment, health insurance and income) in Model 2 and state level covariate (percent of state foreign-born) in Model 3. The slopes associated with the variables showed the relationship between state- and individual-level variables and the log odds of the outcome (having T2DM or meeting recommended PA). Here, to account for the clustering of data by state, U.S. states was included as a random intercept; that included all 50 states and District of Columbia. As the effect of the predictors was modeled as fixed or constant across states, this represented a random interceptonly model.

To examine the extent to which the effect of inclusive policies on the prevalence of the outcome (T2DM or meeting recommended PA) varies between Latino Americans and Asian Americans, the model-building process was continued by constituting a two-way interaction term (cross-level interaction) between inclusive policy and race/ethnicity (Latin American and Asian American). The Chi-square test was used to estimate the significance of the interaction. The interaction determined whether the relationship between inclusive policy and the prevalence of T2DM/PA varies by race/ethnicity (Latin American and Asian American) across states. Followed by the interaction, we tested for effect measure modification by race/ethnicity (Latin American and Asian American) on the association between inclusive policy and T2DM/PA. Here also, as the effect of the predictors is modeled as fixed or constant across states, this represents a random intercept-only model. This effect measure modification approach provided answers to the third research question on the role of inclusive policy of both Aim 1 and Aim 2.

Moreover, here I also performed sensitivity analyses where I replaced state-level covariate percent of foreign-born with foreign-born percent for Latino and Asian Americans,

losing 9 states. SAS version 9.4 (Cary, NC) was used to analyze the data, and a p-value < 0.05 was used to determine the significance of all analyses.

Finally, an important aspect of multilevel modelling is the selection of predictor variables in the model. Changes in goodness-of-fit statistics are often used to evaluate the contribution of predictor variables to a particular model. Deviance or Pearson goodness-of-fit is often used as a measure of goodness of fit. My strategy for variable selection was to fit a sequence of models, beginning with a simple model with only intercept term and then to include predictor variables in the successive models. Goodness of fit statistics were assessed to ensure that predicting prevalence of T2DM/PA with the fully adjusted model was a better fit to the data than predicting prevalence of T2DM/PA with the unconditional model.

Limitations

As this is a cross sectional study, the study is affected by antecedent-consequent or temporal bias, (i.e., "which came first?"). This bias occurs when we cannot determine that exposure preceded outcome, since both are ascertained at the same time (Setia, 2016). Consequently, the temporal relationship between the exposure and the outcome is unclear. While temporal bias is a valid concern in cross-sectional studies, it is also the case that in my study none of my outcomes (i.e., diabetes or physical activity) are unlikely to influence state-level policies, thereby reducing temporality as a large source of bias.

In addition, the prevalence of disease is influenced both by incidence and duration of disease (or survival with disease). Persons who survive longer with a disease will have a higher probability of being counted in the numerator of a prevalence proportion. Short-term survivors will be less likely to be counted as a case. We know that incidence is influenced only by exposure, whereas prevalence is influenced both by exposure and duration of disease. If

exposure influences survival time, then the odds ratio may not provide a valid estimate of the risk ratio or rate ratio. Thus, the interpretation of the odds ratio is subject to survival bias (Setia, 2016; Szklo & Nieto, 2019).

Even though this study will explore state-level differences, this analysis will be unable to consider migration patterns between states and length of state residency in a state; migration patterns among immigrants are not random and could influence the policy exposure of interest and other social determinants of health and subsequently T2DM/PA prevalence. My data are cross-sectional in nature and I do not have mobility variable in my data.

CHAPTER IV: THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN STATE-LEVEL IMMIGRANT POLICIES AND PREVALENCE OF DIABETES (T2DM) IN PEOPLE OF LATIN AMERICAN AND ASIAN AMERICAN ORIGIN: A WEIGHTED MULTILEVEL ANALYSIS

Introduction

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) and associated comorbid conditions, such as type 2 diabetes (T2DM) are the leading cause of death in the United States (U.S.) (Ahmad & Anderson, 2021; Case & Deaton, 2015; Global Burden of Cardiovascular Diseases Collaboration, 2018; Tsao et al., 2022). T2DM has become an epidemic in the United States. In 2019, an estimated 37.3 million (11.3%) people in the U.S. were living with diabetes (American Diabetes Association [ADA], 2022; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], 2022). Of these prevalent cases, 28.7 million were diagnosed, and an estimated 8.5 million were undiagnosed (ADA, 2022). The incidence of diabetes is also climbing, with 1.4 million new cases of diabetes (5.9 per 1000 persons) diagnosed in 2019 (ADA, 2022; CDC, 2022). There are enormous health complications and mortality associated with diabetes (Papatheodorou et al., 2018). Diabetes is the seventh leading cause of death in the U.S. (ADA, 2022; Murphy, 2021). It is also the most expensive chronic condition in the US and costs approximately \$327 billion in healthcare expenditures annually (Yang, 2018).

There is a disproportionate burden of diabetes in racial/ethnic marginalized groups such as Asian Americans and people of Latin American origin (herein Latino) (Cheng et al., 2019; Golden et al., 2019). For example, national data (National Diabetes Statistics Report) shows that from 2018 to 2019, the prevalence of diagnosed diabetes was higher in Latin American (11.8%) and Asian American adults (9.5%) than non-Latino White adults (7.4%) (CDC, 2022).

Over the years, a growing literature has shown that contextual factors can have a significant impact on social inequalities in health, chronic disease prevalence and outcomes (Diez-Roux, 1998; Havranek et al., 2015). Contextual-level characteristics are distinct from individual-level characteristics that may affect individual-level outcomes independently of individual characteristics or modify how individual characteristics are related to outcomes (Subramanian et al., 2003). For example, place-based measures of socioeconomic factors (e.g., poverty) are linked with health outcomes after adjusting for individual-level factors (Diez-Roux, 1998).

When explaining immigrant and racial marginalized group health, there has been an emphasis on behavioral and cultural factors where the importance of structural or contextual factors is more limited (Castañeda et al., 2015). Cultural factors like acculturation (J. Choi et al., 2009; Liu et al., 2009) and behaviors like smoking, diet (Castañeda et al., 2015; Hunt et al., 2004; Poureslami et al., 2007; Viruell-Fuentes, 2007) has been emphasized previously leaving behind broader contextual factor like the immigrant policy that limits or enhance immigrants' rights, resources, and sense of security in everyday life (Perreira & Pedroza, 2019; Wallace et al., 2019).

Immigrant policies can be defined as laws, regulations, and court rulings developed at the federal, state, and local levels within a variety of areas of public policy that generate different rights and opportunities based on an immigrant's legal status (De Trinidad Young et al., 2018; Wallace et al., 2019; Wallace & Young, 2018). From 1965, the start of the Immigration and Nationality Act (INA), to 2016, approximately 43.2 million immigrants moved to the United States (U.S.), mainly from Latin America and Asia (M. Lopez, 2015). This influx of immigrants has resulted in policies to maintain legal immigration and provide services that impact the well-
being of immigrants. Most states possess a mixture of immigrant policies. Some of these policies are *inclusive* and potentially protect immigrants by expanding their eligibility and rights (Perreira & Pedroza, 2019). Inclusive policies are found to be associated with better outcomes (e.g., reduced preterm birth in immigrant mothers) (Sudhinaraset et al., 2021). Others are exclusionary and restrictive policies that curtail immigrants' access to public services, education, employment, and healthcare by producing a fearful, unwelcoming, hostile, and stressful climate to live in (Nichols et al., 2018). For example, states such as Georgia and Alabama are actively exclusionary and take restrictive approaches to immigrants' eligibility for public social welfare programs such as Medicaid and food stamps (Wallace & Young, 2018). Although restrictive policies primarily harm undocumented immigrants, they also have spillover effects on other noncitizens (those with temporary and permanent legal status and those with mixed family status; Asad & Clair, 2018; Nichols et al., 2018; Young et al., 2020). For example, given that over 10% of infants born each year have one undocumented parent and that 9 million Americans live in mixed status, arguably, it can be said that restrictive policies affect Latino and Asian immigrants and non-immigrants (Aranda & Vaquera, 2015; Taylor et al., 2011). In addition, for Latinos, race or ethnicity and immigration status are often conflated, and in the popular imagination, Latino immigrants are frequently perceived to be undocumented (Viruell-Fuentes et al., 2012). This means that, regardless of immigration status, anti-immigrant sentiments encourage racism and xenophobic attitudes toward all Latinos and Asians (Wallace et al., 2019). Some restrictive policies are also criminalizing as they link local criminal justice systems with immigration enforcement (Wallace et al., 2019; Young et al., 2019). Sentencing laws are another aspect of criminalizing policies that may cause deportation under federal immigration law (Stumpf, 2006). Furthermore, criminalizing policies dictate who is eligible for identification documents or

driver's licenses and the requirement for law enforcement to confirm the legal status and job authorization (E-Verify; LeBrón et al., 2018). Immigrants and other racial and ethnic marginalized groups face bureaucratic hurdles due to these policies. Due to the extensive inflow of immigrants after 1965 and accompanying debates over immigrant legal status, both inclusive or exclusionary and criminalizing immigrant policies are an important topic of public health research as they influences the health and well-being of immigrants, Latinos, and Asians (De Trinidad Young & Wallace, 2019).

Although criminalizing and inclusive policies may coincide, they capture distinct contexts (De Trinidad Young & Wallace, 2019). For example, while criminalizing policy creates a distinct mechanism of deportability through the regulation of legality, inclusive policy function to integrate immigrants and racial/ethnic marginalized through expanded rights and eligibility for healthcare, social services, and other resources. Majority of the previous studies used global index of immigrant policy context that provided an overall climate of policy effect on immigrant well-being (Almeida et al., 2016; De Trinidad Young et al., 2018; Hatzenbuehler et al., 2017; Vargas et al., 2017; Young et al., 2019). However, the independent effect of criminalizing and integration policy may elucidate particular process through which they operate. Recent studies also tested the sperate effect of criminalizing and inclusive policy as there was non-significant interaction between the two policy contexts (Alberto et al., 2020; Sudhinaraset et al., 2021). Overall, while criminalizing and inclusive immigrant policies may intersect in certain ways, they represent distinct approaches to immigrant policy and have different implications for immigrant and people of marginalized communities.

Moreover, research on health and health-promoting behavior focused on majorityminority health differences (e.g., natives versus immigrants, Whites versus Blacks, or non-Latino

versus Latino) (Carlisle, 2012; Divney et al., 2019; Hernandez & Kimbro, 2013; Huh et al., 2008; Leclere et al., 1994; Murillo et al., 2016; Wallace et al., 2008; Ye et al., 2012). Thinking that both Latino American and Asian origin are similar in socioeconomic profiles, some researchers have combined them into one socially disadvantaged group and compared them with a White or non-immigrant population (Hasanali et al., 2016). However, these two racial/ethnic marginalized and immigrant groups exhibit differences in several ways (Alegria et al., 2004; Kiang et al., 2017), most notably in education and income (Gonzalez-Barrera, 2015; Hasanali et al., 2016). ACS 2010 figures indicated that only 53% of Latino immigrants (only 40% of Mexican immigrants) had completed a high school degree or higher compared to nearly 84 % of Asian immigrants (Grieco et al., 2012). Similarly, immigrants from Latin America had a median family income of \$38,238 (\$35,254 for Mexican immigrants), approximately \$25,000 less than Asian immigrants, whose median family income was \$63,777 (Grieco et al., 2012). Higher educational attainment is associated with better income and linked to a greater likelihood of having health insurance coverage. Consequently, it increases access to preventive healthcare, screening, and chronic disease management (Bartley & Plewis, 2002; P. Braveman et al., 2011; Chasens et al., 2020).

The National Latino and Asian American Study provides national information on mental illness and service use of Latinos and Asian Americans (Alegria et al., 2004). However, there is no research available at the national level that documents similarities or differences between Latino and Asian Americans when associating immigrant policy with T2DM. Therefore, it is important to recognize the differences between these two groups and avoid generalizing their experiences. Combining them into a single group may erase their unique experiences and perpetuate the marginalization they face. Given that exclusionary policies on educational

opportunity negatively affect education, employment, and income, there may be a distinct difference in T2DM prevalence between Latino and Asian Americans with unequal educational attainment and economic capital levels. While this remains under-researched, it calls for greater clarity to reveal the differences in T2DM between these two immigrant groups (Latino and Asian Americans).

Finally, previous studies on risk factors associated with the prevalence of T2DM have largely been individual-level analyses focused on diet, weight gain, sedentary lifestyles, and aging (Chasens et al., 2020; Chatterjee et al., 2017; Galicia-Garcia et al., 2020; F. B. Hu et al., 2009; R. Hu et al., 2014; Joo & Lee, 2016; NCD Risk Factor Collaboration, 2016; Schellenberg et al., 2013; Stoddard et al., 2010; Wieland et al., 2012). However, we know that contextual factors, such as the immigrant policy context, may independently or in combination with individual-level characteristics pattern diabetes risk. Specifically, multilevel models that simultaneously account for context and individual-level variation (Diez-Roux, 1998; Leyland & Groenewegen, 2020a) could provide important answers on the role of policies as levers for reducing T2DM prevalence.

The current study investigated the association between immigrant policy context and the prevalence of diabetes mellitus among people of Latin American and Asian American origin. It also examined the extent to which these associations vary between Latin Americans and Asians using multilevel modeling. The study tested three specific research questions:

1. What is the association between state-level criminalizing policies and the prevalence of diabetes (T2DM) while controlling for individual- and state-level characteristics?

- 2. What is the association between state-level inclusive policies and the prevalence of diabetes (T2DM) while controlling for individual- and other state-level characteristics?
- 3. Does the association between state-level policies (criminalizing and inclusive) and diabetes (T2DM) prevalence vary between Latin American and Asian American adults?

Method

This study involves a cross-sectional study design utilizing a combined datasets of individual-level measures of race/ethnicity and T2DM and state-level measures of criminalizing and inclusive immigrant policies. The study conducted a multilevel analysis examining the association between state-level immigrant policy (criminalizing and inclusive) and T2DM and whether the associations varied between adults of Latino-American and Asian-American origin, the two largest immigrant groups in the U.S.

Data Source

Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System

Data on individual-level demographic characteristics and T2DM was obtained from the pooled 2014 to 2018 Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) data, a large-scale complex survey with state-level identifiers. BRFSS is a telephone-based survey (landline and cellular) that provides data on health outcomes and behaviors for the noninstitutionalized U.S. adult population. The sampling design allows for state-specific estimates to be generated. A full description of the BRFSS survey design, sampling methods, data collection, and statistical weighting can be found elsewhere (CDC/BRFSS, 2021). For purposes of this study, the sample was restricted to adults aged 18 years and older who were not pregnant, did not have gestational

diabetes, and self-identified as Latino or Asian American. Nationally, in the U.S., "Latino" is defined as a person of Cuban, Mexican, Puerto Rican, South or Central American, or other Spanish culture or origin (Office of Management and Budget, 1997). Nationally, in the U.S., "Asians" are defined as people with origin in East Asia, Southeast Asia, or the Indian subcontinent, including Cambodia, China, India, Japan, Korea, Malaysia, Pakistan, the Philippine Islands, Thailand, or Vietnam (Office of Management and Budget, 1997). Based on the eligibility criteria mentioned above, the study included a total of 201824 individuals with demographic and diabetes data. BRFSS is a publicly available dataset, so these analyses did not require Institutional Review Board approval.

State-Level Data Sources

Immigrant Policy Data

For data on state immigrant policy, we used an existing policy dataset that categorized states and the District of Columbia based on the presence of criminalizing and integration policies (De Trinidad Young et al., 2018). Information on each state's policy was identified through a systematic review of secondary data sources on state legislation, administrative regulations, or court rulings (Young et al., 2020). States were coded as having a policy if enacted before December 31, 2013, a date aligning with the end point of a period of extensive new state-level policy activity. For this study, we merged state immigrant policy data with the pooled 2014-2018 BRFSS data.

American Community Survey Data

The U.S. Census Bureau has long been a reliable source of socioeconomic and demographic data for ethnic and immigrant populations in the United States (U.S. Census Bureau, 2012). The ACS, conducted by the U.S. Census Bureau, is an annual survey that is

intended to give communities timely and accurate demographic, social, economic, and housing data of various population groups, including ethnic and immigrant populations, at the national, state, county, and local levels (U.S. Census Bureau, 2009). Details of the ACS are explained elsewhere (U.S. Census Bureau, 2009). In order to capture state-level demographic characteristics, the variable "percent of the state that is foreign-born" was obtained from the ACS 2014 to 2018 annual data and merged with BRFSS and immigrant policy data.

Measures

State Criminalizing Policy

Data on state criminalizing policy was based on six criminalizing policies (see **Table 5**; De Trinidad Young & Wallace, 2019). For each policy, a state was coded as 1 - Yes, having the policy, or 0 - No, not having the policy. The policy score was a continuous variable with a possible range of 0–6 and an observed range of 1–6. Higher score indicated higher levels of criminalizing policies. From this continuous variable, tertiles of criminalizing policies were derived and classified as low, medium, and high criminalizing policies. Prior studies have used varying approaches to create cut-offs for this criminalizing policy score. Some researchers have used an extreme score while others used a median cut-off (Alberto et al., 2020; Young et al., 2022). In the present study, we examined the distribution of the score empirically and also made a decision on cut-offs given our knowledge of policy context for some states. The study opted to use the cut-off 1 to 3 for low criminalizing policy, 4 for moderate criminalizing policy, and 5 to 6 for higher criminalizing policy.

Table 5. List of Criminalizing Policies

Sector	Policy	Indicator That Policy Exists (Yes = 1; No = 0)
Identification and licensing	tification and licensing State driver's licenses	
	Compliance with the federal Real ID Act of 2005, which sets standards for state licenses and IDs	Does the state comply with Real ID?
Work authorization	Use of employment authorization database, E-Verify	Does the state mandate employers use E-Verify?
Immigration enforcement and criminal justice	Law enforcement collaboration with federal enforcement	Does the state fully collaborate with federal immigration authorities?
	Law enforcement inquiry about legal status	Does the state require or allow that law enforcement verify individuals' legal status at the time of a stop or arrest?
	Sentencing laws	Does the state sentence nonviolent criminal offenses at least 365 d?

State Inclusive Policy

Data on state-inclusive policy was based on 14 policies (see **Table 6**; De Trinidad Young & Wallace, 2019). For each policy, a state was coded as 1 - Yes, having the policy, or 0 - No, not having the policy. The policy score was a continuous variable with a possible range of 0–14 and an observed range of 1–14. A higher score indicates a higher level of inclusive policies. The study examined the distribution of the inclusive policy score empirically and also made a decision on cut-offs given knowledge of the policy context for some states. Therefore, from the continuous inclusive policy score, tertiles were derived and classified as low inclusive policy (1 to 4), medium inclusive policy (5 and 6), or high inclusive policy (7 or higher).

Table 6. List of Inclusive Policies

Sector	Policy	Indicator That Policy Exists (Yes = 1; No = 0)
Health and social services benefits	State Children's Health Insurance Program (SCHIP)	Does the state provide health insurance to children regardless of legal status?
	Medicaid-prenatal care	Does the state provide care to pregnant women regardless of legal status?
	Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program	Does the state count a prorated share of ineligible noncitizen income to determine family eligibility for benefits?
Education	In-state college and university tuition	Does the state provide most students in-state tuition regardless of legal status?
	Financial aid for colleges and universities	Does the state provide students scholarships or financial aid regardless of legal status?
Labor and Employment	Citizenship requirements for peace officers	Does the state require peace officers be citizens?
	Citizenship requirements for teachers	Does the state require teachers be citizens?
	Worker's compensation	Does the state include undocumented immigrants in the definition of employee?
	Extension of protections for agricultural workers	Does the state extend wage and hour protections for agricultural workers?
	Extension of protections for domestic workers	Does the state extend wage and hour protections for domestic workers?
	Domestic Worker's Bill of Rights	Does the state have a Domestic Worker's Bill of Rights?
	Protection against immigration- related employer retaliation	Does the state have laws that protect noncitizen workers from employer retaliation related to their legal status?
	Professional licensing of undocumented and DACAmented professionals	Does the state allow licensing of undocumented or DACAmented professionals?
Language Access	Payment of interpreters through Medicaid or SCHIP	Does the state pay for interpreters through Medicaid or SCHIP?
	English language-only legislation	Does the state have English as the official language?

Diabetes (Dependent Variable)

Diabetes status in BRFSS is ascertained by asking participants, "Have you ever been told by a doctor that you have diabetes?" Responses were coded as "yes," "yes, but female told only during pregnancy," or "no." For this study, people with gestational diabetes were excluded. Selfreports rely on a person having been diagnosed with the chronic health condition under study. Although the unknown status of diabetes can reach as high as 30% of the U.S. adult population, research suggests that respondents can accurately report whether they have ever been diagnosed with health conditions (Garmon Bibb et al., 2014). For example, comparing BRFSS with two other national benchmark survey (NHANES and NHIS) data suggests that overall prevalence (or means) from BRFSS, NHANES, and NHIS are mostly similar (Hsia et al., 2020). Evidence also shows that the estimation of the prevalence of diabetes through self-reported health surveys is a good instrument for evaluating social inequalities in health (Espelt et al., 2012).

Race/Ethnicity

For the race/ethnicity, participants were asked to self-report their identity as "White only non-Hispanic, Black only non-Hispanic, American Indian or Alaskan Native only non-Hispanic, Asian only non-Hispanic, Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander only, Non-Hispanic, Other race only, non-Hispanic, multiracial non-Hispanic, Hispanic, and Don't know/Not sure/ Refused." For this study, all racial/ethnic groups except Latino or Hispanic and Asian only non-Hispanic was excluded.

We included the following individual level covariates associated with the outcome. *Sex at Birth*

The sex at birth of BRFSS participants is self-reported and was classified as male or female.

Age in years was provided as a categorical variable in BRFFS and was classified as 18– 44 years, 45–64 years, and 65 years or over in this study.

Educational Attainment

Educational attainment was classified as having less than a high school diploma, high school diploma, some college, and college degree or more.

Employment Status

Employment status in BRFSS is classified as employed for wages, self-employed, out of work one year or more, out of work less than one year, homemaker, student, retired, or unable to work. For this study, employed for wages and self-employed were grouped into "employed" while out of work one year or more, out of work less than one year, those unable to work, students, retired people, and homemakers were grouped into "unemployed."

Healthcare coverage

Healthcare coverage was categorized as yes (have healthcare coverage) and no (do not have healthcare coverage).

Household Income

The annual household income was categorical in BRFSS and in this study was classified as earning less than \$25,000, \$25,000–\$49,999, \$50,000–\$74,999, and \$75,000 or more.

State-Level Covariates

Percent of State Foreign-Born

BRFSS data do not include individual-level nativity status, and it is obvious that all Latinos and Asians are not immigrants. However, evidence suggests that exclusionary and criminalizing policies' harmful effect can extend beyond their stated target to affect U.S.

69

Age

citizens, authorized and mixed-family status immigrants (Almeida et al., 2016; Aranda & Vaquera, 2015; Moya & Shedlin, 2008; Sabo & Lee, 2015; Taylor et al., 2011; Viruell-Fuentes et al., 2012). Hence, exclusionary, and criminalizing policies can negatively affect all Latinos and Asians, irrespective of their immigration status. Nonetheless, the percent of the foreign-born state population was calculated from ACS data and included as a contextual covariate in the complete dataset, to adjust for immigration status. From the continuous version of the percent foreign-born, tertiles were derived to classify states as having a low, medium, or high percentage of foreign-born individuals.

Statistical Analysis

The combined and merged dataset with individual-level measures of race/ethnicity and T2DM (BRFSS), state-level measures of immigrant policy (immigrant policy dataset), and percent of foreign-born (ACS dataset) was used to examine associations between criminalizing and inclusive policy and T2DM. The statistical analysis for immigrant policy and T2DM association for both criminalizing and inclusive policy was the same. Hence, the analytic description applies for both criminalizing and inclusive policy associations with T2DM.

The first research question was to understand the relationships between state-level criminalizing policies and the prevalence of T2DM among adults f Latin American and Asian American origin. PROC GLIMMIX was used to fit a weighted multilevel model to this data (Ene et al., 2015). Sampling probabilities and individual-level weights were incorporated into the model to draw valid inferences in the population of interest. The point of note here is that BRFSS and other publicly available data do not include weights for each level of analysis. Rather, they include a single overall individual (level-1) weighting variable that incorporates state (level-2) design issues. Therefore, level-2 weight in our analysis was not necessary.

Additionally, in order to subsample or stratify the data by Latino American and Asian American groups, we created a revised weight variable for our group of interest because we cannot just remove other individuals from the BRFSS data as it is a complex survey (removing others would provide inaccurate standard errors and parameter estimates). Following simulation studies developed by Lewis et al., we did this by maintaining weights where race was Latino and Asian Americans, and pregnancy status was non-pregnant, and set others to virtually zero (Lewis, 2013). Missing data on the outcome of T2DM is assumed to be missing at random. Multicollinearity assessment ensured that none of the independent variables were strongly associated with each other.

Sample descriptive statistics were generated for the variables of interest and tested for differences by race/ethnicity using chi-square (χ^2) tests. Categorical data were expressed as percentages (based on weighted frequency). We also reported criminalizing policy and inclusive policy percentage by race/ethnicity using chi-square (χ^2) test based on unweighted frequency and estimates were lower than weighted frequency.

We also calculated and plotted predicted probabilities of T2DM by criminalizing and inclusive policy tertiles using SAS-callable SUDAAN. We tested differences in the predicted probability of T2DM by criminalizing policy tertile in states with high criminalizing compared to low criminalizing policies for the full population and for Latinos and Asians, separately. We also tested differences in the predicted probability of T2DM by inclusive policy tertile in states with low inclusive compared to high inclusive policies for the full population and for Latinos and for Latinos and Asians, separately.

The model-building process began with the empty, unconditional (random intercept) model with the outcome (T2DM) but no predictors. This model provided information about how

much of the total variation in the prevalence of diabetes is accounted for by the states (through the calculation of the intraclass correlation coefficient or ICC). Next, to examine the effect of state-level criminalizing and inclusive policies on the prevalence of T2DM, the model-building process was continued by including state-level criminalizing (or inclusive) policies as the main predictor in an unadjusted or crude model (Model 1) followed by models that adjusted for individual-level covariates (age, sex at birth, race/ethnicity, education, employment, health insurance, and income) in Model 2 and state-level covariate in Model 3. Here, to account for the clustering of data by state, U.S. states was included as a random intercept; that included all 50 states and the District of Columbia (Washington, DC). As the effect of the predictors was modeled as fixed or constant across states, this represented a random intercept-only model.

Finally, to examine the extent to which the effect of criminalizing or inclusive policies on the prevalence of the outcome (T2DM) varies between Latino Americans and Asian Americans, the model-building process was continued by constituting a two-way interaction term (crosslevel interaction) between criminalizing or inclusive policy and race/ethnicity (Latino and Asian American). The Chi-square test was used to estimate the significance of the interaction. The interaction term determined whether the statistical significance between criminalizing or inclusive policy and the prevalence of T2DM varies by race/ethnicity (Latino American and Asian American) across states. Results were subsequently stratified by race/ethnicity. Here also, as the effect of the individual-level predictors is modeled as fixed or constant across states, this represents a random intercept-only model. Goodness of fit statistics were assessed to ensure that predicting prevalence of T2DM with the fully adjusted model was a better fit to the data than predicting prevalence of T2DM with the unconditional model.

We also performed sensitivity analysis where we replaced state-level percent of foreignborn with percent foreign-born for each race/ ethnic group (Latino and Asian). While fitting these models, we lost 9 clusters/states from the sample because data were not available in ACS.

SAS version 9.4 (Cary, NC) was used to analyze the data, and a p-value < 0.05 was used to determine the significance of all analyses.

Results

Table 7 displays the descriptive characteristics of the sample by race/ethnicity (n = 201824). Latino adults were relatively less educated and had low annual household income than Asian American adults (11.9% vs. 53.6%, *p*-value <0.0001; 15.7% vs. 47.6%, *p*-value <0.0001, respectively). Also, Latino adults are more likely to have no health coverage than Asian American adults (30.8% vs. 8.9%, *p*-value <0.0001). In addition, Latino adults reported more diabetes than Asian American adults (11.2% vs. 8.7%, *p*-value <0.0001). Adults of Latin American origin were more likely to live in a high criminalizing policy state than Asian American adults (35.2% vs. 14.1%, *p*-value <0.0001). Likewise, the unweighted bivariate analysis showed that 25.8% of Latino adults live in a high criminalizing policy state compared to 10.0% of Asian Americans (data not shown). Asian American adults were also more likely to live in a high inclusive policy state than Latino adults (68.9% vs. 63.1%, *p*-value <0.0001). Likewise, the unweighted bivariate analysis showed that 61.1% of Asians live in a high inclusive policy state analysis showed that 61.1% of Asians live in a high inclusive policy state analysis showed that 61.1% of Asians live in a high inclusive policy state compared to 45.2% of Latinos (data not shown). Asians were more likely to live in a high foreign-born state than Latinos (58.0% vs. 48.7%, *p*-value <0.0001).

Table 7.	Characteristics	of the Study	Population	(weighted) b	y Race/Ethnicity	, BRFSS

2014-2018 (n = 201824)

Characteristics	Latin American (<i>n</i> = 155721)	Asian American (<i>n</i> = 46103)	<i>p</i> -value
Individual-level			
Age (years)			< 0.0001
18 to 44	62.6 (80780)	61.9 (23472)	
45 to 64	28.1 (51155)	27.1 (13626)	
65+	9.4 (22573)	10.1 (8125)	
Sex at birth			0.32
Male	50.7 (70506)	50.2 (24061)	
Female	49.3 (85102)	49.8 (22001)	
Educational level			< 0.0001
<high school<="" td=""><td>20.4 (24844)</td><td>1.7 (538)</td><td></td></high>	20.4 (24844)	1.7 (538)	
High school	44.4 (63369)	20.4 (8132)	
Some college	23.3 (34940)	24.4 (8971)	
College+	11.9 (31452)	53.6 (28083)	
Annual household income			< 0.0001
<\$25000	47.7 (58823)	20.3 (7584)	
\$25000 to \$4999	26.5 (33630)	19.2 (8082)	
\$50000 to 74999	10.1 (13690)	13.9 (5637)	
\$75000+	15.7 (22069)	46.7 (16533)	
Employment status			0.06
Employed	60.8 (89499)	61.8 (28003)	
Unemployed	39.2 (63713)	38.2 (17331)	
Healthcare coverage			< 0.0001
Present	70.2 (114357)	91.1 (42258)	
Absent	30.8 (40417)	8.9 (3556)	
Diabetes			< 0.0001
Yes	11.2 (20589)	8.7 (4544)	
No	88.8 (132318)	91.3 (40884)	
State-level			
State criminalizing policy			< 0.0001
Low criminalizing	42.4 (69226)	53.8 (26790)	
Medium criminalizing	22.3 (46314)	32.0 (14693)	
Higher criminalizing	35.2 (40181)	14.1 (4620)	
State Inclusionary policy			< 0.0001

Characteristics	Latin American $(n = 155721)$	Asian American (n = 46103)	<i>p</i> -value
	% (weighted	frequency), n	
High inclusion	63.1 (70257)	68.9 (28179)	
Medium inclusion	23.5 (48761)	16.8 (8554)	
Low inclusion	13.4 (36703)	14.3 (9370)	
State foreign-born			< 0.0001
Low foreign-born	16.7 (56985)	14.9 (12169)	
Moderate foreign-born	34.6 (50672)	27.1 (11950)	
Higher foreign-born	48.7 (48014)	58.0 (21968)	

Note. Percentage for state criminalizing and inclusive policy category is based on weighted frequency. See result section for percentage based on unweighted frequency.

Figure 5 presents the age-adjusted predicted probabilities of T2DM by criminalizing policy for the overall full sample consisting of both Latin American and Asian American. Overall, among Latino and Asian Americans in states with high criminalizing policies, predicted T2DM was 11% compared to 10% in states with low criminalizing policies. **Figure 6** presents the age-adjusted predicted probabilities of T2DM by criminalizing policy for Latino and Asian American separately. Among Latin American origin adults, the predicted probability of T2DM was the same (11%) in high criminalizing policy states vs. low criminalizing policy states. Among Asian American adults, the predicted probability of T2DM was 8% in high criminalizing states vs 9% in low criminalizing policy states.

Figure 5. Age-Adjusted Predicted Probabilities of T2DM by Criminalizing Policy Level,



Among Latin and Asian Americans, BRFSS 2014-2018

Figure 6. Age-Adjusted Predicted Probabilities of T2DM by Criminalizing Policy in Latin

Americans (Left) and Asian Americans (Right), BRFSS 2014-2018



We computed the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) to indicate how much of the total variation in the prevalence of T2DM is accounted for state-level predictors. In multilevel modeling with dichotomous outcomes, there is assumed to be no error at level 1, therefore, a slight modification is needed to calculate the ICC. This modification assumes the dichotomous outcome comes from an unknown latent continuous variable with a level-1 residual that follows a logistic distribution with a mean of 0 and a variance of 3.29 (Ene et al., 2015; O'Connell &

McCoach, 2008; Snijders & Bosker, 1999). Therefore, 3.29 was used as our level-1 error variance in calculating the ICC. Following is the calculation of the ICC.

ICC = $\tau_{00}/(\tau_{00} + 3.29)$

Here,

 $\tau_{00} =$ level-2 error variance = 0. 09681

3.29 =level-1 error variance

So, ICC = 0. 09681/(0. 09681+3.29)

= 0. 09681/3.38681

= 2.9%

This indicates that approximately 2.9% of the variability in the prevalence of T2DM is accounted for by the states in our study, leaving 97.1% of the variability to be accounted for by the participants or other unknown factors. We also computed intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) in the fully adjusted model for inclusive policy in Latinos. Results show that the same (2.9%) variability in the prevalence of T2DM is accounted for by the states.

Table 8 displays the association between state-level criminalizing immigration policy and the prevalence of T2DM in the overall sample and Latino and Asian American adults separately (stratified analysis). Overall, results indicated that in the unadjusted model (Model 1), the odds of T2DM among Latino and Asian Americans living in high criminalizing states was equal the odds of T2DM among Latin and Asian Americans living in low criminalizing states (odds ratio [OR]: 1.00, 95% confidence interval [CI]: 0.77–1.31). The association was not statistically significant (*p*-value >0.05). This association was strengthened when model adjusted for individual and state level covariates (Model 3) but the results did not reach statistical significance (OR = 1.20, 95% CI: 0.97-1.48, *p*-value >0.05).

Table 8 also shows stratified analysis of state-level criminalizing policy and T2DM by race/ethnicity (*p*-value for interaction = 0.01). In the unadjusted model (Model 1), among Latinos, those who live in high criminalizing policy states had equal odds of T2DM compared to Latinos lived in the low criminalizing policy states (OR = 1.00, 95% CI: 0.77-1.31). This association was not statistically significant (*p*-value >0.05). In fully adjusted models (Model 3), the results did not reach statistical significance (OR = 1.21, 95% CI: 0.79-1.83, *p*-value >0.05). Asian Americans showed a similar pattern of higher T2DM for those living in the high criminalizing policy states vs. low criminalizing policy states. However, the strength of the association was less pronounced for Asian Americans. For example, although unadjusted models showed lower odds of T2DM for the high vs. low criminalizing policy (Model 1: OR = 0.87, 95% CI: 0.68-1.12), the direction of association was reversed in the fully adjusted model (Model 3: OR = 1.16, 95% CI: 0.75-1.79) but of lower intensity than adults of Latin American origin. Results also did not reach statistical significance (*p*-value >0.05).

Table 8. Association of State-Level Criminalizing Immigrant Policy and Prevalence ofT2DM in the Overall Sample, Latin American, and Asian American Adults, BRFSS 2014-2018 (n = 201824)

State Criminalizing	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	
Policy	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	
	Ove	erall		
High criminalizing	1.00 (0.77, 1.31)	1.20 (0.88, 1.65)	1.20 (0.97, 1.48)	
Medium criminalizing	1.06 (0.88, 1.27)	1.08 (0.89, 1.31)	1.09 (0.94, 1.26)	
Low criminalizing	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	
Latin Americans				
High criminalizing	1.00 (0.77, 1.30)	1.20 (0.62, 2.32)	1.21 (0.79, 1.83)	
Medium criminalizing	1.10 (0.90, 1.34)	1.08 (0.88, 1.33)	1.09 (0.92, 1.29)	
Low criminalizing	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	

State Criminalizing Policy	Model 1 OR (95% CI)	Model 2 OR (95% CI)	Model 3 OR (95% CI)
	Asian Ar	nericans	
High criminalizing	0.87 (0.68, 1.12)	1.10 (0.83, 1.46)	1.16 (0.75, 1.79)
Medium criminalizing	0.90 (0.70, 1.17)	0.94 (0.73, 1.22)	1.03 (0.76, 1.39)
Low criminalizing	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.

Note. Models are estimated using multilevel models with a binary outcome (T2DM) with a random intercept to account for the clustering of individuals in states. All other variables were treated as fixed effects; Model 1- crude or unadjusted; Model 2- adjusted for age, sex, race/ethnicity (except stratified analysis), educational attainment, employment, household income, and health coverage; Model 3- Model 1 and 2 plus percent of foreign-born in a state; OR=Odds Ratio; CI=Confidence interval.

Figure 7 presents the age-adjusted predicted probabilities of T2DM for the overall full sample consisting of both Latin American and Asian American origin adults by inclusive policy. Overall, among Latinos and Asian American in states with low inclusive policy, 10% were predicted to report T2DM, compared to 11% in states with high inclusive policy. **Figure 8** presents the age-adjusted predicted probabilities of T2DM by inclusive policy for the Latinos and Asian American separately. Among Latinos in states with low inclusive policy, 11% were predicted to report T2DM, compared to 12% in states with high inclusive policies. Among Asian American, in states with low inclusive policy, 8% were predicted to report T2DM, compared to 9% in states with high inclusive policies.

Figure 7. Age-Adjusted Predicted Probabilities of T2DM by Inclusive Policy Level, Among





Figure 8. Age-Adjusted Predicted Probabilities of T2DM by Inclusive Policy in Latin





Table 9 displays the association of state-level inclusive immigrant policy and prevalence of T2DM in overall sample, and Latin American and Asian American origin adults separately (stratified analysis). Overall, results indicated that in the unadjusted model (Model 1), the odds of T2DM among Latinos and Asian Americans living in low inclusive states was 0.88 times the odds of T2DM among Latinos and Asian Americans living in high inclusive states (odds ratio (OR): 0.88, 95% confidence interval (CI): 0.71–1.09). The association was statistically nonsignificant (*p*-value >0.05). This association was reversed when model adjusted for individual and state level covariates (Model 3) and became statistically significant. More specifically, in the fully adjusted models, the odds of T2DM among Latinos and Asian Americans living in low inclusive states was 1.22 times the odds of T2DM Latinos and Asian Americans living in high inclusive states (OR = 1.22, 95% CI: 1.05-1.43, *p*-value <0.05).

Table 9 also shows stratified analysis of state-level inclusive policy and T2DM by race/ethnicity (*p*-value for interaction = 0.98). In the unadjusted model (Model 1), among Latinos, those lived in the low inclusive policy states had lower odds of T2DM compared to Latinos lived in the high inclusive policy states (OR = 0.78, 95% CI: 0.63-0.97, *p*-value <0.05). This association was reversed in the fully adjusted model (Model 3) and the results became statistically significant. More specifically, in the fully adjusted model, among Latinos, those lived in the low inclusive policy states had 1.21 times the odds of T2DM compared to Latinos living in high inclusive states (OR = 1.21, 95% CI: 1.03-1.43, *p*-value <0.05). Asian Americans showed a similar pattern of higher T2DM for those lived in the low inclusive policy states vs. high inclusive policy states in the fully adjusted model (Model 3) (OR = 1.14, 95% CI: 0.85-1.51). However, strength of the association were less pronounced for Asian Americans and results also did not reach statistical significance (*p*-value >0.05).

 Table 9. Association of State-Level Inclusive Immigrant Policy and Prevalence of T2DM in

 the Overall Sample, and Latin American and Asian American Adults, BRFSS 2014-2018 (n

 = 201824)

	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	
State inclusive Policy	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	
	Ove	rall		
Low inclusion	0.88 (0.71, 1.09)	1.13 (0.99, 1.28)	1.22 (1.05, 1.43)*	
Medium inclusion	0.97 (0.72, 1.31)	1.01 (0.81, 1.25)	1.01 (0.84, 1.22)	
High inclusion	Ref.	Ref	Ref.	
	Latin An	nericans		
Low inclusion	0.78 (0.63, 0.97)	1.12 (0.98, 1.28)	1.21 (1.03, 1.43)*	
Medium inclusion	0.84 (0.63, 1.13)	1.00 (0.82, 1.23)	1.01 (0.83, 1.22)	
High inclusion	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	
Asian Americans				
Low inclusion	0.76 (0.59, 0.97)	0.95 (0.78, 1.14)	1.14 (0.85, 1.51)	
Medium inclusion	0.75 (0.53, 1.05)	0.89 (0.68, 1.17)	0.95 (0.72, 1.25)	
High inclusion	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	

Note. Models are estimated using multilevel models with a binary outcome (T2DM) with a random intercept to account for the clustering of individuals in states. All other variables were treated as fixed effects; Model 1- crude or unadjusted; Model 2- adjusted for age, sex, race/ethnicity (except stratified analysis), educational attainment, employment, household income, and health coverage; Model 3- Model 1 and 2 plus percent of foreign-born in a state; OR=Odds Ratio; CI=Confidence interval; *= p-value <0.05.

Our goodness of fit statistics results show that the value of the Pearson Chi-Square divided by its degrees of freedom was changed from 1.67 in the unconditional model (with no predictor) to less than 1 (0.98) in the fully adjusted model for inclusive policy context and T2DM association. A *p*-value was not computed for the Pearson Chi-Square statistics; however, a

Pearson Chi-Square divided by its degrees of freedom that is approximately equal to 1 was an indication of a good model fit. Other model fit statistics such as, -2 log likelihood (deviance), AIC, and BIC, all were reduced in the fully adjusted model compared to the unconditional model. This suggests that predicting prevalence of T2DM with the fully adjusted model was a better fit to the data than predicting prevalence of T2DM with the unconditional model.

We also performed sensitivity analysis where we replaced our state-level covariate percent of foreign-born in a state with a percent of Latino and Asian foreign-born in the stratified analysis. Results of sensitivity analysis can be found in *Appendix A*. We found the same pattern and associations for state-level criminalizing policy context and T2DM with no associations being significant in the overall and stratified analysis. We also found same pattern and significant associations for state-level inclusive policy and T2DM for the overall sample. Stratified analysis for race/ethnicity showed similar but less pronounced associations for Latino low vs. high inclusive policy states and the associations became non-significant in the fully adjusted model. The was no associations for Asian living in low vs. high inclusive policy states and T2DM.

To reiterate, while fitting model with percent of Latino and Asian foreign-born in a state we lost 9 clusters/states from our sample because of unavailability of the percent of Latino and Asian foreign-born estimates in those states in the ACS data. Previous research on multilevel methods suggest at least 50 groups to produce valid estimates for multi-level logistic regression models (Moineddin et al., 2007; Paccagnella, 2011). General estimates may produce biased results and standard errors in two level multilevel logistic regression models if the number of clusters is not at least 50 (Ali et al., 2019; Hox & McNeish, 2020; Leyland & Groenewegen, 2020b; Maas & Hox, 2005). Additionally, research questions impact the number of contextual

level units needed. Contextual level units or cluster size is specially a concern if research question examines the association of contextual level predictors and individual level outcome. In this study, the research question was about the association of immigrant policy context in states and prevalence of T2DM. As a result, we need a sufficient number of states to estimate associations between state characteristics and health, which we did not have in sensitivity analyses (Leyland & Groenewegen, 2020b).

Discussion

In this study, we sought to understand the associations between state-level immigrant inclusive and criminalizing policies and T2DM, and whether these associations varied between Latin American and Asian American origin adults. The study showed that approximately 2.9% of the variability in the prevalence of T2DM is accounted for by the states. Age-adjusted predicted probability showed that among Latinos and Asian American in low inclusive policy states had lower predicted probability of T2DM compared to states with high inclusive policy. However, in the multilevel model, in the full sample, the study observed that Latino and Asian Americans living in low inclusive policy states had significantly higher odds of T2DM in the fully adjusted model. When models stratified by race/ethnicity, this pattern of significant higher odds of T2DM remained for Latinos in the fully adjusted model. Results were less pronounced and statistically non-significant for Asian Americans in the fully adjusted models.

Age-adjusted predicted probability also showed that among Latino and Asian Americans in living states with high criminalizing policies had higher predicted probability of T2DM compared to living in states with low criminalizing policies. In the multilevel model, in the full sample, Latino and Asian Americans living in high criminalizing policy states had higher odds of T2DM in the fully adjusted model. However, the results were not statistically significant. When

models stratified by race/ethnicity, this pattern of higher odds of T2DM remained for Latinos. Results were less pronounced for Asian Americans. Also, models for the stratified analysis were statistically non-significant for both groups.

Our work on state-level anti-immigrant policy among Latinos and Asian American differs in critical ways from existing studies. We used a composite index comprised of state-level immigration policies (Almeida et al., 2016; De Trinidad Young et al., 2018; Dondero & Altman, 2020; Young et al., 2019), rather than individual-level measures. While these studies used both inclusionary and criminalizing policies as a global measure, they did not examine the impact of the inclusive and criminalizing policy context separately. This is important given that although state criminalizing and inclusive immigrant policies coincide, the two capture are different contexts (De Trinidad Young & Wallace, 2019). Moreover, none of these studies have examined the effect of inclusive and criminalizing policy context on any particular health outcome.

Our results are consistent with previous studies on immigrant policies in self-rated health (W. D. Lopez et al., 2017; Young et al., 2022), mental health outcomes (Hatzenbuehler et al., 2017; Nichols et al., 2018; Vargas et al., 2017; Wang & Kaushal, 2019), obesity (Torres et al., 2018), food security (Potochnick et al., 2017), preterm birth (Sudhinaraset et al., 2021), and HIV vulnerability (Galeucia & Hirsch, 2016) that included individuals from marginalized groups. These studies similarly documented the negative health consequences of exposure to immigrant policies that constrain opportunities. However, none of these studies examined the impact of state-level inclusive and criminalizing policy context on T2DM among Latin American and Asian American origin populations, reflecting an important gap in this area of public health research.

Low-inclusive or exclusionary immigration policies may have various, intricate effects on chronic health outcomes, including an increase in stress. For example, states such as Georgia and Alabama take exclusionary approaches to immigrants' eligibility to public programs such as Medicaid (health insurance program for low income individuals) and food stamps (Wallace & Young, 2018). Exclusionary policy climates may also impact utilization of health services in immigrants and marginalized population (D. Becerra et al., 2015). For example, exclusionary policy coupled with poverty, low English proficiency, uninsurance may cause underutilization of health services among Latinos to varying degrees (Alegría et al., 2007; D. Becerra et al., 2015). As a result of underutilization of health services, immigrants and Latinos suffer from delayed care, lack of preventative care and screening (Dondero & Altman, 2020; Stone et al., 2007). Furthermore, exclusionary immigrant policy found to decline educational attainment in immigrant adolescent and create a perception of persistent threat and deprivation (Barajas-Gonzalez et al., 2021; Ee & Gándara, 2020; Kirksey & Sattin-Bajaj, 2021). Especially, students experience negative behavioral changes (anxiety and difficulty in concentrating on schoolwork) if their parents are in threat of deportation which in turn produces stress among their parents (Rodriguez et al., 2022).

Although it is yet unknown which specific subgroups of people are more prone to physiological reactions brought on by stress, a significant amount of evidence indicates links between the role of context, stress, and T2DM (Björntorp, 1997; Galicia-Garcia et al., 2020; Mezuk, 2009; Skyler et al., 2017). Immigrants and racial/ethnic marginalized people live in social and economic disadvantages due to low inclusive environments that restrain their access to education, employment, income and health coverage (Perreira & Pedroza, 2019; Young et al., 2020). Coping with these disadvantages can be stressful and make them psychologically

vulnerable (Björntorp, 1997). For example, they may experience feelings of hopelessness or anxiety, particularly in the context of social isolation or poverty (Lloyd et al., 2005). Over the long term, living under stressful conditions impacts the physiology of the body through the activation of the stress response. This stress response leads to activation of hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal axis or HPA axis to release of additional cortisol that induces insulin resistancethe main feature of type 2 diabetes (Galicia-Garcia et al., 2020; Thau et al., 2022).

We found significantly higher odds of T2DM for Latino adults living in low inclusive policy states but results were less pronounced and non-significant for Asian American adults in the fully adjusted models. This finding indicates that Latinos appear to be at greater disadvantage than Asian Americans when it comes to exclusionary policy environment and T2DM. Although both Latinos and Asian Americans share many similar experiences, such as distinct languages across subgroups and experience varying levels of acculturation, they differ considerably in respect to socioeconomic status particularly education, income, health insurance coverage. Asian Americans surpass Latin American origin adults in these aspects and attain higher average levels of formal education that drive them towards a similarly higher degree of occupational status and income earnings (Zhou & Gatewood, 2007). Moreover, Asian Americans are more likely to work in jobs that offer private insurance (e.g., computer, engineering, or technical occupations) in contrast to Latino employees who are highly concentrated in the construction, lodging services, and retail trade industries that leaves them at greater risk of uninsurance (Alegría et al., 2006). Furthermore, the legislative acts of 1996 (PRWORA) eliminated safety nets for new immigrants and appears to have affected Asian immigrants differentially by easing the process of immigration for skilled and educated migrants who are more likely to have access to private insurance (E. Park & Park, 2005). Overall, this study found that immigrant policies that fostered

a less inclusive climate that includes reduced access to quality education, health care access, and housing, civic participation and equitable employment opportunities most likely affect Latin American origin adults (Hwang & Goto, 2008; Kandula et al., 2007). However, limitations apply to Asian Americans finding. Aggregated data may mask differences among Asian subgroups. Further investigation is needed to focus on the role of the policy context on meeting recommended PA in Asians among subgroups and over time. Other reasons such as being a newer immigrant group, much more varied in social profiles, sample size issues may also play a role in findings.

We also observed that overall Latino and Asian Americans living in high criminalizing policy states had higher odds of T2DM than Latin and Asian Americans living in low criminalizing policy states. However, this association was not significant. When the model was stratified by race/ethnicity, we observed higher odds of T2DM for Latin Americans living in high criminalizing policy states but this finding was less pronounced for Asian American group. Also, all of these associations were statistically non-significant. This conclusion may be explained, in part, by the fact that, over time, Latinos have been the primary target of criminalizing laws, with occasional anti-Asian rhetoric (Ybarra et al., 2016). Because of this, there may have been widespread exposure to xenophobia that did not significantly differ between states. Therefore, it is probable that the overall national context of criminalizing in relation to T2DM outweighs state-level action, diminishing the significance of state variation. Other elements, such as the legal status of the immigrants and Latinos and Asians and the duration of their stay in the US, may also be at play.

Strengths and Limitations

Our findings contribute to the growing body of research on state-level immigrant policy and T2DM, examining the relationship between state-level policies and health in a multirace/ethnic sample. This study also had a number of methodological strengths. In particular, we used population-based data from all states in the US and objective indicator of separate policy climate surrounding Latinos and Asians. Because these contexts did not rely on self-report perceptions of Latinos and Asians about the policy climate in their state, we minimized confounding with T2DM status (e.g., individuals with T2DM could be more likely to perceive a negative social climate). This approach overcomes the limitations associated with in same-source bias, which can create spurious associations when the exposure and outcome are both measured via the same method (i.e., self-report). Additionally, in linking the existing policy dataset at the state level to individual-level T2DM outcomes, our study employed multilevel modeling to avoid ecologic fallacy and to capture the contribution of immigrant policy contexts on the prevalence of T2DM while controlling for individual and state level factors (Haneuse & Bartell, 2011).

The results for this study should be considered in light of several limitations. First of all, the study is cross-sectional and does not test a causal association between immigrant policy and T2DM. Although we controlled for potential confounders at the individual and state level, it is possible that an unmeasured common factor may be responsible for the observed relationship between policy contexts and T2DM among Latinos and Asians. Secondly, the BRFSS dataset does not provide information on immigration status, so we were unable to examine relationships between state policies and T2DM of Latino and Asian immigrant or undocumented residents. Most US national surveys does not measure the documentation statuses of immigrants. In addition, we argue that anti-immigrant policies create harmful climates for all Latinos and

Asians, irrespective of their immigration status. Moreover, to capture nativity status, we calculated percent of the state population that is foreign-born from ACS data and included it as a contextual covariate in our study. Thirdly, our study did not examine variation in T2DM prevalence by ethnic groups among Latin and Asian Americans. Evidence suggests that ethnic differences in T2DM are present among Asian and Latin Americans (J. E. Rodríguez & Campbell, 2017; Shah et al., 2022). Future studies should examine relationship between immigrant policy and within-group variations in chronic health condition or T2DM. Fourthly, this analysis was unable to consider migration patterns between states and length of state residency in a state; migration patterns among immigrants are not random and could influence the policy exposure of interest and subsequently T2DM prevalence. This study was crosssectional in nature and did not have mobility variable. Future studies should consider this factor. Finally, this study makes use of an important data source BRFSS, however, it is a complex probability sample and the estimates using this dataset have been produced may be slightly biased because it applies weight to our policy score which was unweighted.

Conclusion

This study demonstrates unequal distribution of diabetes across states as a result of lowinclusive or exclusionary immigrant policies. Such policies may be advanced at the discretion of state policymakers and inaction itself is a form of exclusion. As the federal government pursues ever-more exclusive policies, inclusive immigrant policies can promote welcoming social environments that improve health outcomes for immigrants in general and for Latinos more specifically.

CHAPTER V: THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN STATE-LEVEL IMMIGRANT POLICIES AND PREVALENCE OF MEETING RECOMMENDED PHYSICAL ACTIVITY (PA) IN PEOPLE OF LATIN AMERICAN AND ASIAN AMERICAN ORIGIN: A WEIGHTED MULTILEVEL ANALYSIS

Introduction

Physical activity has been characterized as a wonder pill because of the substantial benefits it has on both physical and mental health (McNally, 2020; Piercy et al., 2018; van der Ploeg & Bull, 2020; Vuori et al., 2013). The 2018 Physical Activity (PA) Guidelines Advisory Committee Scientific Report recommends that adults should perform at least 150 minutes of moderate intensity physical activity throughout the week or do at least 75 minutes of vigorous intensity aerobic physical activity throughout the week or an equivalent combination of both (Piercy et al., 2018). Regular physical activity improves overall health, and also helps to reduce chances of developing depression, obesity, hypertension, diabetes, and heart disease, cancer, bone and joint disease (Blair, 2009; Lobelo et al., 2018; Piercy et al., 2018; Vuori et al., 2013; Warburton et al., 2006a). According to the CDC, about 110,000 deaths could be prevented if US adults increased moderate-to-vigorous physical activity by even just 10 minutes per day (CDC, 2022; Piercy et al., 2018). The economic toll of inadequate physical activity is not low and linked to approximately \$117 billion in annual health care costs (Piercy et al., 2018).

Across the United States, racial and ethnic minorities are less likely to meet the federal recommendations for physical activity (Fulton, 2020; Piercy et al., 2018). People of Latino origin have the highest prevalence of not meeting recommended physical activity (31.7%) putting them in danger of health issues ranging from cardiovascular health risks to cancer (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention/Division of Nutrition, 2022; Fulton, 2020). Additionally, Asian

Americans have lower physical activity levels compared to other racial and ethnic groups but data are sparse (Chen et al., 2017; Yi et al., 2015). Latin American and Asian American origin adults are the two fastest growing racial/ethnic groups in the United States. By 2060, the number of U.S. Latinos and Asians is projected to rise to around 111.0 and 35.8 million, respectively, more than double what it is today (Budiman & Ruiz, 2021b; Colby & Jennifer, 2015; US Census Bureau, 2018). Despite the growing national-level prominence of Latinos and Asian Americans, research on physical activity among them is still limited.

Individual characteristics like low socioeconomic standing (e.g., low education and income), cultural barriers, psychosocial factors such as low self-efficacy, limited English language proficiency, lack of time, and safety concerns have been identified as important correlates of PA in immigrants and people with marginalized status (Castañeda et al., 2015; Crespo, 2000; Eyler et al., 2002; Keller & Fleury, 2006; Seefeldt et al., 2002). Despite their considerable contributions, individual characteristics have not fully explained the gap in PA that exists among immigrants and racial and ethnic marginalized groups (J. Y. Choi, 2009; Marshall et al., 2007). Focusing solely on individual level factors may overlook the impact of broader contextual factors which might explain why PA is lower among them.

Over the years, a growing literature has highlighted the importance of contextual effects in understanding social inequalities in health (Diez-Roux, 1998; Kawachi, 2002). To capture contextual correlates of PA, a growing body of literature has concentrated on the role of neighborhood cohesion (Douglas et al., 2018; S. Echeverría et al., 2008; Fisher et al., 2004; S. M. Martinez, 2009; Murillo et al., 2016; Pickett & Pearl, 2001; Vasquez et al., 2018) and residential segregation (Corral et al., 2014; Mellerson et al., 2010; Osypuk et al., 2009; Wen & Maloney, 2011) on PA. Findings support that higher neighborhood cohesion may be an important factor for PA promotion and residential segregation may have deleterious effect on levels of physical activity among Latinos. However, neighborhood cohesion and residential segregation are downstream products of larger contextual factor such as immigrant policies that limits or enhance immigrant and racial/ethnic marginalized population's rights, resources, and sense of security in everyday life (Perreira & Pedroza, 2019; Wallace et al., 2019).

Contextual determinants such as immigrant policies include laws, regulations, and court rulings that generate rights and opportunities for labor and employment, education, healthcare, housing, and social welfare based on an immigrant's legal status (De Trinidad Young et al., 2018; Wallace et al., 2019; Wallace & Young, 2018). State-level immigrant policies can extend rights to categories of immigrants excluded by federal policies and provide them access to resources (Young et al., 2020). For example, in some states undocumented immigrants have the ability to attain higher education as a result of inclusive state policy environments. In contrast, some states can reinforce federal policies that exclude or restrict immigrant rights and marginalize low-income immigrants (Perreira & Pedroza, 2019). Some of these restrictive policies are criminalizing because they reinforce restriction on immigrants and racial/ethnic minority through active surveillance by law enforcement, sentence laws for minor infraction, regulate driver's license qualification and mandate employment authorization (Young et al., 2020, 2022). However, inclusive and criminalizing policies capture distinct context and both should be tested separately in public health research (Alberto et al., 2020; De Trinidad Young & Wallace, 2019; Sudhinaraset et al., 2021).

While restrictive and criminalizing policies primarily harm undocumented immigrants, they also have chilling effects on non-citizens (those with temporary and permanent legal status and those with mixed family status; (Aranda & Vaquera, 2015; Asad & Clair, 2018; Batalova,

2020; Nichols et al., 2018; Pedraza & Zhu, 2015; Taylor et al., 2011; Young et al., 2020). Furthermore, among Latinos, race or ethnicity and immigration status are commonly confused, and in the public's perception, immigrants from this group are frequently thought to be undocumented (Viruell-Fuentes et al., 2012). This means that, anti-immigrant attitudes foster racism and xenophobia toward all Hispanics and Asians, regardless of immigration status. (Wallace et al., 2019).

While much of the recent research on immigrant policy and health has focused on single policies, it is a state's combination of policies that shape the context of settlement and reinforce attitudes towards immigrants (Hatzenbuehler et al., 2017; Wallace et al., 2019). Understanding the overall climate of state immigrant policies is critical to understanding the factors that shape health among immigrants and the potential variation in health across U.S. states. Moreover, most of the research on immigrant policy contexts have focused on select health outcomes (Hatzenbuehler et al., 2017; Vargas et al., 2017; Young et al., 2022), poverty (Young et al., 2019), healthcare inequities and utilization (Heyman et al., 2009; Young et al., 2020), food security (Potochnick et al., 2017), birth outcome (Sudhinaraset et al., 2021) and infectious diseases (Galeucia & Hirsch, 2016). Little is known about the influence of immigrant policy context on physical activity, a prime health-promoting behavior associated with reduced risk of chronic diseases.

Immigrants represent groups with distinct political histories, levels of integration (acceptance), cultural norms and socioeconomic background. (Hasanali et al., 2016; Oh et al., 2022). Although Latinos and Asians make up more than 80 % of the U.S. immigrant population, are racialized groups, and share varying immigration status (i.e. foreign-born vs. US-born), and acculturation processes (Alegría et al., 2006; Greenstone & Looney, 2010; Kiang et al., 2017;
Schwartz et al., 2010), they exhibit differences in several ways (Alegria et al., 2004; Kiang et al., 2017). For example, data shows that prevalence of educational attainment of high school or more is greater in Asian American than Latin American origin population (84% vs. 53%) (Gonzalez-Barrera, 2015; Grieco et al., 2012; Hasanali et al., 2016). Similarly, Latin Americans lag behind Asians in terms of median family income (\$38,238 vs. \$63,777) (Grieco et al., 2012; Hasanali et al., 2016). Consequently, they differ in terms of health care access. Census data shows that uninsurance rate among Latinos (17.7%) is nearly three times higher than Asian American population (5.8%) (Branch & Conway, 2021).

Latinos and Asian Americans also differ socio-culturally. For instance, data showed that 43% of all Latinos lived in Census tracts with a Latino majority compared to 11 % of all Asians who lived in Asian-majority Census tracts (Pew Research Center, 2012). Furthermore, the percentage of undocumented and deported Latinos are higher than Asian Americans. For example, among the undocumented population who are highly racialized as non-White, approximately 72% self-identify themselves as "Hispanic or Latino " and 16% identify as "Asian" (Center for Migration Studies of New York [CMSNY], 2022). Hence, studying these two racial/ethnic group as one may mask their distinct socioeconomic profiles and health and health behaviors.

There is limited research using population-based data examining the role of immigrant policies on physical activity levels among Latino and Asian Americans. Given that immigrant policy contexts impact education, employment, income, and healthcare access, there may be a significant difference in meeting recommended PA between Latinos and Asian Americans.

The current study investigated the association between immigrant policy context and the prevalence of meeting recommended physical activity among people of Latin American and

Asian American origin and examined the extent to which these associations vary between Latin American and Asian Americans origin adults using multilevel modeling (MLM).

Method

The study involves a cross-sectional study design utilizing a combined and merged dataset of individual-level measures of race/ethnicity and PA and state-level measures of criminalizing and inclusive immigrant policy. The study conducted a multilevel analysis examining the association between state-level immigrant policy (criminalizing and inclusive) and PA and whether the associations varied between people of Latin American and Asian American origin adults, the two largest immigrant groups in the U.S.

Data Source

Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System

Data on individual-level demographic characteristics and PA was obtained from the pooled 2015 and 2017 Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) data, a large-scale complex survey with state-level identifiers. The BRFSS is a telephone-based survey (landline and cellular) that provides the state-specific prevalence of health outcomes and health behaviors of the noninstitutionalized U.S. adult population. A full description of the BRFSS survey design, sampling methods, data collection, and statistical weighting can be found elsewhere (CDC/BRFSS, 2021). For purposes of this study, the sample was restricted to adults aged 18 years and older who were not pregnant and self-identified as Latino or Asian American. Nationally, in the U.S., "Latino" is defined as a person of Cuban, Mexican, Puerto Rican, South or Central American, or other Spanish culture or origin (Office of Management and Budget, 1997). Nationally, in the U.S., "Asians" are defined as people with origin in East Asia, Southeast Asia, or the Indian subcontinent, including Cambodia, China, India, Japan, Korea, Malaysia,

Pakistan, the Philippine Islands, Thailand, or Vietnam (Office of Management and Budget, 1997). Based on the eligibility criteria mentioned above, the study included a total of 80516 individuals with demographic and physical activity data. Given that BRFSS is a publicly available dataset, these analyses did not require Institutional Review Board approval.

State-Level Data Sources

Immigrant Policy Data

For data on state immigrant policy, the study used Young's existing policy dataset that categorized states and the District of Columbia based on the presence of criminalizing and integration policies (De Trinidad Young et al., 2018). Information on each state's policy was identified through a systematic review of secondary data sources on state legislation, administrative regulations, or court rulings (Young et al., 2020). States were coded as having a policy if it was enacted any time before December 31, 2013, a date aligning with the end point of a period of extensive new state-level policy activity. For the purpose of the study, we merged state immigrant policy data with the pooled 2015 and 2017 BRFSS data.

American Community Survey Data

The U.S. Census Bureau has long been a reliable source of socioeconomic and demographic data for ethnic and immigrant populations in the United States (U.S. Census Bureau, 2012). The ACS, conducted by the U.S. Census Bureau, is an annual survey that is intended to give communities timely and accurate demographic, social, economic, and housing data of various population groups, including ethnic and immigrant populations, at the national, state, county, and local levels (U.S. Census Bureau, 2009). Details of the ACS are explained elsewhere (U.S. Census Bureau, 2009). In order to capture the state demographic condition, the

variable 'percent of the state that is foreign-born' was obtained from the ACS 2015 and 2017 annual data to be merged with the BRFSS and the immigrant policy data.

Measures

State Criminalizing Policy

Data on state criminalizing policy was based on six criminalizing policies (see **Table 10**) (De Trinidad Young & Wallace, 2019). For each policy, a state was coded as 1 – Yes, having the policy, or 0 – No, not having the policy. The policy score was a continuous variable with possible range 0–6 and observed range 1–6. Higher score indicated higher levels of criminalizing policies. From this continuous variable, tertiles of criminalizing policies were derived and classified as low, medium, and high criminalizing policies. Prior studies have used varying approaches to create cut-offs for this criminalizing policy score. Some researchers have used an extreme score while others used a median cut-off (Alberto et al., 2020; Young et al., 2022). In the present study, we examined the distribution of the score empirically and also made a decision on cut-offs given our knowledge of policy context for some states. The study opted to use the cut-off 1 to 3 for low criminalizing policy, 4 for moderate criminalizing policy, and 5 to 6 for higher criminalizing policy.

Table 10.	List of	Crimina	lizing	Policies

		Indicator That Policy Exists
Sector	Policy	(Yes = 1; No = 0)
Identification and licensing	State driver's licenses	Does the state require a social security number to obtain a driver's license?
	Compliance with the federal Real ID Act of 2005, which sets standards for state licenses and IDs	Does the state comply with Real ID?

Sector	Policy	Indicator That Policy Exists (Yes = 1; No = 0)
Work authorization	Use of employment authorization database, E- Verify	Does the state mandate employers use E-Verify?
Immigration enforcement and criminal justice	Law enforcement collaboration with federal enforcement	Does the state fully collaborate with federal immigration authorities?
	Law enforcement inquiry about legal status	Does the state require or allow that law enforcement verify individuals' legal status at the time of a stop or arrest?
	Sentencing laws	Does the state sentence nonviolent criminal offenses at least 365 d?

State Inclusive Policy

Data on state-inclusive policy was based on 14 policies (see **Table 11**; De Trinidad Young & Wallace, 2019). For each policy, a state was coded as 1 - Yes, having the policy, or 0 - No, not having the policy. The policy score was a continuous variable with possible range 0-14 and observed range 1-14. A higher score indicates a higher level of inclusive policies. From this continuous variable, tertiles of inclusive policies were derived and classified as low, medium, and high inclusive policies. We examined the distribution of the score empirically and also made a decision on cut-offs given our knowledge of policy context for some states. So, we use the cut-off 1 to 4 for low inclusive policy, 5 and 6 for medium inclusive policy, and 7 or more for high inclusive policy.

Table 11. List of Inclusive Policies

Sector	Policy	Indicator That Policy Exists (Yes = 1; No = 0)
Health and social services benefits	State Children's Health Insurance Program (SCHIP)	Does the state provide health insurance to children regardless of legal status?
	Medicaid-prenatal care	Does the state provide care to pregnant women regardless of legal status?
	Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program	Does the state count a prorated share of ineligible noncitizen income to determine family eligibility for benefits?
Education	In-state college and university tuition	Does the state provide most students in-state tuition regardless of legal status?
	Financial aid for colleges and universities	Does the state provide students scholarships or financial aid regardless of legal status?
Labor and Employment	Citizenship requirements for peace officers	Does the state require peace officers be citizens?
	Citizenship requirements for teachers	Does the state require teachers be citizens?
	Worker's compensation	Does the state include undocumented immigrants in the definition of employee?
	Extension of protections for agricultural workers	Does the state extend wage and hour protections for agricultural workers?
	Extension of protections for domestic workers	Does the state extend wage and hour protections for domestic workers?
	Domestic Worker's Bill of Rights	Does the state have a Domestic Worker's Bill of Rights?
	Protection against immigration- related employer retaliation	Does the state have laws that protect noncitizen workers from employer retaliation related to their legal status?
	Professional licensing of undocumented and DACAmented professionals	Does the state allow licensing of undocumented or DACAmented professionals?
Language Access	Payment of interpreters through Medicaid or SCHIP	Does the state pay for interpreters through Medicaid or SCHIP?
	English language-only legislation	Does the state have English as the official language?

Physical Activity (Dependent Variable)

The physical activity outcome of this study was measured in the BRFSS by asking participants a series of questions about their weekly physical activities and how much time they spent engaging in each activity. Physical activity in BRFSS is available as a calculated variable classifying participants as meeting the recommended amount of engaging in 150 minutes of physical activity per week. Specifically, it was based on the amount of time participants spent engaging in "active" (\geq 150 min of moderate-intensity activities per week or \geq 75 min of vigorous-intensity activities per week, or an equivalent combination of both), "insufficiently active" (1–149 min of moderate-intensity activities per week or 1–74 min of vigorous-intensity activities per week), and "inactive (0 minutes of physical activity/week) physical activity per week. For this study, "active" physical activity group was classified as people who "met recommended PA." The "insufficiently active" and "inactive" groups were combined and classified as "did not meet recommended PA."

Race/Ethnicity

For the race/ethnicity, BRFSS participants were asked to self-report their identity as "White only non-Hispanic, Black only non-Hispanic, American Indian or Alaskan Native only non-Hispanic, Asian only non-Hispanic, Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander only, Non-Hispanic, Other race only, non-Hispanic, multiracial non-Hispanic, Hispanic, and Don't know/Not sure/Refused." For the purpose of this study, all racial/ethnic groups except Latino or Hispanic and Asian only non-Hispanic was excluded.

We included the following individual-level covariates associated with the outcome.

Sex at Birth

The sex at birth of BRFSS participants is self-reported and was classified as male or female.

Age

Age in years was classified as 18–44 years, 45–64 years, and 65 years or over.

Educational Attainment

Educational attainment was classified as having less than a high school diploma, high school diploma, some college, and college degree or more.

Employment Status

Employment status in BRFSS is classified as employed for wages, self-employed, out of work one year or more, out of work less than one year, homemaker, student, retired, or unable to work. For this study, employed for wages and self-employed were grouped into "employed" while out of work one year or more, out of work less than one year, those unable to work, students, retired people, and homemakers were grouped into "unemployed."

Healthcare Coverage

Healthcare coverage was categorized as yes (have healthcare coverage) and no (do not have healthcare coverage).

Household Income

The annual household income level used in this study was classified as earning less than \$25,000, \$25,000–\$49,999, \$50,000–\$74,999, and \$75,000 or more.

State-Level Covariates

Percent of State Foreign-Born

The BRFSS data does not include individual-level nativity status, and it is an obvious fact that all Latinos and Asians are not immigrants. However, evidence suggests that criminalizing policies' harmful effects can extend beyond their stated target to affect U.S. citizens, authorized and mixed-family status immigrants (Almeida et al., 2016; Aranda & Vaquera, 2015; Moya & Shedlin, 2008; Sabo & Lee, 2015; Taylor et al., 2011; Viruell-Fuentes et al., 2012). Hence, these policies negatively affect all Latinos and Asians, irrespective of their immigration status. Nonetheless, the percent of the state population that is foreign-born was calculated from ACS data and included as a contextual covariate in the complete dataset. For ease of interpretation, from the continuous version of the percent foreign-born, tertiles were derived to classify states as having a low, medium, or high percentage of foreign-born individuals.

Statistical Analysis

The combined and merged dataset with individual-level measures of race/ethnicity and PA (BRFSS), state-level measures of immigrant policy (existing policy dataset), and percent of foreign-born (ACS dataset) was used for the criminalizing and inclusive policy and PA outcome. The statistical analysis for immigrant policy and recommended PA association for criminalizing and inclusive policy was the same since PA was dichotomized. Hence, the analytic description applies to criminalizing and PA association and inclusive policy and PA association.

The first research question was to understand the relationships between state-level criminalizing policies and the prevalence of recommended PA among people of Latin American and Asian American origin adults. PROC GLIMMIX was used to fit a weighted multilevel model to this data (Ene et al., 2015). Sampling probabilities and individual-level weights were

incorporated into the model to draw valid inferences in the population of interest. The point of note here is that BRFSS and other publicly available data do not include weights for each level of analysis. Rather, they include a single overall individual (level-1) weighting variable that incorporates state (level-2) design issues. Therefore, level-2 weight in our analysis was not necessary.

Additionally, to subsample or stratify the data by Latin American and Asian American group, we created a revised weight variable for our group of interest because we cannot just remove other individuals from the BRFSS data as it is a complex survey (removing others would provide inaccurate standard errors and parameter estimates). We did this by maintaining weights where race was Latin American and Asian American, and pregnancy status was non-pregnant, and set others to virtually zero (Lewis, 2013). Missing data on the outcome PA assumed to be missing at random. Multicollinearity assessment ensured that none of the independent variables were strongly associated with each other.

Analytic sample descriptive statistics was generated for the variables of interest and tested for differences by race/ethnicity using chi-square (χ^2) tests. Data on variables were expressed as percentages (based on weighted frequency) and frequency for the categorical variables. We also reported criminalizing policy and inclusive policy percentage by race/ethnicity using chi-square (χ^2) test based on unweighted frequency and estimates were lower than weighted frequency.

We also calculated and plotted predicted probabilities of meeting recommended PA by criminalizing and inclusive policy using SAS-callable SUDAAN. We tested differences in the predicted probability of meeting recommended PA by criminalizing policy in states with high criminalizing compared to low criminalizing policies for the full population and for Latinos and

Asians, separately. We also tested differences in the predicted probability of meeting recommended PA by inclusive policy in states with low inclusive compared to high inclusive policies for the full population and for Latinos and Asians, separately.

The model-building process began with the empty, unconditional model (random intercept model) with the outcome (PA) but no predictors. This model provided information about how much of the total variation in the prevalence of recommended PA is accounted for by the states (through the calculation of intraclass correlation coefficient or ICC). Next, to examine the effect of state-level criminalizing and inclusive policies on the prevalence of PA, the model-building process was continued by including state-level criminalizing (or inclusive) policies as the main predictor in an unadjusted or crude model (Model 1) followed by models that adjusted for individual-level covariates (age, sex at birth, race/ethnicity, education, employment, health insurance, and income) in Model 2 and state level covariate in Model 3. Here, to account for the clustering of data by state, U.S. states was included as a random intercept; that included all 50 states and the District of Columbia. As the effect of the predictors was modeled as fixed or constant across states, this represented a random intercept-only model.

Finally, to examine the extent to which the effect of criminalizing or inclusive policies on the prevalence of the outcome (PA) varies between Latinos and Asian Americans, the modelbuilding process was continued by constituting a two-way interaction term (cross-level interaction) between criminalizing (or inclusive) policy and race/ethnicity (Latino and Asian American). The Chi-square test was used to estimate the significance of the interaction. The interaction determined whether the relationship between criminalizing or inclusive policy and the prevalence of PA varies by race/ethnicity (Latino and Asian American) across states. Followed by the interaction, we tested for effect measure modification by race/ethnicity (Latino and Asian

American) on the association between immigrant policy (criminalizing policy and inclusive policy, separately) and PA. Here also, as the effect of the individual-level predictors is modeled as fixed or constant across states, this represents a random intercept-only model. Goodness of fit statistics were assessed to ensure that predicting prevalence of meeting recommended PA with the fully adjusted model was a better fit to the data than predicting prevalence of meeting recommended PA with the unconditional model.

We also performed sensitivity analysis where we replaced state-level percent of foreignborn with percent foreign-born for each race/ ethnic group (Latino and Asian). While fitting these models, we lost 9 clusters/states from the sample because data were not available in ACS.

SAS version 9.4 (Cary, NC) was used to analyze the data, and a p-value < 0.05 was used to determine the significance of all analyses.

Results

Table 12 displays the descriptive characteristics of the sample by race/ethnicity (n = 80516). Latino adults were relatively less educated and had lower annual household income than Asian American adults (12.0% vs. 53.5%, *p*-value <0.0001; 15.8% vs. 47.1%, *p*-value <0.0001, respectively). Also, Latin American adults were more likely to have no health coverage than Asian American adults (30.4% vs. 8.7%, *p*-value <0.0001). The Latin American adults reported a lower percentage of meeting recommended PA than the Asian American adults (44.4% vs. 50.5%, *p*-value <0.0001) and were more likely to live in a high criminalizing policy state than Asian American adults (35.1% vs. 14.5%, *p*-value <0.0001). Additionally, Asian American adults (69.0% vs. 63.3%, *p*-value <0.0001). Asian Americans were more likely to live in a high foreign-born state than Latinos (57.8% vs. 48.8%, *p*-value <0.0001).

Characteristics	Latino (<i>n</i> = 62004)	Asian (<i>n</i> = 18512)	<i>p</i> -value
% (weighted frequency), n			
Individual-level			
Age (years)			0.08
18 to 44	62.7 (32196)	61.6 (9467)	
45 to 64	28.0 (20396)	27.0 (5512)	
65+	9.3 (8959)	10.4 (3222)	
Sex at birth			0.57
Male	50.6 (27867)	50.2 (9669)	
Female	49.4 (34118)	49.8 (8837)	
Educational level			< 0.0001
<high school<="" td=""><td>20.7 (9896)</td><td>1.4 (192)</td><td></td></high>	20.7 (9896)	1.4 (192)	
High school	44.1 (25292)	19.8 (3191)	
Some college	23.2 (13999)	24.4 (3664)	
College+	12.0 (12516)	53.5 (11358)	
Annual household income			< 0.0001
<\$25000	47 5 (23306)	20.5 (3015)	
\$25000 to \$4999	26 5 (13448)	18.6(3201)	
\$50000 to 74999	10 2 (5540)	13.9(2302)	
\$75000+	15.8 (8766)	47.1 (6769)	
Employment status			0.09
Employed	60 6 (35397)	62 (11319)	
Unemployed	39.4(25759)	38.0(6946)	
Healthcare coverage	J).+ (25757)	50.0 (0740)	< 0.0001
Present	69 6 (45729)	91 3 (17005)	
Absent	30.4(15880)	8.7 (1389)	
Tiosoff	50.1 (15000)	0.7 (1909)	
Physical activity			< 0.0001
Met recommendation	44.4 (23915)	50.5 (8181)	
Did not meet recommendation	55.6 (28799)	49.5 (7548)	
State-level			
State criminalizing policy			< 0.0001
Low criminalizing	42.5 (27045)	53.6 (10827)	
Medium criminalizing	22.4 (18516)	31.9 (5797)	
Higher criminalizing	35. 1 (16443)	14.5 (1888)	
State Inclusionary policy		(< 0.0001

 Table 12. Characteristics of the Study Population (Weighted) by Race/Ethnicity, BRFSS

2015 and 2017 (*n* = 80516)

Characteristics	Latino (<i>n</i> = 62004)	Asian $(n = 18512)$	<i>p</i> -value	
	% (weighted frequency), n			
High inclusion	63.2 (28318)	69.0 (11282)		
Medium inclusion	23.5 (18827)	16.9 (3434)		
Low inclusion	13.3 (14859)	14.1 (3796)		
State foreign-born			< 0.0001	
Low foreign-born	14.1 (19596)	13.2 (4414)		
Moderate foreign-born	37.1 (24082)	29.0 (5406)		
Higher foreign-born	48.8 (18326)	57.8 (8692)		

Note. Percentage for state criminalizing and inclusive policy category is based on weighted frequency. See result section for percentage based on unweighted frequency.

Figure 9 presents the age-adjusted predicted probabilities of meeting recommended PA by criminalizing policy for Latin American and Asian Americans origin adults. Overall, among Latino and Asian Americans in states with high criminalizing policies, predicted probabilities showed that 42% met recommendations for PA compared to 50% in states with low criminalizing policies.

Figure 9. Age-Adjusted Predicted Probabilities of Meeting Recommended PA by

Criminalizing Policy Level, Among Latino and Asian Americans, BRFSS 2015 and 2017



Figure 10 presents the age-adjusted predicted probabilities of meeting recommended PA by criminalizing policy for Latin Americans and Asian Americans separately. There was a relatively steeper gradient in meeting PA for Latinos than Asian Americans. Among Latinos living in states with high criminalizing policies, there was an 8% difference in meeting recommended PA for high vs. low criminalizing policies. Among Asian Americans this difference was 5%, with 48% of those living in states with high criminalizing policies predicted to meet recommended PA, compared to 53% in states with low criminalizing policies. **Figure 10. Age-Adjusted Predicted Probabilities of Meeting Recommended PA by Criminalizing Policy Level, Among Latin Americans (Left) and Asian Americans (Right), BRFSS 2015 and 2017**



We computed the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) that indicates how much of the total variation in the prevalence of meeting recommended PA is accounted for by the states. In multilevel modeling with dichotomous outcomes, there is assumed to be no error at level 1, therefore, a slight modification is needed to calculate the ICC. This modification assumes the dichotomous outcome comes from an unknown latent continuous variable with a level-1 residual that follows a logistic distribution with a mean of 0 and a variance of 3.29 (Ene et al., 2015;

O'Connell & McCoach, 2008; Snijders & Bosker, 1999). Therefore, 3.29 was used as our level-1 error variance in calculating the ICC. Following is the calculation of the ICC.

ICC =
$$\tau_{00}/(\tau_{00} + 3.29)$$

Here,

 τ_{00} = level-2 error variance = 0.04077

3.29 =level-1 error variance

So, ICC = 0.04077/(0.04077+3.29)

= 0. 04077/3.32394

= 1.2%

This indicates that approximately 1.2% of the variability in the prevalence of meeting recommended PA is accounted for by the states in our study, leaving 98.8% of the variability to be accounted for by the participants or other unknown factors. We also computed intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) in the fully adjusted model for criminalizing policy in Latinos. Results show that variability increased in the fully adjusted model and 3.6% of the variability in the prevalence of meeting recommended PA was accounted for by the states.

Table 13 displays the association of state-level criminalizing immigrant policy and the prevalence of meeting recommended PA in the overall sample and Latin American and Asian American adults separately (stratified analysis). Overall, results indicate that in the unadjusted model (Model 1), the odds of meeting recommended PA among Latin American and Asian Americans living in high criminalizing states was 16% lower than the odds of meeting recommended PA among Latin American living in low criminalizing states (odds ratio (OR): 0.84, 95% confidence interval (CI): 0.71-0.99). The association was statistically significant (*p*-value <0.05). This association was remained statistically significant in

the fully adjusted model (Model 3). Specifically, the odds of meeting recommended PA among Latin Americans and Asian Americans living in high-criminalizing states was 17% lower than the odds of meeting recommended PA among Latin Americans and Asian Americans living in low-criminalizing states (OR = 0.83, 95% CI: 0.69-0.99, *p*-value <0.05).

Table 13. Association of State-Level Criminalizing Policy and Meeting Recommended PA: Overall and Separately in Latin American and Asian American, BRFSS 2015 and 2017 (*n* = 80516)

State Criminalizing	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	
Policy	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	
	Ove	rall		
High criminalizing	$0.84~{(0.71,0.99)}^{*}$	0.81 (0.62, 1.05)	$0.83 (0.69, 0.99)^{*}$	
Medium criminalizing	0.90 (0.81, 1.01)	0.82 (0.59, 1.14)	$0.82 (0.71, 0.94)^{*}$	
Low criminalizing	Ref.	Ref	Ref.	
	Latin Ar	nericans		
High criminalizing	$0.78~{\left(0.63,0.96 ight)}^{*}$	0.79 (0.62, 1.01)	0.79 (0.62, 1.01)*	
Medium criminalizing	0.87 (0.75, 1.01)	0.83 (0.69, 1.01)	0.84 (0.69, 1.01)	
Low criminalizing	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	
Asian Americans				
High criminalizing	0.96 (0.77, 1.20)	0.82 (0.51, 1.30)	0.82 (0.53, 1.27)	
Medium criminalizing	0.90 (0.75, 1.08)	0.88 (0.65, 1.18)	0.90 (0.69, 1.17)	
Low criminalizing	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	

Note. Models are estimated using multilevel models with a binary outcome (PA) with a random intercept to account for the clustering of individuals in states. All other variables were treated as fixed effects; Model 1- crude or unadjusted; Model 2- adjusted for age, sex, race/ethnicity (except stratified analysis), educational attainment, employment, household income, and health coverage; Model 3- Model 1 and 2 plus percent of foreign-born in a state; OR=Odds Ratio; CI=Confidence interval; *= p-value <0.05

Table 13 also shows the stratified analysis of state-level criminalizing policy and meeting recommended PA by race/ethnicity (p-value for interaction = 0.45). In the unadjusted model (Model 1), among Latin Americans, those who lived in the high criminalizing policy states had 22% lower odds of meeting recommended PA compared to Latin Americans who lived in the low criminalizing policy states (OR = 0.78, 95% CI: 0.63-0.96). The association was statistically significant (p-value < 0.05). This association remained marginally significant in the fully adjusted model (Model 3). Specifically, among Latin Americans, those who lived in high criminalizing policy states had 21% lower odds of meeting recommended PA than Latin Americans who lived in low criminalizing policy states (OR = 0.79, 95% CI: 0.62-1.01, *p*-value = 0.05). Asian Americans showed a similar pattern of meeting recommended PA for those who lived in the high criminalizing policy states vs. low criminalizing policy states. However, the strength of the associations was less pronounced for Asian Americans. For example, fully adjusted models showed 18% lower odds of meeting recommended PA for the high vs. low criminalizing policy (Model 1: OR = 0.82, 95% CI: 0.53-1.27). Results also did not reach statistical significance (*p*-value >0.05).

Figure 11 presents the age-adjusted predicted probabilities of meeting recommended PA by inclusive policy for the overall full sample consisting of both Latin American and Asian American. Overall, among Latin American and Asian American, in states with low inclusive policy 44% were predicted to report meeting recommended PA compared to 46% in states with high inclusive policy. **Figure 12** presents the age-adjusted predicted probabilities of meeting recommended PA by inclusive policy for the Latin American and Asian American separately. Among Latin American, in states with low inclusive policy, 43% were predicted to report meeting recommended PA, compared to 45% in states with high inclusive policies. Among

Asian American in states with low inclusive policy, 48% were predicted to report meeting recommended PA, compared to 51% in states with high inclusive policy.

Figure 11. Age-Adjusted Predicted Probabilities of Meeting Recommended PA by Inclusive Policy Level, Among Latin and Asian Americans, BRFSS 2015 and 2017



Figure 12. Age-Adjusted Predicted Probabilities of Meeting Recommended PA by Inclusive

Policy Level, Among Latin and (Left) and Asian Americans (Right), BRFSS 2015 and 2017



Table 14 displays the association of state-level inclusive immigrant policy and

 prevalence of meeting recommended PA in overall sample, and Latin American and Asian

American adults separately (stratified analysis). Overall, results indicated that in the unadjusted model (Model 1), the odds of meeting recommended PA among Latin Americans and Asian Americans living in low inclusive states was 6% lower than the odds of meeting recommended PA among Latin Americans and Asian Americans living in high inclusive states (OR: 0.94, 95% CI: 0.83-1.07). However, the association was not statistically significant (*p*-value >0.05). This association was strengthened in the fully adjusted model (Model 3) but did not reach statistical significance (OR: 0.90, 95% CI: 0.78-1.04, *p*-value >0.05).

Table 14 also shows stratified analysis of state-level inclusive policy and meeting recommended PA by race/ethnicity (*p*-value for interaction = 0.15). In the unadjusted model (Model 1), among Latin American adults, state-level inclusive policy was not significantly associated meeting recommended PA (OR: 1.04, 95% CI: 0.87, 1.23, *p*-value >0.05). However, fully adjusted model (Model 3) showed that among Latin American, those lived in the low inclusive policy states had 16% lower odds of meeting recommended PA compared to Latin American lived in the high inclusive policy states (OR: 0.84, 95% CI: 0.69, 1.02). The result became marginally significant (*p*-value = 0.07). Asian Americans showed a similar pattern of lower odds of meeting recommended PA for those lived in the low inclusive policy states vs. high inclusive policy states in the fully adjusted model (Model 3). However, strength of the association were less pronounced for Asian Americans and results was statistically non-significant (OR = 0.91, 95% CI: 0.69-1.21, *p*-value >0.05).

 Table 14. Association of State-Level Inclusive Policy and Meeting Recommended PA:

Overall and Separately in Latin American and Asian American, BRFSS 2015 and 2017 (*n* =

80516)

State Inclusive	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	
Policy	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	
	Ove	rall		
Low inclusion	0.94 (0.83, 1.07)	0.95 (0.81, 1.10)	0.90 (0.78, 1.04)	
Medium inclusion	1.03 (0.87, 1.21)	0.96 (0.80, 1.16)	0.95 (0.79, 1.14)	
High inclusion	Ref.	Ref	Ref.	
	Latin An	nericans		
Low inclusion	1.04 (0.87, 1.23)	0.86 (0.70, 1.05)	0.84 (0.69, 1.02)	
Medium inclusion	1.12 (0.90, 1.40)	0.96 (0.76, 1.22)	0.96 (0.76, 1.21)	
High inclusion	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	
Asian Americans				
Low inclusion	0.85 (0.71, 1.02)	0.93 (0.67, 1.31)	0.91 (0.69, 1.21)	
Medium inclusion	0.94 (0.74, 1.18)	0.99 (0.68, 1.46)	0.99 (0.72, 1.35)	
High inclusion	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	

Note. Models are estimated using multilevel models with a binary outcome (PA) with a random intercept to account for the clustering of individuals in states. All other variables were treated as fixed effects; Model 1- crude or unadjusted; Model 2- adjusted for age, sex, race/ethnicity (except stratified analysis), educational attainment, employment, household income, and health coverage; Model 3- Model 1 and 2 plus percent of foreign-born in a state; OR=Odds Ratio; CI=Confidence interval.

Our goodness of fit statistics results show that the value of the Pearson Chi-Square divided by its degrees of freedom was changed from 1.03 in the unconditional model (with no predictor) to less than 1 (0.99) in the fully adjusted model for criminalizing policy context and meeting recommended PA association. A *p*-value was not computed for the Pearson Chi-Square

statistics; however, a Pearson Chi-Square divided by its degrees of freedom that is approximately equal to 1 was an indication of a good model fit. Other model fit statistics such as, -2 log likelihood (deviance), AIC, and BIC, were all reduced in the fully adjusted model compared to the unconditional model. This suggests that that predicting prevalence of meeting recommended PA with the fully adjusted model was a better fit to the data than predicting prevalence of meeting recommended PA with the unconditional model.

We also performed sensitivity analysis where we replaced our state-level covariate percent of foreign-born in a state with a percent of Latino and Asian foreign-born in stratified analyses. Results of the sensitivity analysis can be found in *Appendix B*. We found same pattern and significant associations for state-level criminalizing policy context and meeting recommended PA in the overall sample for high vs. low criminalizing policy states. In the stratified analysis, we found same pattern and significant associations for state-level criminalizing policy context and meeting recommended PA in Latino for high vs. low criminalizing policy states. Pattern and associations for state-level criminalizing policy and meeting recommended PA in Asian for high vs. low criminalizing policy states results were similar as before. We also found same pattern and associations for state-level inclusive policy and meeting recommended PA with no associations being significant.

To reiterate, while fitting model with percent of Latino and Asian foreign-born in a state we lost 9 clusters/states from our sample because of unavailability of the percent of Latino and Asian foreign-born estimates in those states in the ACS data. Previous research on multilevel methods suggests at least 50 groups to produce valid estimates for multi-level logistic regression models (Moineddin et al., 2007; Paccagnella, 2011). General estimates may produce biased results and standard errors in two level multilevel logistic regression models if the number of

clusters is not at least 50 (Ali et al., 2019; Hox & McNeish, 2020; Leyland & Groenewegen, 2020b; Maas & Hox, 2005). Contextual level units or cluster size is specially a concern if research question examines the association of contextual level predictors and individual level outcome. In this study research question was about the association of immigrant policy context in a state and prevalence of meeting recommended PA. As a result enough states were needed to estimate the effect of the state characteristics or test the hypothesis, which we did not have during sensitivity analysis (Leyland & Groenewegen, 2020b).

Discussion

In this study, we sought to understand the associations between state-level immigrant criminalizing and inclusive policies and prevalence of meeting recommended PA, and whether these associations varied between Latin American and Asian American origin adults. The study showed that approximately 1.2% of the variability in the prevalence of meeting recommended PA is accounted for by the states. Age-adjusted predicted probability showed that Latino and Asian Americans living in high criminalizing policy states had lower predicted probability of meeting recommended PA compared to living in states with low criminalizing policies. In the multilevel model, in the full sample, Latino and Asian Americans living in high criminalizing policy states had significantly lower odds of meeting recommended PA in the fully adjusted model. When models stratified by race/ethnicity, this pattern of significant lower odds of meeting recommended PA remained for Latinos. Results were less pronounced and non-significant for Asian Americans.

Age-adjusted predicted probability also showed that Latinos and Asian American living in states with low inclusive policy states had lower predicted probability of meeting recommended PA compared to states with high inclusive policy. In the multilevel model, in the

full sample, the study observed that Latino and Asian Americans living in low inclusive policy states had lower odds of meeting recommended PA in the fully adjusted model. However, results were statistically non-significant. When models stratified by race/ethnicity, this pattern of lower odds of meeting recommended PA remained for Latinos in the fully adjusted model. Results were less pronounced and statistically non-significant for Asian Americans.

This study results are consistent with previous studies on immigrant policies and health (A. N. Martinez et al., 2007; Rhodes et al., 2009), alcohol risk behaviors (Rhodes et al., 2009; Worby & Organista, 2007) that included individuals from marginalized groups. These studies similarly documented the negative health behavioral consequences of exposure to immigrant-related factors and policies that constrain opportunities. However, none of these studies examined the impact of state-level criminalizing and inclusive policy context on meeting recommended PA among Latin American and Asian American populations, reflecting an important gap in this area of public health research.

Our work on state-level anti-immigrant policy and Latino and Asians health differs in critical ways from existing studies that used a composite index comprised of state-level immigration policies (Almeida et al., 2016; De Trinidad Young et al., 2018; Dondero & Altman, 2020; Young et al., 2019). These studies used both inclusionary and criminalizing policies as a global measure and did not examine the impact of the criminalizing and inclusive policy context separately. Moreover, our study is one of the first to examine the effect of criminalizing and inclusive policy context on a health behavior.

The adoption of a physically active lifestyle by the Latino and Asian American populations can be impacted by criminalizing policies. Although undocumented immigrants fear being in contact with law enforcement could result in arrest, legal immigrants and members of

racial/ethnic minorities also fear harassment by law enforcement due to racial profiling (Morey, 2018). Therefore, immigrants and racial/ethnic minorities may be prevented from accessing resources like physical activity because of the fear of being arrested or harassed due to criminalizing policy (Hardy et al., 2012). For instance, the passage of Arizona's Support Our Law Enforcement and Safe Neighborhoods Act (SB 1070) in 2010 raised the general degree of anxiety among Latin American (Hardy et al., 2012). Due to the law, Latinos already having trouble accessing healthy food also started to avoid going outside for exercise because of the concern that the police may stop them. Lack of access to a healthy lifestyle (such as exercise and nutritious food) increases the chance of developing diabetes and other chronic health issues (Booth et al., 2012; Hardy et al., 2012).

In stratified analyses, we observed significant lower odds of meeting recommended PA for Latin American adults in high criminalizing policy states but results were less pronounced and non-significant for Asian American adults in the fully adjusted models. This finding indicated that Latin Americans appear to be at a greater disadvantage than Asian American when it comes to high criminalizing policy environment and adequate PA. Previous research has shown that Latinos are less likely than Whites to report being physically active, exercising in the park, and exercising outside the park, whereas Asians were more likely than whites to report visiting the park and using the parks for social interactions (Derose et al., 2015). Criminalizing policies, including pathways to legalization and access to resources invoked in racialization processes, such as state-issued driver's licenses, may hinder health-promoting resources such as physical activity for Latin Americans (LeBrón et al., 2022). In 2012–2013, 97% of persons deported from the United States were of Latin American origin (70% were Mexican nationals) compared to 0.5% from Asian American origin (LeBrón et al., 2022; TRAC Immigration,

2014). It is assumable that the fear of deportation is higher among Latin Americans and consequently, they may refrain themselves from going outdoors and engaging in physical activity. This deportation worry became widespread among citizen and noncitizen Latinos after 2016 presidential election due to higher immigration enforcement (Asad, 2020). Our study suggests the potential consequences of fear and anxiety associated with deportation and harassment that targets a particular racial group disproportionately. However, limitations apply to Asian Americans finding. Aggregated data may mask differences among Asian subgroups. Further investigation is needed to focus on the role of the policy context on meeting recommended PA in Asians among subgroups and over time. Other reasons such as being a newer immigrant group, much more varied in social profiles, sample size issues may also play role.

We also observed that overall, Latin and Asian Americans living in low inclusive policy states had lower odds of meeting recommended PA than Latin Americans and Asian Americans living in high inclusive policy states in the fully adjusted model. However, the association was not significant. When stratified by race/ethnicity, we observed marginally significant lower odds of meeting recommended PA for Latin American adults living in low inclusive policy states but results were less pronounced and non-significant for Asian American adults in the fully adjusted models.

These findings suggest that low inclusive policy may affect Latin Americans negatively in meeting recommended PA than Asian Americans. Our findings also follow a national report of physical activity which showed that Latinos have a higher prevalence of not meeting recommended physical activity (32.1%) compared to Asian Americans (20.1%) (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention/Division of Nutrition, 2022). In addition, while Latinos and

Asians have many similar experiences, such as linguistic barriers and acculturation processes, Latinos are socioeconomically disadvantaged when compared to Asians, particularly in education, income, and access to health care (Artiga & Hill, 2022; Kochhar, 2018; Noël, 2018).

Having a lower socioeconomic status leaves Latinos at a higher risk of being uninsured which may have a negative influence on physical activity through a lack of access to workplace initiatives that support active living and can cover use of health promotion services (Luo et al., 2022; O'Donoghue et al., 2018; Stalling et al., 2022; Stalsberg & Pedersen, 2018). Exclusionary immigrant acts (e.g., IIRAIRA) also made it more difficult to get public health insurance for these socially disadvantaged immigrant populations (Fragomen, 1997). While healthcare providers can motivate Latino patients on the benefits of PA, the lack of health insurance and interpreter services at the health center makes this process difficult (Albert et al., 2020; Lobelo & de Quevedo, 2016). Additionally, Latinos report higher levels of physician distrust, making it difficult to promote PA among these populations through this channel (Bantham et al., 2021).

Lastly, Latino American immigrants who arrive in the United States as a result of economic hardship usually relocate to impoverished areas and live in Latino enclaves that have a lack of general resources (e.g., park, walking and bicycle trails, transportation), all of which negatively impact participation in physical activity (Rogerson & Emes, 2006; Sundquist et al., 1995). Previous research has also shown that among Latino individuals, living in a neighborhood with higher proportions of Latin American immigrants was associated with lower levels of physical activity (Osypuk et al., 2009). Future research should examine the role of neighborhood contexts as buffers (or barriers) to state-level immigrant policies.

Strengths and Limitations

Our study contributes to the growing body of literature on state-level immigrant policy and health behavior, examining the relationship between state-level policies and meeting recommended PA among a multi racial and socially marginalized groups. We used populationbased data from all states in the US and objective indicators of the policy climate surrounding Latinos and Asians. Because these contexts did not rely on self-report perceptions of Latinos and Asians about the policy climate in their state, we minimized confounding with meeting recommended PA status (e.g., individuals with not meeting recommended PA could be more likely to perceive a negative social climate). Additionally, in linking the existing policy dataset at the state level to individual-level PA outcomes, our study employed multilevel modeling to avoid the ecologic fallacy and captured the contribution of immigrant policy contexts on the prevalence of meeting recommended PA while controlling for individual and state level factors (Haneuse & Bartell, 2011).

Our study has some limitations that warrant attention. First, the study is cross-sectional and does not test a causal association between immigrant policy and PA. Secondly, the BRFSS dataset does not provide information on immigration status, so we could not examine relationships between state policies and meeting recommended PA of Latino and Asian immigrant or undocumented residents. Most U.S. national surveys do not measure the documentation status of immigrants. In addition, we argue that anti-immigrant policies create harmful climates for all Latinos and Asians, irrespective of their immigration status. Nevertheless, we adjusted for percentage of the state population that is foreign-born from ACS data and included it as a contextual covariate in our study. Thirdly, our study did not examine variation in meeting recommended PA prevalence by ethnic groups among Latin and Asian

Americans. Evidence suggests that ethnic differences in meeting recommended PA are present among Asian and Latin Americans (Arredondo et al., 2016; Bhattacharya Becerra et al., 2015; Bungum et al., 2012). Future studies should examine the relationship between immigrant policy and within-group variations in meeting recommended PA. Fourthly, this analysis was unable to consider migration patterns between states and length of state residency in a state; migration patterns among immigrants are not random and could influence the policy exposure of interest and subsequently P prevalence. This study was cross-sectional in nature and did not have mobility variable. Future studies should consider this factor. Finally, this study made use of an important data source BRFSS; however, it is a complex probability sample and the estimates using this dataset may be slightly biased because it applies weight to our policy score which was unweighted.

Conclusion

In the U.S., low PA in Latin Americans reflects their broader social marginalization. This study suggests that criminalizing and exclusionary immigrant policies have distinct mechanisms to reinforce that marginalization. Therefore, to support Latinos' healthy behavior, laws that decriminalize them or protect them from federal enforcement and exclusionary practices are essential.

CHAPTER VI: DISCUSSION AND IMPLICATIONS

Study Purpose

The goal of this study was to assess associations between state-level immigration policy contexts and two individual-level outcomes: type 2 diabetes or T2DM and physical activity or PA among U.S. adults of Latin American and Asian American origin.

The following research questions guide the first aim of the study:

- Is there an association between state-level immigrant policies and the prevalence of diabetes (T2DM)?
 - 1.1 What is the association between state-level criminalizing policies and the prevalence of diabetes (T2DM) while controlling for individual- and state-level characteristics?
 - 1.2 What is the association between state-level inclusive policies and the prevalence of diabetes (T2DM) while controlling for individual- and other state-level characteristics?
 - 1.3 Does the association between state-level immigrant policies (criminalizing and inclusive) and diabetes (T2DM) prevalence vary between Latin American and Asian American origin adults?

The following research questions guide the second aim of this study:

- 2. Is there an association between state-level immigrant policies and the prevalence of meeting recommended physical activity (PA)?
 - 2.1 What is the association between state-level criminalizing policies and recommended physical activity (PA) prevalence while controlling for individualand state-level characteristics?

- 2.2 What is the association between state-level inclusive policies and the prevalence of recommended physical activity (PA) while controlling for individual- and state-level characteristics?
- 2.3 Does the association between state-level immigrant policies (criminalizing and inclusive) and recommended physical activity (PA) prevalence vary between Latino American and Asian American origin adults?

Key Findings

Overall, the present dissertation research showed that Latin Americans and Asian Americans living in low-inclusive exclusionary policy states had significantly higher odds of T2DM than Latin and Asian Americans living in high-inclusive policy states in the full model. In analyses stratified by race/ethnicity (Latin and Asian American), there were significantly higher odds of T2DM for Latin American adults in living low inclusive policy states than Latin Americans living high inclusive policy states, but results were less pronounced and nonsignificant for Asian American adults. This finding indicates that Latin Americans appear to be at a greater disadvantage than Asian Americans concerning the low-inclusive policy environment and T2DM. Adopting exclusionary immigrant policies can limit employment opportunities and increase poverty among an already marginalized population (Bohn & Lofstrom, 2012). It pushes immigrants into informal employment, the effects of which are fewer benefits, lower wages, and worse working and housing conditions (M. A. Rodríguez et al., 2015). Coping with these disadvantages can be stressful and make them psychologically vulnerable (Björntorp, 1997). For example, they may experience hopelessness or anxiety (Lloyd et al., 2005). Over the long term, this stress response leads to the release of additional cortisol that induces insulin resistance-the main feature of type 2 diabetes (Galicia-Garcia et al., 2020; Thau et al., 2022).

Previous studies find that low socioeconomic status (SES) is a risk factor for T2DM. Although the explanation for this effect is not clear, it likely relates to earlier and increased exposure to lifestyle and environmental risk factors for type 2 diabetes among people experiencing low socioeconomic status both at an individual-level and based on where they live (Connolly, 2000). Research also suggests that states of prolonged stress, anxiety and anticipation among people of low SES can result in allostatic dysregulation and promote maladaptive wearand-tear on the body and brain which can ultimately lead to T2DM (McEwen & Gianaros, 2010; McEwen & Stellar, 1993). Other researchers suggest the life course influences trajectories of T2DM. This area of research indicates that the cumulative impact of exposure to poverty, lack of education, job insecurity, impoverished neighborhoods, undernutrition, and reduced healthcare access in immigrant and Latino groups may be exacerbated by low inclusive exclusionary policies to increase risk of metabolic disorders like T2DM (Barker, 2006; Dias et al., 2020; Grigsby-Toussaint et al., 2015; Juster et al., 2010; LeBrón et al., 2019; W. D. Lopez et al., 2017; National Conference of State Legislature, 2017; Pollitt et al., 2005; Romieu et al., 2017).

The immigrant climate can also lead to the adoption of poor health behaviors. We observed that overall Latino and Asian Americans living in high criminalizing policy states had significantly lower odds of meeting recommended PA than those living in low criminalizing policy states in the full model. Prior research has shown that being exposed to immigration policies that restrict opportunities have a negative impact on health and health behaviors. Our study fills a significant gap in public health since no study has examined how state-level criminalizing and inclusive policy contexts are associated with meeting levels of physical activity in Latino and Asian American populations. Immigrants and racial/ethnic minorities may be prevented from accessing health promotion resources like physical activity because of the fear

of being arrested or harassed as a result of criminalizing policy (Hardy et al., 2012). For example, the Safe Neighborhoods Act (SB 1070) in 2010, raised the general degree of anxiety among Latinos and they started to avoid going outside for exercise because of the concern that they may be arrested by the police (Hardy et al., 2012). In analyses stratified by race/ethnicity, Latinos living in high criminalizing policy states showed significant lower odds of meeting recommended PA while results were less pronounced and non-significant for Asian American adults. This finding suggests that criminalizing policies had a more pronounced effect on Latinos.

Study findings also point to possible short-term effects resulting from fear of violence to engage in health-promoting strategies. Previous studies have found that fear of racism prevents people from recreational facilities or walking, cycling, or running in public spaces (Hayes et al., 2002). Additionally, as a result of low wage jobs, Latinos report working additional hours than they are supposed to, leaving them little space to participate in exercise and healthy eating (Abraído-Lanza et al., 2016; de Oca et al., 2011; Luque et al., 2018). Qualitative interviews suggest that fear associated with deportation prevents Latinos from spending time outside or in parks where they might exercise (Hardy et al., 2012; S. M. Martinez, 2009). This may be the case in our study as well resulting from the fear associated with living in states with high criminalizing policies. (M. Philbin et al., 2016). Other studies also suggest that overall low socioeconomic status, lack of recreational facilities, park and open spaces, inflexible work schedule, transportation difficulties, uninsurance and fear and anxiety to anti-immigrant climate lead to health behaviors those are not conducive to health (Day, 2006).

Implications and Future Research

This study has several implications for public health researchers looking to prevent chronic diseases and promote social equity for people of marginalized social conditions, such as Latin American and Asian origin adults, through the examination of state-level immigrant policy contexts.

Racial/ethnic disparities in diabetes are a pervasive public health problem in the United States. There is a disproportionate burden of diabetes in racial/ ethnic marginalized groups such as Latinos and Asian Americans (Cheng et al., 2019; Golden et al., 2019). A combination of policy, systems, or structural level approaches, in addition to individual lifestyle modifications, is required to curb the increasing burden of T2DM and prevention of T2DM in high-risk racial/ethnic groups.

In the U.S., higher T2DM in Latinos reflect their broader social marginalization. This study suggests that low inclusive or exclusionary policies are a distinct mechanism to reinforce that marginalization. The study also points to the role of low inclusive immigrant policies in producing T2DM inequity between states. Latinos currently live across distinct environments and face varying exclusionary policies and enforcement levels that shape their socioeconomic position and access to health-enhancing resources. Public health scholars must acknowledge and interrogate the harm created by exclusionary and punitive immigrant policies and recognize how such policies exacerbate existing racial/ethnic disparities in chronic health conditions. Advancing policies that would bring a more inclusive environment and de-criminalize immigrants is critical to foster socio-economic well-being, access to healthcare, and reduce the growing burden of T2DM.

Future research should apply more multilevel models to understand the effect of contextual level factors on individual-level outcomes for the complete understanding of health outcomes and their correlates. Furthermore, future research is needed that examines subgroup differences for Latino and Asian American populations. Previous research shows that T2DM varies substantially in Latin Americans and Asian Americans. However, due to the unavailability of these subgroups in our publicly available BRFSS dataset we could not perform ethnic differences in T2DM.

In the coming years, tensions will likely continue regarding the inclusion and criminalizing of immigrants in the United States. State governments will continue to play a vital role in determining the extent to which immigrants are restricted as they pursue their lives, seek work, and access health care. There is still much research needed to comprehend the long-term impact of policies on chronic and cardiovascular health, particularly as some states engage in efforts to bring more inclusive environments while others engage in expanding exclusionary environments. It will be critical to understand and address how these intentional policy contexts are related to the overall chronic and cardiovascular health of vulnerable population groups over time.

The role of the criminalizing policy context associated with lower levels of physical activity among Latinos was novel and an important contribution of this study. Changes in immigrant policies and heightened immigration enforcement over the last several years have caused fear and insecurity for racial/ethnic marginalized and immigrant populations across the country. The production of fear directly shapes Latinos and other vulnerable immigrants' health behaviors, such as engaging in preventive exercise in public spaces, and determines what spaces may be safe from law enforcement. These findings imply that future interventions to promote

physical activity among Latin Americans and other vulnerable immigrants should not focus only on individual and interpersonal level factors. Instead, strategies should combine mitigating policy or contextual-level barriers while strengthening socioeconomic position and community or neighborhood-level facilities for physical activities. Moreover, adequate physical activity is crucial for health promotion since it helps keep individuals from acquiring type 2 diabetes, excess weight, and heart disease. Qualitative research also suggests that climates of fear of deportation, detention, and separation (from family) rooted in criminalizing policy lead to reduced mobility and access to healthy food and exercise (Hardy et al., 2012).

These barriers to PA need to be addressed at the policy level. Policymakers must recognize the potentially disproportionate effects these criminalizing policies have on certain group(s), for whom physical activity serves as an important resource for promoting and maintaining health. Therefore, policy changes are needed, and effective strategies should be established at the state level to motivate an increase in active living among Latin Americans and high-risk immigrant groups.

In the future, research on other health behaviors is needed to determine the far reaching effect of immigrant policies on marginalized populations. Finally, public health professionals, immigrants, advocates, and policymakers must work together to improve health behaviors and overall health of vulnerable but resilient populations that represent this country's future.
REFERENCES

Abraído-Lanza, A. F., Echeverría, S. E., & Flórez, K. R. (2016). Latino Immigrants,

Acculturation, and Health: Promising New Directions in Research. *Annual Review of Public Health*, *37*, 219–236. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-032315-021545

- Ahmad, F. B., & Anderson, R. N. (2021). The Leading Causes of Death in the US for 2020. *JAMA*, *325*(18), 1829–1830. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2021.5469
- Albert, F. A., Crowe, M. J., Malau-Aduli, A. E. O., & Malau-Aduli, B. S. (2020). Physical Activity Promotion: A Systematic Review of The Perceptions of Healthcare Professionals. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *17*(12), 4358. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17124358
- Alberto, C. K., Kemmick Pintor, J., Young, M.-E., Tabb, L. P., Martínez-Donate, A., Langellier,
 B. A., & Stimpson, J. P. (2020). Association of Maternal Citizenship and State-Level
 Immigrant Policies With Health Insurance Coverage Among US-Born Latino Youths. *JAMA Network Open*, 3(10), e2021876.

https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.21876

Alegría, M., Cao, Z., McGuire, T. G., Ojeda, V. D., Sribney, B., Woo, M., & Takeuchi, D.
(2006). Health Insurance Coverage for Vulnerable Populations: Contrasting Asian
Americans and Latinos in the United States. *INQUIRY: The Journal of Health Care Organization, Provision, and Financing*, 43(3), 231–254.

https://doi.org/10.5034/inquiryjrnl_43.3.231

Alegría, M., Mulvaney-Day, N., Woo, M., Torres, M., Gao, S., & Oddo, V. (2007). Correlates of Past-Year Mental Health Service Use Among Latinos: Results From the National Latino and Asian American Study. *American Journal of Public Health*, 97(1), 76–83. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2006.087197

- Alegria, M., Takeuchi, D., Canino, G., Duan, N., Shrout, P., Meng, X.-L., Vega, W., Zane, N., Vila, D., Woo, M., Vera, M., Guarnaccia, P., Aguilar-Gaxiola, S., Sue, S., Escobar, J., Lin, K.-M., & Gong, F. (2004). Considering context, place and culture: The National Latino and Asian American Study. *International Journal of Methods in Psychiatric Research*, *13*(4), 208–220. https://doi.org/10.1002/mpr.178
- Ali, A., Ali, S., Khan, S. A., Khan, D. M., Abbas, K., Khalil, A., Manzoor, S., & Khalil, U.
 (2019). Sample size issues in multilevel logistic regression models. *PLoS ONE*, *14*(11), e0225427. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0225427
- Almeida, J., Biello, K. B., Pedraza, F., Wintner, S., & Viruell-Fuentes, E. (2016). The association between anti-immigrant policies and perceived discrimination among Latinos in the US: A multilevel analysis. *SSM - Population Health*, *2*, 897–903. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2016.11.003
- Alvidrez, J., Castille, D., Laude-Sharp, M., Rosario, A., & Tabor, D. (2019). The National Institute on Minority Health and Health Disparities Research Framework. *American Journal of Public Health*, 109(Suppl 1), S16–S20.

https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2018.304883

- American Diabetes Association. (2022a). *Statistics About Diabetes | ADA*. https://www.diabetes.org/about-us/statistics/about-diabetes
- American Diabetes Association. (2022b). *Take a Closer Look: Statistics by State | ADA*. https://www.diabetes.org/about-us/statistics/by-state

- American Immigration Council. (2021). *The 287(g) Program: An Overview*. American Immigration Council. https://www.americanimmigrationcouncil.org/research/287gprogram-immigration
- Amesty, S. C. (2003). Barriers to physical activity in the Hispanic community. *Journal of Public Health Policy*, 24(1), 41–58.

Andersen, R. M. (1995). Revisiting the Behavioral Model and Access to Medical Care: Does it Matter? *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 36(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.2307/2137284

- Anderson, E. S., Wojcik, J. R., Winett, R. A., & Williams, D. M. (2006). Social-cognitive determinants of physical activity: The influence of social support, self-efficacy, outcome expectations, and self-regulation among participants in a church-based health promotion study. *Health Psychology: Official Journal of the Division of Health Psychology, American Psychological Association*, 25(4), 510–520. https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-6133.25.4.510
- Aranda, E., & Vaquera, E. (2015). Racism, the Immigration Enforcement Regime, and the Implications for Racial Inequality in the Lives of Undocumented Young Adults. *Sociology of Race and Ethnicity*, 1(1), 88–104. https://doi.org/10.1177/2332649214551097
- Arbona, C., Olvera, N., Rodriguez, N., Hagan, J., Linares, A., & Wiesner, M. (2010).
 Acculturative Stress Among Documented and Undocumented Latino Immigrants in the United States. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, *32*(3), 362–384.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0739986310373210

Arloc Sherman, Danilo Trisi, Chad Stone, Shelby Gonzales, & Sharron Parrot. (2019).
 Immigrants Contribute Greatly to U.S. Economy, Despite Administration's "Public Charge" Rule Rationale. Center on Budget and Policy Priorities.
 https://www.cbpp.org/research/poverty-and-inequality/immigrants-contribute-greatly-to-

us-economy-despite-administrations

- Arredondo, E. M., Sotres-Alvarez, D., Stoutenberg, M., Davis, S. M., Crespo, N. C., Carnethon, M. R., Castañeda, S. F., Isasi, C. R., Espinoza, R. A., Daviglus, M. L., Perez, L. G., & Evenson, K. R. (2016). Physical Activity Levels in U.S. Latino/Hispanic Adults: Results From the Hispanic Community Health Study/Study of Latinos. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *50*(4), 500–508. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2015.08.029
- Artiga, S., & Hill, L. (2022, December 20). Health Coverage by Race and Ethnicity, 2010-2021. *KFF*. https://www.kff.org/racial-equity-and-health-policy/issue-brief/health-coverage-by-race-and-ethnicity/
- Artiga, S., Hill, L., Orgera, K., & Damico, A. (2021, July 16). Health Coverage by Race and Ethnicity, 2010-2019. *KFF*. https://www.kff.org/racial-equity-and-health-policy/issuebrief/health-coverage-by-race-and-ethnicity/
- Asad, A. L. (2020). Latinos' deportation fears by citizenship and legal status, 2007 to 2018.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 117(16), 8836–8844. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1915460117
- Asad, A. L., & Clair, M. (2018). Racialized legal status as a social determinant of health. *Social Science & Medicine*, *199*, 19–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.03.010

- Bantham, A., Taverno Ross, S. E., Sebastião, E., & Hall, G. (2021). Overcoming barriers to physical activity in underserved populations. *Progress in Cardiovascular Diseases*, 64, 64–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcad.2020.11.002
- Barajas-Gonzalez, R. G., Ayón, C., Brabeck, K., Rojas-Flores, L., & Valdez, C. R. (2021). An ecological expansion of the adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) framework to include threat and deprivation associated with U.S. immigration policies and enforcement practices: An examination of the Latinx immigrant experience. *Social Science & Medicine*, 282, 114126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.114126
- Barker, D. J. P. (2006). Adult consequences of fetal growth restriction. *Clinical Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 49(2), 270–283. https://doi.org/10.1097/00003081-200606000-00009
- Bartley, M., & Plewis, I. (2002). Accumulated labour market disadvantage and limiting long-term illness: Data from the 1971–1991 Office for National Statistics' Longitudinal Study. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, *31*(2), 336–341. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/31.2.336
- Batalova, R. C., Michael Fix, Jeanne. (2020, December 21). Anticipated "Chilling Effects" of the Public-Charge Rule Are Real: Census Data Reflect Steep Decline in Benefits Use by Immigrant Families. Migrationpolicy.Org.
 https://www.migrationpolicy.org/news/anticipated-chilling-effects-public-charge-rule-

are-real

Baum, S., & Flores, S. M. (2011). Higher education and children in immigrant families. *The Future of Children*, 21(1), 171–193. https://doi.org/10.1353/foc.2011.0000

Becerra, C. (2019). Keep the dream alive: The DACA dilemma. *Discourse: Studies in the Cultural Politics of Education*, 40(6), 847–858.
https://doi.org/10.1080/01596306.2018.1450223

- Becerra, D., Gurrola, M. A., & Wagaman, M. A. (2015). The Impact of Low Socioeconomic
 Status and Perceived Discrimination on Parental Perceptions of the Well-Being of Latino
 Children. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, 25(8), 790–800.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/10911359.2015.1013660
- Berkman, L. F., Kawachi, I., & Glymour, M. M. (2014). Social epidemiology. Oxford University Press.
- Bhattacharya Becerra, M., Herring, P., Marshak, H. H., & Banta, J. E. (2015). Social
 Determinants of Physical Activity Among Adult Asian-Americans: Results from a
 Population-Based Survey in California. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, *17*(4), 1061–1069. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-014-0074-z
- Björntorp, P. (1997). Body fat distribution, insulin resistance, and metabolic diseases. *Nutrition*, *13*(9), 795–803. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0899-9007(97)00191-3
- Blair, S. N. (2009). Physical inactivity: The biggest public health problem of the 21st century. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, *43*(1), 1–2.
- Bohn, S., & Lofstrom, M. (2012). Employment Effects of State Legislation Against the Hiring of Unauthorized Immigrant Workers. SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2085185
- Booth, F. W., Roberts, C. K., & Laye, M. J. (2012). Lack of exercise is a major cause of chronic diseases. *Comprehensive Physiology*, 2(2), 1143–1211. https://doi.org/10.1002/cphy.c110025

- Borrell, L. N., Dallo, F. J., & White, K. (2006). Education and Diabetes in a Racially and Ethnically Diverse Population. *American Journal of Public Health*, 96(9), 1637–1642. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2005.072884
- Branch, B., & Conway, D. (2021). *Health Insurance Coverage by Race and Hispanic Origin:* 2021.
- Braveman, P. A., Cubbin, C., Egerter, S., Williams, D. R., & Pamuk, E. (2010). Socioeconomic
 Disparities in Health in the United States: What the Patterns Tell Us. *American Journal* of Public Health, 100(S1), S186–S196. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2009.166082
- Braveman, P., & Egerter, S. (2008). *Overcoming Obstacles to Health*. https://doi.org/10.13016/cgoc-oniq
- Braveman, P., Egerter, S., & Williams, D. R. (2011). The social determinants of health: Coming of age. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 32, 381–398. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevpublhealth-031210-101218
- Brodsky, J., Shnoor, Y., & Be'er, S. (2010). The elderly in Israel: The 2009 statistical abstract. Mashav, Jerusalem (in Hebrew).
- Brown, A. F., Ma, G. X., Miranda, J., Eng, E., Castille, D., Brockie, T., Jones, P., Airhihenbuwa,
 C. O., Farhat, T., Zhu, L., & Trinh-Shevrin, C. (2019). Structural Interventions to Reduce and Eliminate Health Disparities. *American Journal of Public Health*, *109*(Suppl 1), S72–S78. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2018.304844
- Budiman, A., & Ruiz, N. G. (2021a). Asian Americans are the fastest-growing racial or ethnic group in the U.S. *Pew Research Center*. https://www.pewresearch.org/facttank/2021/04/09/asian-americans-are-the-fastest-growing-racial-or-ethnic-group-in-the-us/

- Budiman, A., & Ruiz, N. G. (2021b). Key facts about Asian Americans, a diverse and growing population. *Pew Research Center*. https://www.pewresearch.org/facttank/2021/04/29/key-facts-about-asian-americans/
- Bungum, T. J., Landers, M., Azzarelli, M., & Moonie, S. (2012). Perceived environmental physical activity correlates among Asian Pacific Islander Americans. *Journal of Physical Activity & Health*, 9(8), 1098–1104. https://doi.org/10.1123/jpah.9.8.1098
- Cameron, N. A., Petito, L. C., McCabe, M., Allen, N. B., O'Brien, M. J., Carnethon, M. R., & Khan, S. S. (2021). Quantifying the Sex-Race/Ethnicity-Specific Burden of Obesity on Incident Diabetes Mellitus in the United States, 2001 to 2016: MESA and NHANES. *Journal of the American Heart Association*, *10*(4), e018799. https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.120.018799
- Caperchione, C. M., Kolt, G. S., & Mummery, W. K. (2009). Physical Activity in Culturally and Linguistically Diverse Migrant Groups to Western Society: A Review of Barriers, Enablers and Experiences. *Sports Medicine*, *39*(3), 167–177. https://doi.org/10.2165/00007256-200939030-00001
- Carlisle, S. K. (2012). Nativity differences in chronic health conditions between nationally representative samples of Asian American, Latino American, and Afro-Caribbean American respondents. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, 14(6), 903–911. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-012-9606-6
- Case, A., & Deaton, A. (2015). Rising morbidity and mortality in midlife among white non-Hispanic Americans in the 21st century. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 112(49), 15078–15083. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1518393112

- Castañeda, H., Holmes, S. M., Madrigal, D. S., Young, M.-E. D., Beyeler, N., & Quesada, J.
 (2015). Immigration as a Social Determinant of Health. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 36(1), 375–392. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-032013-182419
- CDC. (2022, July 14). *Why Should People Be Active?* Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/physicalactivity/activepeoplehealthynation/index.html
- CDC. (2023). Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Division of Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Obesity.Data, Trend and Maps [online].

https://nccd.cdc.gov/dnpao_dtm/rdPage.aspx?rdReport=DNPAO_DTM.ExploreByTopic &islClass=PA&islTopic=PA1&go=GO

- CDC/BRFSS. (2021). Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System Survey Data. Atlanta, Georgia: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/brfss/data_documentation/index.htm
- Center for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022). *National Diabetes Statistics Report | Diabetes | CDC*. https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/data/statistics-report/index.html
- Center for Migration Studies of New York [CMSNY]. (2022). *Estimates of Undocumented and Eligible-to-Naturalize Populations by State*. http://data.cmsny.org/
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention/Division of Nutrition. (2022, July 25). Adult physical inactivity prevalence maps by race/ethnicity. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/physicalactivity/data/inactivity-prevalence-maps/index.html
- Chasens, E. R., Dinardo, M., Imes, C. C., Morris, J. L., Braxter, B., & Yang, K. (2020). Citizenship and health insurance status predict glycemic management: NHANES data

2007-2016. Preventive Medicine, 139, 106180.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2020.106180

- Chatterjee, S., Khunti, K., & Davies, M. J. (2017). Type 2 diabetes. *The Lancet*, 389(10085), 2239–2251. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30058-2
- Chen, E. W., Yoo, G. J., Musselman, E. A., & Jih, J. (2017). Physical Activity among Asian Americans. In *Physical Activity in Diverse Populations*. Routledge.
- Cheng, Y. J., Kanaya, A. M., Araneta, M. R. G., Saydah, S. H., Kahn, H. S., Gregg, E. W., Fujimoto, W. Y., & Imperatore, G. (2019). Prevalence of Diabetes by Race and Ethnicity in the United States, 2011-2016. *JAMA*, 322(24), 2389–2398. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2019.19365
- Choi, J., Miller, A., & Wilbur, J. (2009). Acculturation and depressive symptoms in Korean immigrant women. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, 11(1), 13–19. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-007-9080-8
- Choi, J. Y. (2009). Contextual effects on health care access among immigrants: Lessons from three ethnic communities in Hawaii. *Social Science & Medicine (1982)*, 69(8), 1261– 1271. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2009.08.001
- Chow, E. A., Foster, H., Gonzalez, V., & McIver, L. (2012). The Disparate Impact of Diabetes on Racial/Ethnic Minority Populations. *Clinical Diabetes*, 30(3), 130–133. https://doi.org/10.2337/diaclin.30.3.130
- Christine, P. J., Auchincloss, A. H., Bertoni, A. G., Carnethon, M. R., Sánchez, B. N., Moore,K., Adar, S. D., Horwich, T. B., Watson, K. E., & Roux, A. V. D. (2015). LongitudinalAssociations Between Neighborhood Physical and Social Environments and Incident

Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, *175*(8), 1311–1320. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2015.2691

- Clark, M. L., & Utz, S. W. (2014). Social determinants of type 2 diabetes and health in the United States. World Journal of Diabetes, 5(3), 296–304. https://doi.org/10.4239/wjd.v5.i3.296
- Colberg, S. R., Sigal, R. J., Yardley, J. E., Riddell, M. C., Dunstan, D. W., Dempsey, P. C., Horton, E. S., Castorino, K., & Tate, D. F. (2016). Physical Activity/Exercise and Diabetes: A Position Statement of the American Diabetes Association. *Diabetes Care*, 39(11), 2065–2079. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc16-1728
- Colby, S., & Jennifer, O. (2015). *Projections of the Size and Composition of the U.S. Population:* 2014 to 2060.
- Commodore-Mensah, Y., Selvin, E., Aboagye, J., Turkson-Ocran, R.-A., Li, X., Himmelfarb, C.
 D., Ahima, R. S., & Cooper, L. A. (2018). Hypertension, overweight/obesity, and
 diabetes among immigrants in the United States: An analysis of the 2010-2016 National
 Health Interview Survey. *BMC Public Health*, 18(1), 773.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-018-5683-3

- Connolly, V. (2000). Diabetes prevalence and socioeconomic status: A population based study showing increased prevalence of type 2 diabetes mellitus in deprived areas. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, 54(3), 173–177. https://doi.org/10.1136/jech.54.3.173
- Corral, I., Landrine, H., & Zhao, L. (2014). Residential segregation and obesity among a national sample of Hispanic adults. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 19(4), 503–508. https://doi.org/10.1177/1359105312474912

Crespo, C. J. (2000). Encouraging Physical Activity in Minorities: Eliminating Disparities by 2010. *The Physician and Sportsmedicine*, 28(10), 36–51. https://doi.org/10.3810/psm.2000.10.1230

Crespo, C. J., Smit, E., Andersen, R. E., Carter-Pokras, O., & Ainsworth, B. E. (2000).
Race/ethnicity, social class and their relation to physical inactivity during leisure time:
Results from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988–1994. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 18(1), 46–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0749-3797(99)00105-1

Crissey SR. (2009). Educational Attainment in the United States: 2007. 16.

- Davies, N. M., Hill, W. D., Anderson, E. L., Sanderson, E., Deary, I. J., & Davey Smith, G. (2019). Multivariable two-sample Mendelian randomization estimates of the effects of intelligence and education on health. *ELife*, *8*, e43990. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.43990
- Day, K. (2006). Active Living and Social Justice: Planning for Physical Activity in Low-income,
 Black, and Latino Communities. *Journal of the American Planning Association*, 72(1),
 88–99. https://doi.org/10.1080/01944360608976726
- de Oca, V. M., García, T. R., Sáenz, R., & Guillén, J. (2011). The linkage of life course, migration, health, and aging: Health in adults and elderly Mexican migrants. *Journal of Aging and Health*, 23(7), 1116–1140. https://doi.org/10.1177/0898264311422099
- De Trinidad Young, M.-E., León-Pérez, G., Wells, C. R., & Wallace, S. P. (2018). More
 Inclusive States, Less Poverty Among Immigrants? An Examination of Poverty,
 Citizenship Stratification, and State Immigrant Policies. *Population Research and Policy Review*, 37(2), 205–228. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11113-018-9459-3

- De Trinidad Young, M.-E., & Wallace, S. P. (2019). Included, but Deportable: A New Public
 Health Approach to Policies That Criminalize and Integrate Immigrants. *American Journal of Public Health*, 109(9), 1171–1176. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2019.305171
- Derose, K. P., Han, B., Williamson, S., Cohen, D. A., & RAND Corporation. (2015). Racial-Ethnic Variation in Park Use and Physical Activity in the City of Los Angeles. *Journal of Urban Health*, 92(6), 1011–1023. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11524-015-9994-8
- DeWalt, D. A., Berkman, N. D., Sheridan, S., Lohr, K. N., & Pignone, M. P. (2004). Literacy and Health Outcomes. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 19(12), 1228–1239. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1525-1497.2004.40153.x
- Dias, J., Echeverria, S., Mayer, V., & Janevic, T. (2020). Diabetes Risk and Control in Multiethnic US Immigrant Populations. *Current Diabetes Reports*, 20(12), 73. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11892-020-01358-0
- Diez-Roux, A. V. (1998). Bringing context back into epidemiology: Variables and fallacies in multilevel analysis. *American Journal of Public Health*, 88(2), 216–222.
- Diez-Roux, A. V. (2000). Multilevel Analysis in Public Health Research. Annual Review of Public Health, 21(1), 171–192. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.publhealth.21.1.171
- Divney, A. A., Murillo, R., Rodriguez, F., Mirzayi, C. A., Tsui, E. K., & Echeverria, S. E.
 (2019). Diabetes Prevalence by Leisure-, Transportation-, and Occupation-Based
 Physical Activity Among Racially/Ethnically Diverse U.S. Adults. *Diabetes Care*, 42(7), 1241–1247. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc18-2432
- Dondero, M., & Altman, C. E. (2020). Immigrant policies as health policies: State immigrant policy climates and health provider visits among U.S. immigrants. *SSM Population Health*, *10*, 100559. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2020.100559

- Douglas, J. A., Briones, M. D., Bauer, E. Z., Trujillo, M., Lopez, M., & Subica, A. M. (2018). Social and environmental determinants of physical activity in urban parks: Testing a neighborhood disorder model. *Preventive Medicine*, 109, 119–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2018.01.013
- Dray-Spira, R., Gary-Webb, T. L., & Brancati, F. L. (2010). Educational Disparities in Mortality Among Adults With Diabetes in the U.S. *Diabetes Care*, *33*(6), 1200–1205. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc09-2094

Durstine, J. L., Gordon, B., Wang, Z., & Luo, X. (2013). Chronic disease and the link to physical activity. *Journal of Sport and Health Science*, 2(1), 3–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jshs.2012.07.009

Dziak, J. J., Dierker, L. C., & Abar, B. (2020). The Interpretation of Statistical Power after the Data have been Gathered. *Current Psychology (New Brunswick, N.J.)*, 39(3), 870–877. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-018-0018-1

Easier, M. H. E. (2021). CDC's Division of Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Obesity.

Echeverría, S., Diez-Roux, A. V., Shea, S., Borrell, L. N., & Jackson, S. (2008). Associations of neighborhood problems and neighborhood social cohesion with mental health and health behaviors: The Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. *Health & Place*, *14*(4), 853–865. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2008.01.004

Echeverría, S. E., Divney, A., Rodriguez, F., Sterling, M., Vasquez, E., Murillo, R., & Lopez, L. (2019). Nativity and Occupational Determinants of Physical Activity Participation
Among Latinos. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 56(1), 84–92.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2018.07.036

Echeverria, S. E., Kang, A. L., Isasi, C. R., Johnson-Dias, J., & Pacquiao, D. (2014). A
Community Survey on Neighborhood Violence, Park Use, and Physical Activity Among
Urban Youth. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, *11*(1), 186–194.
https://doi.org/10.1123/jpah.2012-0023

Ee, J., & Gándara, P. (2020). The Impact of Immigration Enforcement on the Nation's Schools. *American Educational Research Journal*, 57(2), 840–871. https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831219862998

Ene, M., Leighton, E. A., Blue, G. L., & Bell, B. (2014). Multilevel Models for Categorical Data using SAS ® PROC GLIMMIX: The Basics. Undefined. /paper/Multilevel-Models-for-Categorical-Data-using-SAS-%C2%AE-Ene-

Leighton/da6cfa309c608466633ce38e6ae392d9cb8add14

- Ene, M., Leighton, E. A., Blue, G. L., & Bell, B. A. (2015). Multilevel Models for Categorical Data Using SAS® PROC GLIMMIX: The Basics. SAS Global Forum 2015 Proceedings. https://support.sas.com/resources/papers/proceedings15/3430-2015.pdf
- Engelman, M., & Ye, L. Z. (2019). The Immigrant Health Differential in the Context of Racial and Ethnic Disparities: The Case of Diabetes. *Advances in Medical Sociology*, 19, 147– 171. https://doi.org/10.1108/S1057-629020190000019008

Espelt, A., Goday, A., Franch, J., & Borrell, C. (2012). Validity of self-reported diabetes in health interview surveys for measuring social inequalities in the prevalence of diabetes. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 66(7), e15. https://doi.org/10.1136/jech.2010.112698

- Evenson, K. R., Sarmiento, O. L., Macon, M. L., Tawney, K. W., & Ammerman, A. S. (2002). Environmental, policy, and cultural factors related to physical activity among Latina immigrants. *Women & Health*, *36*(2), 43–57. https://doi.org/10.1300/J013v36n02_04
- Eyler, A. E., Wilcox, S., Matson-Koffman, D., Evenson, K. R., Sanderson, B., Thompson, J.,
 Wilbur, J., & Rohm-Young, D. (2002). Correlates of physical activity among women
 from diverse racial/ethnic groups. *Journal of Women's Health & Gender-Based Medicine*, 11(3), 239–253. https://doi.org/10.1089/152460902753668448
- Filindra, A., Blanding, D., & Coll, C. G. (2011). The Power of Context: State-Level Policies and Politics and the Educational Performance of the Children of Immigrants in the United States. *Harvard Educational Review*, 81(3), 407-437,617-618.
- Fisher, K. J., Li, F., Michael, Y., & Cleveland, M. (2004). Neighborhood-Level Influences on Physical Activity among Older Adults: A Multilevel Analysis. *Journal of Aging and Physical Activity*, 12(1), 45–63. https://doi.org/10.1123/japa.12.1.45
- Fletcher, J. M., & Frisvold, D. E. (2009). Higher Education and Health Investments: Does More Schooling Affect Preventive Health Care Use? *Journal of Human Capital*, 3(2), 144–176. https://doi.org/10.1086/645090
- Fortuny, K., & Chaudry, A. (2012). Overview of Immigrants' Eligibility For SNAP, TANF, Medicaid, and CHIP. 12.
- Fragomen, A. T. (1997). The Illegal Immigration Reform and Immigrant Responsibility Act of 1996: An Overview. *International Migration Review*, 31(2), 438–460. https://doi.org/10.1177/019791839703100208
- French, M. T., Homer, J., Gumus, G., & Hickling, L. (2016). Key Provisions of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (ACA): A Systematic Review and Presentation of

Early Research Findings. *Health Services Research*, *51*(5), 1735–1771. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.12511

- Fulton, J. (2020). Physical Inactivity is More Common among Racial and Ethnic Minorities in Most States / Blogs / CDC. https://blogs.cdc.gov/healthequity/2020/04/01/physicalinactivity/
- Galeucia, M., & Hirsch, J. S. (2016). State and Local Policies as a Structural and Modifiable
 Determinant of HIV Vulnerability Among Latino Migrants in the United States. *American Journal of Public Health*, *106*(5), 800–807.
 https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2016.303081
- Galicia-Garcia, U., Benito-Vicente, A., Jebari, S., Larrea-Sebal, A., Siddiqi, H., Uribe, K. B.,
 Ostolaza, H., & Martín, C. (2020). Pathophysiology of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21(17), 6275.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21176275

García Hernández, C. C. (2015). Crimmigration law. American Bar Association.

- Garmon Bibb, S. C., Mollah, F. N., & Morgan, B. J. (2014). Evaluation of the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System as a Potential Index Model for Total Force Fitness. *Military Medicine*, 179(5), 529–539. https://doi.org/10.7205/MILMED-D-13-00376
- Gaskin, D. J., Thorpe, R. J., McGinty, E. E., Bower, K., Rohde, C., Young, J. H., LaVeist, T. A., & Dubay, L. (2014). Disparities in Diabetes: The Nexus of Race, Poverty, and Place. *American Journal of Public Health*, 104(11), 2147–2155.
 https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2013.301420

- Global Burden of Cardiovascular Diseases Collaboration. (2018). The Burden of Cardiovascular
 Diseases Among US States, 1990-2016. JAMA Cardiology, 3(5), 375–389.
 https://doi.org/10.1001/jamacardio.2018.0385
- Golden, S. H., Yajnik, C., Phatak, S., Hanson, R. L., & Knowler, W. C. (2019). Racial/ethnic differences in the burden of type 2 diabetes over the life course: A focus on the USA and India. *Diabetologia*, 62(10), 1751–1760. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-019-4968-0
- Gonzalez-Barrera, A. (2015, November 19). Appendix A: Mexican and Asian Immigrants Compared. *Pew Research Center's Hispanic Trends Project*. https://www.pewresearch.org/hispanic/2015/11/19/appendix-a-mexican-and-asianimmigrants-compared/
- Gramlich, J. (2020). How border apprehensions, ICE arrests and deportations have changed under Trump. *Pew Research Center*. https://www.pewresearch.org/facttank/2020/03/02/how-border-apprehensions-ice-arrests-and-deportations-have-changedunder-trump/
- Greenstone, M., & Looney, A. (2010). Ten Economic Facts About Immigration.
- Grieco, E., Yesenia, D. A., Patricia, D. L. C., & Christine, G. (2012). *The Foreign-Born Population in the United States: 2010.* Census.Gov.
 https://www.census.gov/library/publications/2012/acs/acs-19.html
- Grigsby-Toussaint, D. S., Jones, A., Kubo, J., & Bradford, N. (2015). Residential Segregation and Diabetes Risk among Latinos. *Ethnicity & Disease*, 25(4), 451–458. https://doi.org/10.18865/ed.25.4.451

- Hall, E., & Cuellar, N. G. (2016). Immigrant Health in the United States: A Trajectory Toward Change. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing*, 27(6), 611–626. https://doi.org/10.1177/1043659616672534
- Hall, P. A., & Lamont, M. (2009). Successful Societies: How Institutions and Culture Affect Health. Cambridge University Press.

Haneuse, S., & Bartell, S. (2011). Designs for the combination of group- and individual-level data. *Epidemiology (Cambridge, Mass.)*, 22(3), 382–389. https://doi.org/10.1097/EDE.0b013e3182125cff

Hardy, L. J., Getrich, C. M., Quezada, J. C., Guay, A., Michalowski, R. J., & Henley, E. (2012).
A Call for Further Research on the Impact of State-Level Immigration Policies on Public Health. *American Journal of Public Health*, *102*(7), 1250–1253.
https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2011.300541

- Hasanali, S. H., De Jong, G. F., & Graefe, D. R. (2016). Hispanic-Asian Immigrant Inequality in Perceived Medical Need and Access to Regular Physician Care. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health / Center for Minority Public Health*, 18(1), 219–227. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-014-0137-1
- Hatzenbuehler, M. L., Prins, S., Flake, M., Philbin, M., Frazer, S., Hagen, D., & Hirsch, J.
 (2017). Immigration Policies and Mental Health Morbidity among Latinos: A State-Level Analysis. *Social Science & Medicine (1982)*, *174*, 169–178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2016.11.040
- Hausman, D. K. (2020). Sanctuary policies reduce deportations without increasing crime.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 117(44), 27262–27267. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2014673117

- Havranek, E. P., Mujahid, M. S., Barr, D. A., Blair, I. V., Cohen, M. S., Cruz-Flores, S., Davey-Smith, G., Dennison-Himmelfarb, C. R., Lauer, M. S., Lockwood, D. W., Rosal, M., & Yancy, C. W. (2015). Social Determinants of Risk and Outcomes for Cardiovascular Disease. *Circulation*, 132(9), 873–898. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIR.0000000000228
- Hayes, L., White, M., Unwin, N., Bhopal, R., Fischbacher, C., Harland, J., & Alberti, K. G. M. M. (2002). Patterns of physical activity and relationship with risk markers for cardiovascular disease and diabetes in Indian, Pakistani, Bangladeshi and European adults in a UK population. *Journal of Public Health*, 24(3), 170–178. https://doi.org/10.1093/pubmed/24.3.170
- Heller, D. E. (1999). The Effects of Tuition and State Financial Aid on Public College Enrollment. *The Review of Higher Education*, 23(1), 65–89. https://doi.org/10.1353/rhe.1999.0023
- Hernandez, D. C., & Kimbro, R. T. (2013). The association between acculturation and health insurance coverage for immigrant children from socioeconomically disadvantaged regions of origin. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, 15(3), 453–461. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-012-9643-1
- Heyman, J. McC., Núñez, G. G., & Talavera, V. (2009). Healthcare Access and Barriers for Unauthorized Immigrants in El Paso County, Texas. *Family & Community Health*, 32(1), 4–21. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.FCH.0000342813.42025.a3
- Holland, A. T., & Palaniappan, L. P. (2012). Problems With the Collection and Interpretation of Asian-American Health Data: Omission, Aggregation, and Extrapolation. *Annals of Epidemiology*, 22(6), 397–405. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annepidem.2012.04.001

- Hox, J., & McNeish, D. (2020). Small Samples in Multilevel Modeling. In Small Sample Size Solutions (pp. 215–223). Routledge.
- Hsia, J., Zhao, G., Town, M., Ren, J., Okoro, C. A., Pierannunzi, C., & Garvin, W. (2020).
 Comparisons of Estimates From the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System and
 Other National Health Surveys, 2011–2016. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 58(6), e181–e190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2020.01.025
- Hu, F. B., Manson, J. E., Stampfer, M. J., Colditz, G., Liu, S., Solomon, C. G., & Willett, W. C. (2009, August 20). *Diet, Lifestyle, and the Risk of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus in Women* (world) [Research-article]. Http://Dx.Doi.Org/10.1056/NEJMoa010492; Massachusetts Medical Society. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa010492
- Hu, R., Shi, L., Rane, S., Zhu, J., & Chen, C.-C. (2014). Insurance, racial/ethnic, SES-related disparities in quality of care among US adults with diabetes. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, 16(4), 565–575. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-013-9966-6
- Huh, J., Prause, J. A., & Dooley, C. D. (2008). The impact of nativity on chronic diseases, self-rated health and comorbidity status of Asian and Hispanic immigrants. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, *10*(2), 103–118. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-007-9065-7
- Humphreys, B., & Ruseski, J. (2006). Economic Determinants of Participation in Physical Activity and Sport. *International Association of Sports Economists, Working Papers*.
- Hunt, L. M., Schneider, S., & Comer, B. (2004). Should "acculturation" be a variable in health research? A critical review of research on US Hispanics. *Social Science & Medicine* (1982), 59(5), 973–986. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2003.12.009

- Hwang, W.-C., & Goto, S. (2008). The impact of perceived racial discrimination on the mental health of Asian American and Latino college students. *Cultural Diversity & Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 14(4), 326–335. https://doi.org/10.1037/1099-9809.14.4.326
- Iachan, R., Pierannunzi, C., Healey, K., Greenlund, K. J., & Town, M. (2016). National weighting of data from the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS). BMC Medical Research Methodology, 16(1), 155. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-016-0255-7
- Ilunga Tshiswaka, D., Ibe-Lamberts, K. D., Mulunda, D. M., & Iwelunmor, J. (2017). Perceptions of Dietary Habits and Risk for Type 2 Diabetes among Congolese Immigrants. *Journal of Diabetes Research*, 2017, 4736176. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/4736176
- Institute of Medicine (US). (2002). Effects of Health Insurance on Health. In *Care Without Coverage: Too Little, Too Late*. National Academies Press (US). http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK220636/
- Johnson, P. A., & Fulp, R. S. (2002). Racial and ethnic disparities in coronary heart disease in women: Prevention, treatment, and needed interventions. *Women's Health Issues:* Official Publication of the Jacobs Institute of Women's Health, 12(5), 252–271. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1049-3867(02)00148-2
- Joo, J. Y., & Lee, H. (2016). Barriers to and facilitators of diabetes self-management with elderly Korean-American immigrants. *International Nursing Review*, 63. https://doi.org/10.1111/inr.12260
- Joseph, J. J., Echouffo-Tcheugui, J. B., Golden, S. H., Chen, H., Jenny, N. S., Carnethon, M. R., Jacobs, D., Burke, G. L., Vaidya, D., Ouyang, P., & Bertoni, A. G. (2016). Physical activity, sedentary behaviors and the incidence of type 2 diabetes mellitus: The Multi-

Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA). *BMJ Open Diabetes Research & Care*, 4(1), e000185. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjdrc-2015-000185

- Juster, R.-P., McEwen, B. S., & Lupien, S. J. (2010). Allostatic load biomarkers of chronic stress and impact on health and cognition. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 35(1), 2–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2009.10.002
- Kandula, N. R., Lauderdale, D. S., & Baker, D. W. (2007). Differences in self-reported health among Asians, Latinos, and non-Hispanic whites: The role of language and nativity. *Annals of Epidemiology*, 17(3), 191–198.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annepidem.2006.10.005

- Kantomaa, M. T., Tikanmäki, M., Kankaanpää, A., Vääräsmäki, M., Sipola-Leppänen, M., Ekelund, U., Hakonen, H., Järvelin, M.-R., Kajantie, E., & Tammelin, T. H. (2016).
 Accelerometer-Measured Physical Activity and Sedentary Time Differ According to Education Level in Young Adults. *PLOS ONE*, *11*(7), e0158902. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0158902
- Kari, J. T., Viinikainen, J., Böckerman, P., Tammelin, T. H., Pitkänen, N., Lehtimäki, T.,
 Pahkala, K., Hirvensalo, M., Raitakari, O. T., & Pehkonen, J. (2020). Education leads to
 a more physically active lifestyle: Evidence based on Mendelian randomization. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports*, *30*(7), 1194–1204.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/sms.13653
- Kawachi, I. (2002). A glossary for health inequalities. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, 56(9), 647–652. https://doi.org/10.1136/jech.56.9.647

- Keller, C., & Fleury, J. (2006). Factors related to physical activity in Hispanic women. *The Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*, 21(2), 142–145. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005082-200603000-00012
- KFF. (2005). Health Coverage for Immigrants The Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation November 2004. *Harvard Journal of Hispanic Policy*, 17, 93–98. Academic Search Complete.
- Kiang, L., Glatz, T., & Buchanan, C. M. (2017). Acculturation Conflict, Cultural Parenting Self-Efficacy, and Perceived Parenting Competence in Asian American and Latino/a Families. *Family Process*, 56(4), 943–961. https://doi.org/10.1111/famp.12266
- Kim, E. S., Jeong, J. S., Han, K., Kim, M. K., Lee, S.-H., Park, Y.-M., Baek, K. H., Moon, S. D., Han, J.-H., Song, K.-H., & Kwon, H.-S. (2018). Impact of weight changes on the incidence of diabetes mellitus: A Korean nationwide cohort study. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-21550-3
- Kirksey, J. J., & Sattin-Bajaj, C. (2021). Immigration Arrests and Educational Impacts: Linking ICE Arrests to Declines in Achievement, Attendance, and School Climate and Safety in California. AERA Open, 7, 23328584211039788. https://doi.org/10.1177/23328584211039787

Kochhar, R. (2018, July 12). Income Inequality in the U.S. Is Rising Most Rapidly Among Asians. *Pew Research Center's Social & Demographic Trends Project*. https://www.pewresearch.org/social-trends/2018/07/12/income-inequality-in-the-u-s-isrising-most-rapidly-among-asians/

Kohli, A., Markowitz, P. L., & Chavez, L. (2011). Secure Communities by the Numbers: 20.

- Krogstad, J. M., & Lopez, M. H. (n.d.). Use of Spanish declines among Latinos in major U.S. metros. *Pew Research Center*. Retrieved February 18, 2023, from https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2017/10/31/use-of-spanish-declines-amonglatinos-in-major-u-s-metros/
- Kubrin, C. E. (2014). Secure or Insecure Communities?: Seven Reasons to Abandon the Secure Communities Program. *Criminology & Public Policy*, 13(2), 323–338. https://doi.org/10.1111/1745-9133.12086
- Lagisetty, P. A., Wen, M., Choi, H., Heisler, M., Kanaya, A. M., & Kandula, N. R. (2016).
 Neighborhood Social Cohesion and Prevalence of Hypertension and Diabetes in a South Asian Population. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, *18*(6), 1309–1316.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-015-0308-8
- Lantz, P. M., & Rosenbaum, S. (2020). The Potential and Realized Impact of the Affordable Care Act on Health Equity. *Journal of Health Politics, Policy and Law*, 45(5), 831–845. https://doi.org/10.1215/03616878-8543298
- Larsen, B. A., Pekmezi, D., Marquez, B., Benitez, T. J., & Marcus, B. H. (2013). Physical activity in Latinas: Social and environmental influences. *Women's Health (London, England*), 9(2), 10.2217/whe.13.9. https://doi.org/10.2217/whe.13.9
- Lazar, M., & Davenport, L. (2018). Barriers to Health Care Access for Low Income Families: A Review of Literature. *Journal of Community Health Nursing*, 35(1), 28–37. https://doi.org/10.1080/07370016.2018.1404832
- LeBrón, A. M. W., Lopez, W. D., Cowan, K., Novak, N. L., Temrowski, O., Ibarra-Frayre, M.,& Delva, J. (2018). Restrictive ID Policies: Implications for Health Equity. *Journal of*

Immigrant and Minority Health, 20(2), 255–260. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-017-0579-3

- LeBrón, A. M. W., Schulz, A. J., Gamboa, C., Reyes, A., Viruell-Fuentes, E., & Israel, B. A. (2022). Mexican-Origin Women's Construction and Navigation of Racialized Identities: Implications for Health Amid Restrictive Immigrant Policies. *Journal of Health Politics, Policy and Law*, 47(2), 259–291. https://doi.org/10.1215/03616878-9518665
- LeBrón, A. M. W., Spencer, M., Kieffer, E., Sinco, B., & Palmisano, G. (2019). Racial/Ethnic Discrimination and Diabetes-Related Outcomes Among Latinos with Type 2 Diabetes. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, 21(1), 105–114. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-018-0710-0
- Leclere, F. B., Jensen, L., & Biddlecom, A. E. (1994). Health care utilization, family context, and adaptation among immigrants to the United States. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, *35*(4), 370–384.
- Lee, R. E., & Cubbin, C. (2009). Striding Toward Social Justice: The Ecologic Milieu of Physical Activity. *Exercise and Sport Sciences Reviews*, 37(1), 10–17. https://doi.org/10.1097/JES.0b013e318190eb2e
- Lewis, T. (2013). Considerations and Techniques for Analyzing Domains of Complex Survey Data.

Leyland, A. H., & Groenewegen, P. P. (2020a). Multilevel Modelling for Public Health and Health Services Research: Health in Context. Springer. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK565715/

- Leyland, A. H., & Groenewegen, P. P. (2020b). What Is Multilevel Modelling? In Multilevel Modelling for Public Health and Health Services Research: Health in Context [Internet]. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-34801-4_3
- Liu, J., Probst, J. C., Harun, N., Bennett, K. J., & Torres, M. E. (2009). Acculturation, physical activity, and obesity among Hispanic adolescents. *Ethnicity & Health*, 14(5), 509–525. https://doi.org/10.1080/13557850902890209
- Lloyd, C., Smith, J., & Weinger, K. (2005). Stress and Diabetes: A Review of the Links. *Diabetes Spectrum*, *18*(2), 121–127. https://doi.org/10.2337/diaspect.18.2.121
- Lobelo, F., & de Quevedo, I. G. (2016). The Evidence in Support of Physicians and Health Care Providers as Physical Activity Role Models. *American Journal of Lifestyle Medicine*, 10(1), 36–52. https://doi.org/10.1177/1559827613520120
- Lobelo, F., Rohm Young, D., Sallis, R., Garber, M. D., Billinger, S. A., Duperly, J., Hutber, A., Pate, R. R., Thomas, R. J., Widlansky, M. E., McConnell, M. V., & Joy, E. A. (2018).
 Routine Assessment and Promotion of Physical Activity in Healthcare Settings: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, *137*(18), e495–e522. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIR.00000000000559
- Lopez, M. (2015). Modern Immigration Wave Brings 59 Million to U.S. *Pew Research Center's Hispanic Trends Project*. https://www.pewresearch.org/hispanic/2015/09/28/chapter-2-immigrations-impact-on-past-and-future-u-s-population-change/
- Lopez, W. D., Kruger, D. J., Delva, J., Llanes, M., Ledón, C., Waller, A., Harner, M., Martinez, R., Sanders, L., Harner, M., & Israel, B. (2017). Health Implications of an Immigration Raid: Findings from a Latino Community in the Midwestern United States. *Journal of*

Immigrant and Minority Health, *19*(3), 702–708. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-016-0390-6

- Luke, D. (2004). *Multilevel Modeling*. SAGE Publications, Inc. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412985147
- Luo, L., Zeng, X., & Wang, X. (2022). The effects of health insurance and physical exercise participation on life satisfaction of older people in China—Based on CHNS panel data from 2006 to 2015. *Frontiers in Public Health*, *10*, 858191. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2022.858191
- Luque, J. S., Soulen, G., Davila, C. B., & Cartmell, K. (2018). Access to health care for uninsured Latina immigrants in South Carolina. *BMC Health Services Research*, 18(1), 310. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-3138-2
- Maas, C. J. M., & Hox, J. J. (2005). Sufficient Sample Sizes for Multilevel Modeling. 1.
- Marmot, M., & Allen, J. J. (2014). Social Determinants of Health Equity. *American Journal of Public Health*, *104*(S4), S517–S519. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2014.302200
- Marshall, S. J., Jones, D. A., Ainsworth, B. E., Reis, J. P., Levy, S. S., & Macera, C. A. (2007).
 Race/ethnicity, social class, and leisure-time physical inactivity. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 39(1), 44–51. https://doi.org/10.1249/01.mss.0000239401.16381.37
- Martin, P. (1995). Proposition 187 in California. *The International Migration Review*, 29(1), 255–263. https://doi.org/10.2307/2547004
- Martínez, A. D., Ruelas, L., & Granger, D. A. (2018). Household fear of deportation in relation to chronic stressors and salivary proinflammatory cytokines in Mexican-origin families post-SB 1070. SSM Population Health, 5, 188–200. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2018.06.003

- Martinez, A. N., Bluthenthal, R. N., Lorvick, J., Anderson, R., Flynn, N., & Kral, A. H. (2007).
 The impact of legalizing syringe exchange programs on arrests among injection drug users in California. *Journal of Urban Health: Bulletin of the New York Academy of Medicine*, 84(3), 423–435. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11524-006-9139-1
- Martinez, O., Wu, E., Sandfort, T., Dodge, B., Carballo-Dieguez, A., Pinto, R., Rhodes, S. D.,
 Moya, E., & Chavez-Baray, S. (2015). Evaluating the Impact of Immigration Policies on
 Health Status Among Undocumented Immigrants: A Systematic Review. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health / Center for Minority Public Health*, 17(3), 947–970.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-013-9968-4
- Martinez, S. M. (2009). Individual, social and environmental correlates of physical activity among Latinos in San Diego County [UC San Diego]. https://escholarship.org/uc/item/5f74d0vj
- Maxwell, A. E., Crespi, C. M., Alano, R. E., Sudan, M., & Bastani, R. (2012). Health Risk
 Behaviors among Five Asian American Subgroups in California: Identifying Intervention
 Priorities. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health / Center for Minority Public Health*, 14(5), 890–894. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-011-9552-8
- McEwen, B. S., & Gianaros, P. J. (2010). Central role of the brain in stress and adaptation: Links to socioeconomic status, health, and disease. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1186*(1), 190–222. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.05331.x

McEwen, B. S., & Stellar, E. (1993). Stress and the Individual: Mechanisms Leading to Disease. Archives of Internal Medicine, 153(18), 2093–2101. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.1993.00410180039004

- McNally, S. (2020). Exercise: The miracle cure for surgeons to fix the NHS and social care. *The Bulletin of the Royal College of Surgeons of England*, *102*(1), 28–33.
- Mellerson, J., Landrine, H., Hao, Y., Corral, I., Zhao, L., & Cooper, D. L. (2010). Residential segregation and exercise among a national sample of Hispanic adults. *Health & Place*, *16*(3), 613–615. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2009.12.013
- Meltzer, D. O., & Jena, A. B. (2010). The economics of intense exercise. *Journal of Health Economics*, 29(3), 347–352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhealeco.2010.03.005
- Mendoza-Vasconez, A. S., Linke, S., Muñoz, M., Pekmezi, D., Ainsworth, C., Cano, M.,
 Williams, V., Marcus, B. H., & Larsen, B. A. (2016). Promoting Physical Activity
 Among Underserved Populations. *Current Sports Medicine Reports*, 15(4), 290–297.
 https://doi.org/10.1249/JSR.00000000000276
- Meyer, I. H. (2003). Prejudice, Social Stress, and Mental Health in Lesbian, Gay, and Bisexual Populations: Conceptual Issues and Research Evidence. *Psychological Bulletin*, *129*(5), 674–697. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.129.5.674
- Mezuk, B. (2009). Epidemiology of Diabetes and Cardiovascular Disease: The Emergence of Health Disparities Over the Life Span. Annual Review of Gerontology & Geriatrics, 29(1), 77-97,R13. http://dx.doi.org/10.1891/0198-8794.29.77
- Mike Guo & Ryan Baugh. (2019). Annual Flow Report October 2019 Immigration Enforcement Actions: 2018. 11.
- Mirowsky, J., & Ross, C. E. (1998). Education, Personal Control, Lifestyle and Health: A Human Capital Hypothesis. *Research on Aging*, 20(4), 415–449. https://doi.org/10.1177/0164027598204003

- Moineddin, R., Matheson, F. I., & Glazier, R. H. (2007). A simulation study of sample size for multilevel logistic regression models. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 7(1), 34. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-7-34
- Monte, L., & Shin, H. (2022). 20.6 Million People in the U.S. Identify as Asian, Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander. Census.Gov. https://www.census.gov/library/stories/2022/05/aanhpipopulation-diverse-geographically-dispersed.html
- Mora, L. (2022). Hispanic enrollment reaches new high at four-year colleges in the U.S., but affordability remains an obstacle. *Pew Research Center*. https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2022/10/07/hispanic-enrollment-reaches-newhigh-at-four-year-colleges-in-the-u-s-but-affordability-remains-an-obstacle/
- Morey, B. N. (2018). Mechanisms by Which Anti-Immigrant Stigma Exacerbates Racial/Ethnic Health Disparities. American Journal of Public Health, 108(4), 460–463. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2017.304266

Motomura, H. (2014). Immigration outside the law. Oxford University Press.

- Moya, E. M., & Shedlin, M. G. (2008). Policies and laws affecting Mexican-origin immigrant access and utilization of substance abuse treatment: Obstacles to recovery and immigrant health. *Substance Use & Misuse*, 43(12–13), 1747–1769. https://doi.org/10.1080/10826080802297294
- Murillo, R., Echeverria, S., & Vasquez, E. (2016). Differences in neighborhood social cohesion and aerobic physical activity by Latino subgroup. SSM - Population Health, 2, 536–541. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2016.08.003
- Murphy, S. L. (2021). Mortality in the United States, 2020. 427, 8.

- National Conference of State Legislature. (2017). *Immigrant Eligibility for Health Care Programs in the United States*. https://www.ncsl.org/immigration/immigrant-eligibilityfor-health-care-programs-in-the-united-states
- National Conference of State Legislature. (2021). *Tuition Benefits for Immigrants*. https://www.ncsl.org/research/immigration/tuition-benefits-for-immigrants.aspx
- National Conference of State Legislature. (2022). *States Offering Driver's Licenses to Immigrants*. https://www.ncsl.org/research/immigration/states-offering-driver-s-licensesto-immigrants.aspx
- National Immigration Law Center. (2015). Immigrant-inclusive State and Local Policies Move Ahead in 2014–15. *National Immigration Law Center*.

https://www.nilc.org/news/special-reports/inclusive-state-local-policies-2014-15/

- Navarro, V., Muntaner, C., Borrell, C., Benach, J., Quiroga, A., Rodríguez-Sanz, M., Vergés, N., & Pasarín, M. I. (2006). Politics and health outcomes. *Lancet*, *368*(9540), 1033–1037. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(06)69341-0
- Navarro, V., & Shi, L. (2001). The Political Context of Social Inequalities and Health. *International Journal of Health Services*, *31*(1), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.2190/1GY8-V5QN-A1TA-A9KJ
- NCD Risk Factor Collaboration. (2016). Worldwide trends in diabetes since 1980: A pooled analysis of 751 population-based studies with 4·4 million participants. *Lancet (London, England)*, *387*(10027), 1513–1530. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)00618-8
- NCSL. (2015). *State E-Verify Action*. https://www.ncsl.org/research/immigration/state-e-verify-action.aspx

- Nichols, V. C., LeBrón, A. M. W., & Pedraza, F. I. (2018). Policing Us Sick: The Health of Latinos in an Era of Heightened Deportations and Racialized Policing. *PS: Political Science & Politics*, 51(02), 293–297. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1049096517002384
- Noe-Bustamante, L. (2019). Key facts about U.S. Hispanics and their diverse heritage. *Pew Research Center*. https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2019/09/16/key-facts-about-us-hispanics/
- Noël, R. A. (2018). Race, Economics, And Social Status.
- O'Connell, A. A., & McCoach, D. B. (2008). *Multilevel modeling of educational data*. IAP. http://site.ebrary.com/id/10430182
- O'Donoghue, G., Kennedy, A., Puggina, A., Aleksovska, K., Buck, C., Burns, C., Cardon, G., Carlin, A., Ciarapica, D., Colotto, M., Condello, G., Coppinger, T., Cortis, C., D'Haese, S., De Craemer, M., Di Blasio, A., Hansen, S., Iacoviello, L., Issartel, J., ... Boccia, S. (2018). Socio-economic determinants of physical activity across the life course: A "DEterminants of DIet and Physical ACtivity" (DEDIPAC) umbrella literature review. *PloS One*, *13*(1), e0190737. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0190737
- Office of Management and Budget. (1997). *Revisions to the Standards for the Classification of Federal Data on Race and Ethnicity*. The White House. https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/node/15626
- Oh, H., Leaune, E., Vancampfort, D., Shin, J. I., & Stickley, A. (2022). Multimorbidity among Latinx-Americans and Asian American/Pacific Islanders. *Journal of Ageing and Longevity*, 2(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.3390/jal2010003

- Orr, C. J., Keyserling, T. C., Ammerman, A. S., & Berkowitz, S. A. (2019). Diet quality trends among adults with diabetes by socioeconomic status in the U.S.: 1999–2014. BMC Endocrine Disorders, 19(1), 54. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12902-019-0382-3
- Osypuk, T. L., Diez Roux, A. V., Hadley, C., & Kandula, N. R. (2009). Are immigrant enclaves healthy places to live? The Multi-ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. *Social Science & Medicine (1982)*, 69(1), 110–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2009.04.010
- Osypuk, T. L., Joshi, P., Geronimo, K., & Acevedo-Garcia, D. (2014). Do Social and Economic Policies Influence Health? A Review. *Current Epidemiology Reports*, 1(3), 149–164. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40471-014-0013-5
- Paccagnella, O. (2011). Sample size and accuracy of estimates in multilevel models: New simulation results. *Methodology: European Journal of Research Methods for the Behavioral and Social Sciences*, 7, 111–120. https://doi.org/10.1027/1614-2241/a000029
- Papatheodorou, K., Banach, M., Bekiari, E., Rizzo, M., & Edmonds, M. (2018). Complications of Diabetes 2017. *Journal of Diabetes Research*, 2018, e3086167. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/3086167
- Park, C., & Kang, C. (2008). Does education induce healthy lifestyle? *Journal of Health Economics*, 27(6), 1516–1531. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhealeco.2008.07.005
- Park, E., & Park, J. (2005). Probationary Americans: Contemporary Immigration Policies and the Shaping of Asian American Communities. *Asian and Asian American Studies Faculty Works*. https://digitalcommons.lmu.edu/aaas_fac/5
- Partida, M. G. (2020). Research Guides: A Latinx Resource Guide: Civil Rights Cases and Events in the United States: 1994: California's Proposition 187 [Research guide]. https://guides.loc.gov/latinx-civil-rights/california-proposition-187

- Pedraza, F. I., & Zhu, L. (2015). *The "Chilling Effect" of America's New Immigration Enforcement Regime*. 5.
- Perreira, K. M., & Pedroza, J. M. (2019). POLICIES OF EXCLUSION: IMPLICATIONS FOR THE HEALTH OF IMMIGRANTS AND THEIR CHILDREN. Annual Review of Public Health, 40, 147–166. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-040218-044115
- Pew Research Center. (2012). The rise of Asian Americans. Washington, DC: Pew Social & Demographic Trends.
- Peyrot, M., McMurray, J. F., & Kruger, D. F. (1999). A biopsychosocial model of glycemic control in diabetes: Stress, coping and regimen adherence. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 40(2), 141–158.
- Philbin, M., Hatzenbuehler, M., Frazer, S., Flake, M., Hagen, D., & Hirsch, J. (2016). Too
 Scared to Move?: A Mixed-methods Analysis of State-Level Immigration Policies and
 Obesity among Latinos in the United States. *Population Association of American, Washington, DC*.
- Philbin, M. M., Flake, M., Hatzenbuehler, M. L., & Hirsch, J. S. (2018). State-level immigration and immigrant-focused policies as drivers of Latino health disparities in the United States. *Social Science & Medicine (1982)*, *199*, 29–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.04.007
- Pickett, K., & Pearl, M. (2001). Multilevel analyses of neighbourhood socioeconomic context and health outcomes: A critical review. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 55(2), 111–122. https://doi.org/10.1136/jech.55.2.111

- Piercy, K. L., Troiano, R. P., Ballard, R. M., Carlson, S. A., Fulton, J. E., Galuska, D. A., George, S. M., & Olson, R. D. (2018). The Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans. *JAMA*, 320(19), 2020–2028. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2018.14854
- Pollitt, R. A., Rose, K. M., & Kaufman, J. S. (2005). Evaluating the evidence for models of life course socioeconomic factors and cardiovascular outcomes: A systematic review. *BMC Public Health*, 5, 7. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-5-7
- Potochnick, S., Chen, J.-H., & Perreira, K. (2017). Local-Level Immigration Enforcement and Food Insecurity Risk among Hispanic Immigrant Families with Children: National-Level Evidence. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, 19(5), 1042–1049. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-016-0464-5
- Poureslami, I. M., Rootman, I., Balka, E., Devarakonda, R., Hatch, J., & FitzGerald, J. M.
 (2007). A Systematic Review of Asthma and Health Literacy: A Cultural-Ethnic
 Perspective in Canada. *Medscape General Medicine*, 9(3), 40.
- Ramirez, A. G., Chalela, P., Gallion, K., & Velez, L. F. (2007). Energy balance feasibility study for Latinas in Texas: A qualitative assessment. *Preventing Chronic Disease*, *4*(4), A98.
- Raudenbush, S.W., Spybrook, J., Congdon, R., Liu, X., Martinez, A., Bloom, H., & Hill, C.
 (2011). *Optimal Design with Empirical Information (OD+) / Resources*. William T.
 Grant Foundation. http://wtgrantfoundation.org/resource/optimal-design-with-empirical-information-od
- Rhodes, S. D., Hergenrather, K. C., Griffith, D., Yee, L. J., Zometa, C. S., Montano, J., & Vissman, A. T. (2009). Sexual and Alcohol Risk Behaviours of Immigrant Latino Men in the South-eastern USA. *Culture, Health & Sexuality*, *11*(1), 17–34. https://doi.org/10.1080/13691050802488405
- Rhodes, S. D., Mann, L., Simán, F. M., Song, E., Alonzo, J., Downs, M., Lawlor, E., Martinez, O., Sun, C. J., O'Brien, M. C., Reboussin, B. A., & Hall, M. A. (2015). The Impact of Local Immigration Enforcement Policies on the Health of Immigrant Hispanics/Latinos in the United States. *American Journal of Public Health*, *105*(2), 329–337. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2014.302218
- Rodríguez, J. E., & Campbell, K. M. (2017). Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Prevalence and Care of Patients With Type 2 Diabetes. *Clinical Diabetes : A Publication of the American Diabetes Association*, 35(1), 66–70. https://doi.org/10.2337/cd15-0048
- Rodríguez, M. A., Young, M.-E., & Wallace, S. P. (2015). *Creating conditions to support healthy people:* 25.
- Rodriguez, S., Roth, B. J., & Villarreal Sosa, L. (2022). "Immigration Enforcement Is a Daily Part of Our Students' Lives": School Social Workers' Perceptions of Racialized Nested Contexts of Reception for Immigrant Students. *AERA Open*, *8*, 23328584211073170. https://doi.org/10.1177/23328584211073170
- Rogerson, M., & Emes, C. (2006). Physical Activity, Older Immigrants and Cultural Competence. Activities, Adaptation & Aging, 30(4), 15–28. https://doi.org/10.1300/J016v30n04_02
- Romieu, I., Dossus, L., Barquera, S., Blottière, H. M., Franks, P. W., Gunter, M., Hwalla, N., Hursting, S. D., Leitzmann, M., Margetts, B., Nishida, C., Potischman, N., Seidell, J., Stepien, M., Wang, Y., Westerterp, K., Winichagoon, P., Wiseman, M., Willett, W. C., & On behalf of the IARC working group on Energy Balance and Obesity. (2017). Energy balance and obesity: What are the main drivers? *Cancer Causes & Control*, 28(3), 247– 258. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10552-017-0869-z

Rudolph, L., Caplan, J., Public Health Institute, Mitchell, C., California Department of Public Health, Ben-Moshe, K., Public Health Institute, Dillon, L., & Public Health Institute.
(2013). Health in All Policies: Improving Health Through Intersectoral Collaboration. *NAM Perspectives*, 3(9). https://doi.org/10.31478/201309a

Sabo, S., & Lee, A. E. (2015). The Spillover of US Immigration Policy on Citizens and Permanent Residents of Mexican Descent: How Internalizing "Illegality" Impacts Public Health in the Borderlands. *Frontiers in Public Health*, *3*, 155. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2015.00155

Sacerdote, C., Ricceri, F., Rolandsson, O., Baldi, I., Chirlaque, M.-D., Feskens, E., Bendinelli,
B., Ardanaz, E., Arriola, L., Balkau, B., Bergmann, M., Beulens, J. W., Boeing, H.,
Clavel-Chapelon, F., Crowe, F., de Lauzon-Guillain, B., Forouhi, N., Franks, P. W.,
Gallo, V., ... Wareham, N. (2012). Lower educational level is a predictor of incident type
2 diabetes in European countries: The EPIC-InterAct study. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, *41*(4), 1162–1173. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dys091

- Saffer, H., Dave, D., Grossman, M., & Leung, L. A. (2013). Racial, Ethnic, and Gender Differences in Physical Activity. *Journal of Human Capital*, 7(4), 378–410. https://doi.org/10.1086/671200
- Schellenberg, E. S., Dryden, D. M., Vandermeer, B., Ha, C., & Korownyk, C. (2013). Lifestyle Interventions for Patients With and at Risk for Type 2 Diabetes. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 159(8), 543–551. https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-159-8-201310150-00007
- Schoeni, R. F., House, J. S., Kaplan, G. A., & Pollack, H. A. (2008). *Making Americans healthier: Social and economic policy as health policy*. Russell Sage Foundation.

- Scholes, S., & Bann, D. (2018). Education-related disparities in reported physical activity during leisure-time, active transportation, and work among US adults: Repeated cross-sectional analysis from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys, 2007 to 2016.
 BMC Public Health, 18(1), 926. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-018-5857-z
- Schwartz, S. J., Unger, J. B., Zamboanga, B. L., & Szapocznik, J. (2010). Rethinking the concept of acculturation: Implications for theory and research. *American Psychologist*, 65(4), 237–251. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0019330
- Seefeldt, V., Malina, R. M., & Clark, M. A. (2002). Factors Affecting Levels of Physical Activity in Adults. *Sports Medicine*, 32(3), 143–168. https://doi.org/10.2165/00007256-200232030-00001
- Seligman, H. K., Laraia, B. A., & Kushel, M. B. (2010). Food Insecurity Is Associated with Chronic Disease among Low-Income NHANES Participants. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 140(2), 304–310. https://doi.org/10.3945/jn.109.112573
- Setia, M. S. (2016). Methodology Series Module 3: Cross-sectional Studies. Indian Journal of Dermatology, 61(3), 261–264. https://doi.org/10.4103/0019-5154.182410
- Shah, N. S., Luncheon, C., Kandula, N. R., Cho, P., Loustalot, F., & Fang, J. (2022). Self-Reported Diabetes Prevalence in Asian American Subgroups: Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, 2013–2019. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 37(8), 1902– 1909. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-021-06909-z
- Shuval, K., Hébert, E. T., Siddiqi, Z., Leonard, T., Lee, S. C., Tiro, J. A., McCallister, K., & Skinner, C. S. (2013). Impediments and Facilitators to Physical Activity and Perceptions of Sedentary Behavior Among Urban Community Residents: The Fair Park Study. *Preventing Chronic Disease*, 10, E177. https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd10.130125

- Skyler, J. S., Bakris, G. L., Bonifacio, E., Darsow, T., Eckel, R. H., Groop, L., Groop, P.-H.,
 Handelsman, Y., Insel, R. A., Mathieu, C., McElvaine, A. T., Palmer, J. P., Pugliese, A.,
 Schatz, D. A., Sosenko, J. M., Wilding, J. P. H., & Ratner, R. E. (2017). Differentiation
 of Diabetes by Pathophysiology, Natural History, and Prognosis. *Diabetes*, 66(2), 241–
 255. https://doi.org/10.2337/db16-0806
- Snijders, T. A. B., & Bosker, R. J. (1999). Multilevel analysis: An introduction to basic and advanced multilevel modeling. Sage Publications. http://catdir.loc.gov/catdir/enhancements/fy0656/99075734-t.html
- Snijders, T. A. B., & Bosker, R. J. (2011). *Multilevel Analysis: An Introduction to Basic and Advanced Multilevel Modeling*. SAGE.
- Sohn, H. (2017). Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Health Insurance Coverage: Dynamics of Gaining and Losing Coverage over the Life-Course. *Population Research and Policy Review*, 36(2), 181–201. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11113-016-9416-y
- Solar, O., & Irwin, A. (2010). A Conceptual Framework for Action on the Social Determinants of Health [Technical Report]. WHO Document Production Services. https://doi.org/10.13016/17cr-aqb9
- Spanakis, E. K., & Golden, S. H. (2013). Race/Ethnic Difference in Diabetes and Diabetic Complications. *Current Diabetes Reports*, 13(6), 10.1007/s11892-013-0421–0429. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11892-013-0421-9
- Spetz, J., Baker, L., Phibbs, C., Pedersen, R., & Tafoya, S. (2000). The Effect of Passing an "Anti-immigrant" Ballot Proposition on the Use of Prenatal Care by Foreign-Born Mothers in California. *Journal of Immigrant Health*, 2(4), 203–212.

Stalling, I., Albrecht, B. M., Foettinger, L., Recke, C., & Bammann, K. (2022). Associations between socioeconomic status and physical activity among older adults: Cross-sectional results from the OUTDOOR ACTIVE study. *BMC Geriatrics*, 22(1), 396. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-022-03075-7

Stalsberg, R., & Pedersen, A. V. (2018). Are Differences in Physical Activity across
Socioeconomic Groups Associated with Choice of Physical Activity Variables to Report? *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 15(5), 922.
https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15050922

Stoddard, P., He, G., Vijayaraghavan, M., & Schillinger, D. (2010). Disparities in undiagnosed diabetes among United States-Mexico border populations. *Revista Panamericana De Salud Publica = Pan American Journal of Public Health*, 28(3), 198–206. https://doi.org/10.1590/s1020-49892010000900010

- Stone, L. C., Viruell-Fuentes, E. A., & Acevedo-Garcia, D. (2007). Understanding the Socio-Economic, Health Systems & Policy Threats to Latino Health: Gaining New Perspectives for the Future. *Californian Journal of Health Promotion*, 5, 23.
- Stumpf, J. (2006). The Crimmigration Crisis: Immigrants, Crime, and Sovereign Power. American University Law Review, 56(2).

https://digitalcommons.wcl.american.edu/aulr/vol56/iss2/3

Subramanian, S., Jones, K., & Duncan, C. (2003). Multilevel Methods for Public Health Research. In *Neighborhoods and Health*.

https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780195138382.003.0004

Sudhinaraset, M., Woofter, R., Young, M.-E. D. T., Landrian, A., Vilda, D., & Wallace, S. P. (2021). Analysis of State-Level Immigrant Policies and Preterm Births by Race/Ethnicity

Among Women Born in the US and Women Born Outside the US. *JAMA Network Open*, 4(4), e214482–e214482. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.4482

- Sundquist, J., Iglesias, E., & Isacsson, A. (1995). Migration and health. A study of Latin American refugees, their exile in Sweden and repatriation. *Scandinavian Journal of Primary Health Care*, *13*(2), 135–140. https://doi.org/10.3109/02813439508996750
- Surwit, R. S., Ross, S. L., & Feinglos, M. N. (1990). Stress, Behavior, and the Autonomic Nervous System in Type II Diabetes Mellitus. In C. S. Holmes (Ed.), *Neuropsychological* and Behavioral Aspects of Diabetes (pp. 184–197). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4612-3290-2_10
- Szklo, M., & Nieto, F. J. (2019). Epidemiology beyond the basics.
- Taylor, P., Lopez, M. H., Passel, J. S., & Motel, S. (2011, December 1). Unauthorized
 Immigrants: Length of Residency, Patterns of Parenthood. *Pew Research Center's Hispanic Trends Project*.

https://www.pewresearch.org/hispanic/2011/12/01/unauthorized-immigrants-length-ofresidency-patterns-of-parenthood/

- Thau, L., Gandhi, J., & Sharma, S. (2022). Physiology, Cortisol. In *StatPearls*. StatPearls Publishing. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK538239/
- Torres, J. M., Deardorff, J., Gunier, R. B., Harley, K. G., Alkon, A., Kogut, K., & Eskenazi, B. (2018). Worry About Deportation and Cardiovascular Disease Risk Factors Among Adult Women: The Center for the Health Assessment of Mothers and Children of Salinas Study. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine: A Publication of the Society of Behavioral Medicine*, *52*(2), 186–193. https://doi.org/10.1093/abm/kax007

- Torres, J. M., & Young, M.-E. D. (2016). A life-course perspective on legal status stratification and health. SSM - Population Health, 2, 141–148. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2016.02.011
- TRAC Immigration. (2014). *ICE Deportations: Gender, Age, and Country of Citizenship*. https://trac.syr.edu/immigration/reports/350/
- Tsao, C. W., Aday, A. W., Almarzooq, Z. I., Alonso, A., Beaton, A. Z., Bittencourt, M. S., Boehme, A. K., Buxton, A. E., Carson, A. P., Commodore-Mensah, Y., Elkind, M. S. V., Evenson, K. R., Eze-Nliam, C., Ferguson, J. F., Generoso, G., Ho, J. E., Kalani, R., Khan, S. S., Kissela, B. M., ... on behalf of the American Heart Association Council on Epidemiology and Prevention Statistics Committee and Stroke Statistics Subcommittee. (2022). Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics—2022 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, 145(8). https://doi.org/10.1161/CIR.000000000001052
- US Census Bureau. (2009). A Compass for Understanding and Using American Community Survey Data: What Researchers Need to Know. 64.
- US Census Bureau. (2012). Statistical Abstract of the United States: 2012. 940.
- US Census Bureau. (2018). *Hispanic Population to Reach 111 Million by 2060*. Census.Gov. https://www.census.gov/library/visualizations/2018/comm/hispanic-projected-pop.html
- U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement. (2018). *Secure Communities*. https://www.ice.gov/secure-communities
- U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement. (2021). *Delegation of Immigration Authority Section 287(g) Immigration and Nationality Act*. https://www.ice.gov/identify-andarrest/287g

Valentín-Cortés, M., Benavides, Q., Bryce, R., Rabinowitz, E., Rion, R., Lopez, W. D., & Fleming, P. J. (2020). Application of the Minority Stress Theory: Understanding the Mental Health of Undocumented Latinx Immigrants. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 66(3–4), 325–336. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajcp.12455

van der Ploeg, H. P., & Bull, F. C. (2020). Invest in physical activity to protect and promote health: The 2020 WHO guidelines on physical activity and sedentary behaviour. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, *17*(1), 145.
https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-020-01051-1

- Vargas, E. D., Sanchez, G. R., & Juárez, M. (2017). Fear by Association: Perceptions of Anti-Immigrant Policy and Health Outcomes. *Journal of Health Politics, Policy and Law*, 42(3), 459–483. https://doi.org/10.1215/03616878-3802940
- Vasquez, E., Murrillo, R., & Echeverria, S. (2018). NEIGHBORHOOD SOCIAL COHESION AND WALKING LIMITATIONS IN ETHNICALLY DIVERSE LATINOS IN THE UNITED STATES. *Innovation in Aging*, 2(Suppl 1), 647. https://doi.org/10.1093/geroni/igy023.2416
- Viruell-Fuentes, E. A. (2007). Beyond acculturation: Immigration, discrimination, and health research among Mexicans in the United States. *Social Science & Medicine (1982)*, 65(7), 1524–1535. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2007.05.010
- Viruell-Fuentes, E. A., Miranda, P. Y., & Abdulrahim, S. (2012). More than culture: Structural racism, intersectionality theory, and immigrant health. *Social Science & Medicine*, 75(12), 2099–2106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.12.037

- Vuori, I. M., Lavie, C. J., & Blair, S. N. (2013). Physical activity promotion in the health care system. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, 88(12), 1446–1461. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mayocp.2013.08.020
- Wallace, S. P., Gutiérrez, V. F., & Castañeda, X. (2008). Access to preventive services for adults of Mexican origin. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, 10(4), 363–371. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-007-9093-3
- Wallace, S. P., & Young, M. E. de T. (2018). Immigration Versus Immigrant: The Cycle of Anti-Immigrant Policies. *American Journal of Public Health*, 108(4), 436–437. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2018.304328
- Wallace, S. P., Young, M.-E. D. T., Rodríguez, M. A., & Brindis, C. D. (2019). A social determinants framework identifying state-level immigrant policies and their influence on health. SSM - Population Health, 7, 100316. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2018.10.016
- Wang, J. S.-H., & Kaushal, N. (2019). Health and Mental Health Effects of Local Immigration Enforcement. *International Migration Review*, 53(4), 970–1001. https://doi.org/10.1177/0197918318791978
- Warburton, D. E. R., Nicol, C. W., & Bredin, S. S. D. (2006a). Health benefits of physical activity: The evidence. *CMAJ*: *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 174(6), 801. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.051351
- Warburton, D. E. R., Nicol, C. W., & Bredin, S. S. D. (2006b). Health benefits of physical activity: The evidence. *CMAJ*, 174(6), 801–809. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.051351
 Waslin, M. (2011). *THE SECURE COMMUNITIES PROGRAM:*

Watson, T. (2014). Inside the Refrigerator: Immigration Enforcement and Chilling Effects in Medicaid Participation. *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy*, 6(3), 313–338. https://doi.org/10.1257/pol.6.3.313

Wen, M., & Maloney, T. N. (2011). Latino Residential Isolation and the Risk of Obesity in Utah: The Role of Neighborhood Socioeconomic, Built-Environmental, and Subcultural Context. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, *13*(6), 1134–1141. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-011-9439-8

Westat. (2009). Findings of the E-Verify Program Evaluation. 338.

- Whitaker, S. M., Bowie, J. V., McCleary, R., Gaskin, D. J., LaVeist, T. A., & Thorpe, R. J. (2014). The Association Between Educational Attainment and Diabetes Among Men in the United States. *American Journal of Men's Health*, 8(4), 349–356. https://doi.org/10.1177/1557988313520034
- White, K., Blackburn, J., Manzella, B., Welty, E., & Menachemi, N. (2014). Changes in use of county public health services following implementation of Alabama's immigration law. *Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved*, 25(4), 1844–1852. https://doi.org/10.1353/hpu.2014.0194
- Wieland, M. L., Morrison, T. B., Cha, S. S., Rahman, A. S., & Chaudhry, R. (2012). Diabetes care among Somali immigrants and refugees. *Journal of Community Health*, *37*(3), 680– 684. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10900-011-9499-7
- Woolf, S. H., & Braveman, P. (2011). Where health disparities begin: The role of social and economic determinants--and why current policies may make matters worse. *Health Affairs (Project Hope)*, *30*(10), 1852–1859. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2011.0685

Worby, P. A., & Organista, K. C. (2007). Alcohol Use and Problem Drinking Among Male Mexican and Central American Im/migrant Laborers: A Review of the Literature. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, 29(4), 413–455. https://doi.org/10.1177/0739986307308765

Yang, W. (2018). Economic Costs of Diabetes in the U.S. in 2017. 41, 12.

Ybarra, V. D., Sanchez, L. M., & Sanchez, G. R. (2016). Anti-immigrant Anxieties in State Policy: The Great Recession and Punitive Immigration Policy in the American States, 2005–2012. *State Politics & Policy Quarterly*, *16*(3), 313–339. https://doi.org/10.1177/1532440015605815

- Ye, J., Mack, D., Fry-Johnson, Y., & Parker, K. (2012). Health care access and utilization among US-born and foreign-born Asian Americans. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, 14(5), 731–737. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-011-9543-9
- Yi, S. S., Roberts, C., Lightstone, A. S., Shih, M., & Trinh-Shevrin, C. (2015). Disparities in meeting physical activity guidelines for Asian Americans in two metropolitan areas in the United States. *Annals of Epidemiology*, 25(9), 656-660.e2. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annepidem.2015.05.002
- Young, M.-E. D. T., Beltrán-Sánchez, H., & Wallace, S. P. (2020). States with fewer criminalizing immigrant policies have smaller health care inequities between citizens and noncitizens. *BMC Public Health*, 20(1), 1460. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-09525-4
- Young, M.-E. D. T., Crookes, D. M., & Torres, J. M. (2022). Self-rated health of both US citizens and noncitizens is associated with state-level immigrant criminalization policies. *SSM - Population Health*, *19*, 101199. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2022.101199

- Young, M.-E. D. T., Leon-Perez, G., Wells, C. R., & Wallace, S. P. (2019). Inclusive state immigrant policies and health insurance among Latino, Asian/Pacific Islander, Black, and White noncitizens in the United States. *Ethnicity & Health*, 24(8), 960–972. https://doi.org/10.1080/13557858.2017.1390074
- Zhang, W. (2017). 2016 American Community Survey 1-Year Estimates, Comparative Demographics Estimates: South Dakota.
- Zhou, M., & Gatewood, J. V. (2007). Contemporary Asian America: A multidisciplinary reader (2nd ed). New York University Press. http://catdir.loc.gov/catdir/toc/ecip0716/2007015674.html
- Zong, J. (2022, October 26). A Mosaic, Not a Monolith: A Profile of the U.S. Latino Population, 2000-2020. Latino Policy & Politics Institute. https://latino.ucla.edu/research/latinopopulation-2000-2020/

APPENDIX A: SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS FOR STATE-LEVEL IMMIGRANT POLICY CONTEXT AND T2DM

Table A1. Association of State-Level Criminalizing Immigrant Policy and Prevalence ofT2DM in the Overall Sample, Latin American, and Asian American Adults, BRFSS 2014-2018 (n = 196316)

State Criminalizing	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3			
Policy	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)			
Overall						
High criminalizing	1.00 (0.77, 1.31)	1.20 (0.88, 1.65)	1.20 (0.97, 1.48)			
Medium criminalizing	1.06 (0.88, 1.27)	1.08 (0.89, 1.31)	1.09 (0.94, 1.26)			
Low criminalizing	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.			
Latin Americans						
High criminalizing	1.00 (0.77, 1.30)	1.20 (0.62, 2.32)	1.16 (0.87, 1.54)			
Medium criminalizing	1.10 (0.90, 1.34)	1.08 (0.88, 1.33)	1.04 (0.90, 1.20)			
Low criminalizing	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.			
Asian Americans						
High criminalizing	0.87 (0.68, 1.12)	1.10 (0.83, 1.46)	1.03 (0.77, 1.36)			
Medium criminalizing	0.90 (0.70, 1.17)	0.94 (0.73, 1.22)	0.88 (0.71, 1.08)			
Low criminalizing	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.			

Note. Models are estimated using multilevel models with a binary outcome (T2DM) with a random intercept to account for the clustering of individuals in states. All other variables were treated as fixed effects; Model 1- crude or unadjusted; Model 2- adjusted for age, sex, race/ethnicity (except stratified analysis), educational attainment, employment, household income, and health coverage; Model 3- Model 1 and 2 plus state percent of foreign-born (overall sample), state percent of foreign-born Latino (Latino Americans sample), state percent of foreign-born Asian (Asian Americans sample); OR=Odds Ratio; CI=Confidence interval.

 Table A2. Association of State-Level Inclusive Immigrant Policy and Prevalence of T2DM

 in the Overall Sample, and Latin American and Asian American Adults, BRFSS 2014-2018

 (n = 196316)

State Inclusive	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3			
Policy	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)			
Overall						
Low inclusion	0.88 (0.71, 1.09)	1.13 (0.99, 1.28)	1.22 (1.05, 1.43)*			
Medium inclusion	0.97 (0.72, 1.31)	1.01 (0.81, 1.25)	1.01 (0.84, 1.22)			
High inclusion	Ref.	Ref	Ref.			
Latin Americans						
Low inclusion	0.78 (0.63, 0.97)	1.12 (0.98, 1.28)	1.06 (0.91, 1.22)			
Medium inclusion	0.84 (0.63, 1.13)	1.00 (0.82, 1.23)	1.01 (0.89, 1.15)			
High inclusion	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.			
Asian Americans						
Low inclusion	0.76 (0.59, 0.97)	0.95 (0.78, 1.14)	1.00 (0.79, 1.26)			
Medium inclusion	0.75 (0.53, 1.05)	0.89 (0.68, 1.17)	0.99 (0.74, 1.33)			
High inclusion	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.			

Note. Models are estimated using multilevel models with a binary outcome (T2DM) with a random intercept to account for the clustering of individuals in states. All other variables were treated as fixed effects; Model 1- crude or unadjusted; Model 2- adjusted for age, sex, race/ethnicity (except stratified analysis), educational attainment, employment, household income, and health coverage; Model 3- Model 1 and 2 plus state percent of foreign-born (overall sample), state percent of foreign-born Latino (Latino Americans sample), state percent of foreign-born Asian (Asian Americans sample); OR=Odds Ratio; CI=Confidence interval; * = p-value <0.05.

APPENDIX B: SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS FOR STATE-LEVEL IMMIGRANT POLICY CONTEXT AND MEETING RECOMMENDED PA

Table B1. Association of State-Level Criminalizing Policy and Meeting Recommended PA: Overall and Separately in Latin American and Asian American, BRFSS 2015 and 2017 (*n* = 78302)

State Criminalizing	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3			
Policy	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)			
Overall						
High criminalizing	$0.84~{(0.71,0.99)}^{*}$	0.81 (0.62, 1.05)	$0.83 (0.69, 0.99)^{*}$			
Medium criminalizing	0.90 (0.81, 1.01)	0.82 (0.59, 1.14)	0.82 (0.71, 0.94)*			
Low criminalizing	Ref.	Ref	Ref.			
Latin Americans						
High criminalizing	$0.78~{(0.63,0.96)}^{*}$	0.79 (0.62, 1.01)	$0.76~(0.58,0.99)^*$			
Medium criminalizing	0.87 (0.75, 1.01)	0.83 (0.69, 1.01)	0.83 (0.66, 1.04)			
Low criminalizing	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.			
Asian Americans						
High criminalizing	0.96 (0.77, 1.20)	0.82 (0.51, 1.30)	0.80 (0.55, 1.16)			
Medium criminalizing	0.90 (0.75, 1.08)	0.88 (0.65, 1.18)	0.83 (0.59, 1.16)			
Low criminalizing	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.			

Note. Models are estimated using multilevel models with a binary outcome (PA) with a random intercept to account for the clustering of individuals in states. All other variables were treated as fixed effects; Model 1- crude or unadjusted; Model 2- adjusted for age, sex, race/ethnicity (except stratified analysis), educational attainment, employment, household income, and health coverage; Model 3- Model 1 and 2 plus state percent of foreign-born (overall sample), state percent of foreign-born Latino (Latino Americans sample), state percent of foreign-born Asian (Asian Americans sample); OR=Odds Ratio; CI=Confidence interval; *= p-value <0.05.

Table B2. Association of State-Level Inclusive Policy and Meeting Recommended PA:

Overall and Separately in Latin American and Asian American, BRFSS 2015 and 2017 (n =

78302)

State Inclusive	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3			
Policy	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)			
Overall						
Low inclusion	0.94 (0.83, 1.07)	0.95 (0.81, 1.10)	0.90 (0.78, 1.04)			
Medium inclusion	1.03 (0.87, 1.21)	0.96 (0.80, 1.16)	0.95 (0.79, 1.14)			
High inclusion	Ref.	Ref	Ref.			
Latin Americans						
Low inclusion	1.04 (0.87, 1.23)	0.86 (0.70, 1.05)	0.84 (0.63, 1.10)			
Medium inclusion	1.12 (0.90, 1.40)	0.96 (0.76, 1.22)	0.95 (0.72, 1.26)			
High inclusion	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.			
Asian Americans						
Low inclusion	0.85 (0.71, 1.02)	0.93 (0.67, 1.31)	0.84 (0.58, 1.22)			
Medium inclusion	0.94 (0.74, 1.18)	0.99 (0.68, 1.46)	0.96 (0.63, 1.48)			
High inclusion	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.			

Note. Models are estimated using multilevel models with a binary outcome (PA) with a random intercept to account for the clustering of individuals in states. All other variables were treated as fixed effects; Model 1- crude or unadjusted; Model 2- adjusted for age, sex, race/ethnicity (except stratified analysis), educational attainment, employment, household income, and health coverage; Model 3- Model 1 and 2 plus state percent of foreign-born (overall sample), state percent of foreign-born Latino (Latino Americans sample), state percent of foreign-born Asian (Asian Americans sample); OR=Odds Ratio; CI=Confidence interval.